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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
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Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai

Ms. Wong Lai Ling (Appointed on 27 May 2022)
M. Lie Tak Sen (Resigned on 27 May 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Ms. Wong Lai Ling (Appointed on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Wong Ying Loi (Resigned on 27 May 2022)

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8/F, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

33/F, Golden Wheel International Plaza
No. 8, Hanzhong Road

Nanjing

China
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Cayman Islands

PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

27-28/F, Golden Wheel Plaza
68 Electric Road

Tin Hau

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Jiangsu
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong
38/F Jardine House

1 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
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Hong Kong

INVESTOR AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

IR@gwtd.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1232

WEBSITE

www.gwtd.com.hk

R AR RS ANNUAL REPORT 2022 5



X
Chairman’s Statement _— % . \ ~_

ZIS
%\ ) }/l | / \ \ | \ \
ﬁi

/ AN /[ /)
/\

I |

BRI &AL ROR Dear Shareholders,

/)

//]

N/

N
=\ |7

7/ | /]

N\ N

=

AN GEAC TR A K I A BR A 7 ([ 4 R | On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Golden
s TARA ] ) BLECH B A R (SR ARG ) & Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the “Company”)
FHEF) G (EFG]) RA WSO RREER and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual
EinRMWBEE_F__F+_HA=+—HI-¥F results of Golden Wheel for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) to our
B (T )) 1 2 4F 24K - shareholders.

T A S o D
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center
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Chairman’s Statement

OUR OBJECTIVE, VALUE AND STRATEGIES

Through 28 years of establishment, the Company has set its foothold in Nanjing.
With the focus on China, the Company has successfully established a presence
in Hong Kong and eight cities in two provinces in China, including Nanjing,
Yangzhou, Suzhou, Wuxi, Changzhou and Lianyungang in Jiangsu Province and
Changsha and Zhuzhou in Hunan Province. Adhering to the corporate culture of
“making life more enjoyable through people-oriented, enterprising and pragmatic
development”, the Company, as a builder, is full of enthusiasm and committed to

creating a harmonious, healthy and enjoyable life for people.

P i e 3 %

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Romantic Tower
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Golden Wheel's objective, value and strategies are set out below:

The Company’s objective is insisting on providing customers with high-
quality products and services with rich professional expertise, so as to improve

their quality of life.

The Company’s value is adhering to “taking the values of integrity and
pragmatism as the guideline for the business development of the Company
and being committed to keeping promises, staying truthful, transparent,
pragmatic and consistent in our actions, so as to bring high-quality services

and positive impact to customers and project areas.

The Company’s strategies are (i) developing integrated commercial and
residential property projects; (ii) retaining long-term ownership of the
selected shopping malls for recurrent rental income; and (iii) focusing on

the development of projects that are connected to or in proximity to Metro

stations or other transport hubs.

kI i A 2

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu
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Chairman’s Statement

OVERALL REVIEW

Looking back to 2022, the international political and economic situation was
complex and volatile, coupled with the resurgence of the pandemic in many regions
of China, the domestic economy has taken a hard hit, especially in the segments
of property development, property leasing and hotel operation which are the main
businesses of the Group. In addition, given that a number of listed private property
companies collapsed successively and many property projects in various regions
have been suspended and could not be completed, the confidence of home buyers
was largely affected. The real estate sector has faced unprecedented challenges with
difficulties in sales and financing in general and the test for cash flows of companies.
Since the beginning of 2022, there has been certain improvements in the central
policies and the credit environment, but the policy effect was insignificant along
with the deteriorating pandemic situation in the second half of the year, resulting
in a continued intensive correction in the real estate market. In the fourth quarter of
2022, a number of regulatory authorities released a series of sweeping and supportive
measures successively including the “16-point policy plan” and the “three arrows”
with a view to stabilising the real estate market by optimising policies on both sides
of supply and demand. Despite continued policy improvements, it is estimated that
recovery will still take a long time.

406 B i S 22 [
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was affected by the adverse
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the lack of market confidence, resulting in
a significant decrease in contracted sales. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group only achieved total contracted sales of RMB 1,641.4 million (2021: RMB
4,821.1 million). Property leasing and hotel operation business of the Group have
still been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic but remained stable when compared
with last year. Average occupancy rates of the year for property leasing and hotel
operation were 83.0% (2021: 83.3%) and 64.1% (2021: 63.3%).

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2023, the overall liquidity pressure in the real estate industry is
expected to be relieved to a certain extent as the domestic economy steps into a post-
pandemic reboot with the gradual recovery of residents’ income and improved home
purchase sentiment. The Group will continue its efforts to recover from the volatility
in the China real estate industty, and expedite the sales of properties and investment
properties, and collection of receivables, while maintaining more stringent cost

control measures.

During the last three years, the real estate industry has experienced one of the most
trying and stressful periods in its history. After three years of the pandemic, the
Company continues to make steady progress and take small steps while overcoming
difficulties and challenges. It is believed that we will be able to achieve our set goals

with firm confidence in the future.

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

30 March 2023
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i % NANJING

T T3 Completed properties

o % B 5% JE 7 Golden Wheel International Plaza

o &8 K Golden Wheel Building

o 4% 3% I [ Golden Wheel Green Garden

o B 5% 35 % £ [#] Nanjing Jade Garden

o S U HT B HE Golden Wheel New Metro

o &8 64 Golden Wheel Star Plaza

o G /£ 37 /7 Golden Wheel Star-cube

o &8 TR 3£ 7T Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

o B8 B Y} Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

o B 561 ] Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

o 7 57 2 i I 32 44 5 Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower

o B 5% 4 i /K B3 B Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting
o T 5 4 #i 22 E ZE FE Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting

P vh gy 3 Properties under development
o T 5% 4 i B M .0 Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center

T 5 48 48 2 45 P Hotel operation and management

o B 3% 42 i 552 75 J5 Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel
o 7 42 85 16 15 Nanjing Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott

Hy$AL B Metro leasing

o 1 {3 B 1 metro station

BiM YANGZHOU

2% T4 3 Completed properties
o P R 0k
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Star City
o BN E R BOS
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza
o B 0 SR Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House
o B E R R A Z A Yangzhou Vanke Future Light
o B 42 ¥ 1 9% Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay

PR %5 14 3 Properties under development
o B B Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

L
HUNAN

k¥
CHANGSHA »

L3
ZHUZHOU

B B ok S A

Management Discussion and Analysis

# M suzHOU

Hu S B Metro leasing
o 44 35 25 4 metro stations

8 WUXI

T T3 Completed properties
o 85 42 i B2 9644 Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza
SR N
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden
PH 8% H1 4 3 Properties under development
o S8 b 2 22
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza
Ho S HH 15 Metro leasing
o LU 5B (8 113 20 14 oK 7))

11 metro stations (8 metro stations not yet operated)
%M CHANGZHOU
% T3 Completed properties
o # 1 H 2 H 5F Changzhou Junwang Jia Di
HWEW LIAN YUNGANG

T T3 Completed properties
o ¥ #8457 Shangdu Fengjing
PH % 4 3 Properties under development

o &2 v A A8 K P Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion

o B IR Galaxy Light
o ¥ il B2 Shangpin Xuefu

# ¥ HONG KONG

% T3 Completed properties
o 42 R Golden Wheel Plaza

R CHANGSHA
2% T4 ¥ Completed properties

o RV 4R A4 JE Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

B zHuzHOU

2% T4 Completed properties
o ZHRBECRE S Golden Wheel Time Square

L85
JIANGSU

o MR
LIAN YUNGANG

i
YANGZHOU

B e 3]
NANJING WUXI
M ‘ “w M
CHANGZHOU S;710U

1Lk
JIANGSU

WR
HUNAN

wi
HONG KONG

o BRI 428 35 32 4 [/ Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden

o PRI 4 i ARG #ERF (—399) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase I)
o BRI 4 AR 22 (1) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase IT)

202248 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

The Group currently has mainly 15 projects on sale. During the year, the Group
has launched the pre-sale of one new project in Lianyungang, namely Shangpin
Xuefu. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group and its joint ventures
and associates achieved total contracted sales value and contracted sales area of
approximately RMB1.64 billion (2021: RMB4.82 billion) and approximately
143,757 sq.m. (2021: 384,177 sq.m.), respectively.

Projects completed during 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had managed to complete and
deliver three projects, namely, Zhuzhou Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (Phase
II), Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting and Yangzhou No. 1 Golden
Bay. Aggregate saleable gross floor area (‘GFA”) of the newly completed projects
amounted to approximately 320,097 sq.m. As at 31 December 2022, an aggregate
GFA of approximately 269,646 sq.m. of these newly completed projects was sold

and delivered.

New land acquired during 2022 in mainland China

As affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group adopted a more prudent
approach in new land acquisition during 2022. As a result, the Group did not
acquire any new land nor invest in any new joint venture or associate during the

year.

1 2 A K b ¥ B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area
Frk

sq.m.

PR

Completed properties

SRERES R 11,341

Golden Wheel International Plaza Nanjing

GLIN kS 4918

Golden Wheel Building Nanjing

LHEER 13 10334

Golden Wheel Green Garden Nanjing

TN i 81,615

Golden Wheel Star City Yangzhou

LhRRERRE il 13501

Golden Wheel Time Square Zhuzhou

HRERAR [ 721

Nanjing Jade Garden Nanjing

LEHAE [ 9218

Golden Wheel New Metro Nanjing

SRELAE HiR 29540

Golden Wheel Star Plaza Nanjing

fleRHRAE 3] 45645

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden Zhuzhou

BHERELAR i 31981

Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza Wuxi

SRET) X 18,300

Golden Wheel Star-cube Nanjing

SmERER [ 46228

Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu Nanjing

RUeRBLAE &Y 31152

Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza Changsha

o L P v B

Management Discussion and Analysis

Land bank of the Group

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total land bank of approximately
1,175,546 sq.m., including approximately 131,943 sq.m. of completed but unsold
properties, approximately 32,819 sq.m. of own used properties, approximately
106,683 sq.m. of completed investment properties, approximately 514,831 sq.m.
of properties under development and approximately 389,270 sq.m. of properties

developed by the joint ventures and associates.

The following table sets forth an overview of the Group’s property projects as at 31
December 2022:

i3
5%/ o/ A Y|
e i RS B fewmE
[ANEE ] RIAH LA T BAETH BT
Actual/
estimated Actual/
construction estimated GFA held for Investment
commencement construction Percentage of ~ Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
date completion date completion Total GFA own use GFA
i &0 Fik Fik Frk
moneh/year montlyear sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
FWELA FNE-A 100% = 25% 33,048
Jul-04 Jan-09
F-F1A T=§2J 100% = = 85
May-01 Feb-03
Z-E0\R F2ERA 100% m 5 =
Aug-01 Sep-02
FNEAR ~WE=A 100% 3991 5 2785
Aug-08 Mar-14
FUFLA —~ZEN A 100% 185 = =
May-09 Apr-12
——f-} e 100% = = 2,908
Jan-11 Dec-13
——FA\R —ZE+ZA 100% 1% = 18357
Aug-11 Dec-13
——ft-f ~IHER A 100% 878 = =
Nov-11 Jun-14
—ME+ A ~NEFZA 100% 7,130 = =
Dec-14 Dec-18
—E+ZA —AEFZA 100% 3579 = 4680
Dec-14 Dec-16
~IE+ A “NEFZA 100% 403 = 1,838
Dec-14 Dec-16
—~ME+=R —tE+R 100% 420 = 274
Dec-14 Dec-17
—~MEFZR —tEFZA 100% 10615 10307 10619
Dec-14 Dec-17

202248 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022 1 3
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Management Discussion and Analysis

e
.74 K/ A KA
fiat R sttt AREmR il Hy G
ARHMEATZER Ul Wit WIAY anik] TLILH BRETR PETT PET
Actual/
estimated Actual/
construction estimated GFA held for Investment
commencement construction Percentage of  Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date completion date completion Total GFA own use GFA
Fik i /4 Fik Fik Fik
sq.m. month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
bz il 10,682 —LERN ~NELA 100% 1123 - 1045
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House Yangzhou Jun-17 May-19
LRETERS S o8 —EEFSA -AFFZA 100% - 19971 24403
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-19
EHRIBRE & 099 —tFFZA ~fiEtZA 100% 3413 - -
Waxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden Wuxi Dec-17 Dec-19
L8 Fi 322 —NEL LR 100% 4828 = =
Golden Wheel Plaza Hong Kong May-18 Jul-20
H & SRR (— 4 il 54,793 —~MEZR “FE+ZR 100% 10,059 - 1673
Zhuzhou Golden Whee! JinQiao Huafu (Phase 1) Zhuzhou Mar-18 Dec-20
HRLRIEAE A % —tEECA N 100% 12,486 = =
Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower Nanjing Dec-17 Jun-21
BRERKIER Bk 3927 —~NEBA ZH-R 100% 10,515 - -
Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-18 Jan-21 - -
i eRERER (CH) ] 37,382 —~MEZR ZZERRA 100% 9,110 s s
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (Phase IT) Zhuzhou Mar-18 Jun-22
HRLRRERE HiR 59722 ~JEBA ZZE-R 100% B - 2500
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-19 Jan-22
VTEA b Bl 19,890 ZEE-R ZTECA 100% 542 = =
Yangzhou No. 1 Golden Bay Yangzhou Jan-20 Dec-22 - -
Nt 650873 13198 32819 106,683
Subtotal
L L]
Project under development
EHEREEN 5 27470 —“NELA ZZFIA 95% 99,039 - 15097
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza Wuxi May-19 May-23
HRERERSL A 97,648 CEEZR ZRELDA 5t 193,353 - 46647
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center Nanjing Feb-20 Dec-24
S e KB BIE 72,096 ZoHE-f ZEERA 90% 158,695 - -
Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion Lianyungang Jan-21 Jun-23
Nt 197414 453,087 - 61744
Subtotal
At 848287 585,030 32819 163427
Total

1 4 A K b ¥ B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Projects by joint ventures and associates City Site area
Tk
sq.m.

PMEESRIS i 61275

Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza ™! Yangzhou

HARL L i 1433

Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu ** Nanjing

GRS M 61,05

Changzhou Junwang Jia Di ** Changzhou

P ER A i 2,137

Vanke Future Lighe “«* Yangzhou

A i 17,605

Shangdu Fengjing ' Lianyungang

EHE R B 41478

Galaxy Light ¢ Lianyungang

B M 57,548

Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion ™ Yangzhou

W A e BZ 15,279

Shangpin Xuefu V*<* Lianyungang
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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it/ e/ A KA
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[ANIEY anik] Ean:q] BRETR AR f T
Actual/
estimated Actual/
construction estimated GFA held for Investment
commencement construction Percentage of  Total unsold GFA/ Company’s properties
date completion date completion Total GFA own use GFA
i £/ Fik Fik Fik
month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
—ME+=A —~EFZA 100% 26,079 = 65,400
Dec-14 Dec-16
~ A ~NELR 100% 3540 = =
Oct-17 Jul-19
—tFEt+ A “RELA 100% 237 - -
Dec-17 May-20
—MERA “—ENA 100% 8,680 - -
Jun-18 Apr-21
~FEDA “ZERA 100% 14020 = =
Apr-20 Jun-22
Z-f-4 ZZHEWA 9% 9651 = =
Jan-21 Apr-23
i | RELIY: 95% 94,826 = g
Feb-21 Jun-23
“ELA ZIERR 75% 34701
Jul-21 Jun-24
323810 - 65,400
Notes:

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33% interest.
The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 24.5%
interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a land bank of approximately 514,831
sq.m. under development. Among these parcels of land, approximately 119,640
sq.m., 260,167 sq.m., 73,280 sq.m. and 61,744 sq.m. are for residential, commercial

and office, car park and investment properties purposes, respectively.

Property sales

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue from sales of properties
amounted to approximately RMB2,410.5 million with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 252,246.2 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average selling price
of these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB9,556.1 per sq.m.

As at 31 December 2022, there were total unrecognized contracted sales of
RMB2.44 billion. The unrecognized contracted sales are expected to be recognized

in 2023 and 2024 as and when the related projects are completed and delivered.

Property leasing
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had completed investment properties with
a total GFA of approximately 106,683 sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the

Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2022 was over 80%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 16 metro station shopping malls in three cities in China, namely,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi. The Group had metro station shopping malls with a total
GFA of over 79,791 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2022, metro station shopping malls were under operations and

the overall occupancy rate was over 90%.

In view of its potential higher growth, the Group will continue to actively bid for
more leasing and operational management contracts of metro station shopping malls

in different cities.

1 6 A K b ¥ B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hotel operation

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had four hotels under operation, namely,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing, Golden Wheel Hampton by
Hilton in Changsha, Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Yangzhou and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott. The total number of rooms for these four hotels

amounted to 674. The average room occupancy rate of these four hotels in 2022 was

64%.

Significant investments held

The Group considers desirable investment opportunities from time to time, taking

into account interests of the Group and its shareholders as a whole.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s major investment was its equity investment
in the shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd., which were 50.8 million (2021:
34.0 million) unlisted equity shares of Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd with a
carrying value of RMB198.1 million (2021: RMB193.2 million).

Golden Wheel Plaza in Hong Kong
The Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong, namely Golden Wheel Plaza,

has been completed and the occupancy permit was obtained in July 2020. The
project is located near the Tin Hau MTR station in Hong Kong and is a commercial

building with a total GFA of approximately 51,975 square feet.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused severe disruptions to the
economic and business activities in Hong Kong, resulting in an increase in vacancy
of office buildings as well as a decrease in rental for offices and retail shops. As such,
the Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong has faced much more difficulties
when the Group launched the project in the second half of 2020. Nevertheless, as a
result of the hard work of the marketing team in Hong Kong, as of the date of this

announcement, more than 75% of the properties was leased out.
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Financing

In December 2021, the Group has announced a proposed restructuring of the
existing senior notes through a scheme of arrangement in the Cayman Islands
(the “Cayman Scheme”). On 11 April 2022, the Group completed a proposed
restructuring of the existing senior notes through the Cayman Scheme and obtained
approval from the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. The existing senior notes
were replaced by new senior notes (the “New Senior Notes”) that have maturity
date for 3 years with instalment repayment after the restructuring effective date
which was 11 April 2022. The Group intended to dispose of certain onshore
properties in the next three years in order to assist the Group with meeting the

various repayment obligations under the New Senior Notes.

The New Senior Notes in the principal amount of approximately USD$494,667,000
will mature on 11 April 2025 and the interest rate of the New Senior Notes is 10%
per annum. The repayment details of the New Senior Notes are as follows: 5% of the
principal amount is matured on or before 10 July 2022; another 5% of the principal
amount is matured on or before 11 January 2023; an additional 15% of principal
amount is matured on or before 11 July 2023; an additional 10% of the principal
amount is matured on or before 11 January 2024; an additional 10% of the principal
amount is matured on or before 11 July 2024 and the amount of any remaining

outstanding principal amount is matured on 11 April 2025.

Breach of loan agreements and cross defaults under certain loan
facilities

Under the two facility agreements (the “Facility Agreements”) entered into by
Golden Wheel Bright Jade Company Limited (as the borrower) (the “Borrower”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a bank (as the lender) (the “Bank”),
in respect of the facilities (the “Facilities”) secured by a property owned by the
Group and corporate guarantees from the Company and/or certain subsidiaries of
the Company, the repayment of the principal amount and the accrued interests
was due on 31 August 2022 (the “Maturity Date”). As at the Maturity Date, the
outstanding principal amount of the Facilities amounted to HK$377,280,000
and US$40,000,000, respectively. Since the Maturity Date, the Group has been
negotiating the terms for the extension of the Maturity Date with the Bank, which
was extended to 31 October 2022, while the Bank has offered waivers to the Group
on various occasions for the Group to finalise the commercial terms for the extension
of the Facilities. As the Maturity Date has not been further extended, an event of
default (the “Event of Default”) has occurred under the Facility Agreements on 1
November 2022.

A K b ¥ B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As the Event of Default has occurred and, on 3 November 2022, the Company and
the Borrower received a demand notice from the Bank, cross default provisions
(the “Cross Defaults”) have been triggered under (1) the 10.0% Senior Notes Due
2025 in the principal amount of approximately US$494,667,000 (the “New Senior
Notes”), and (2) two other facility agreements entered into by the Company (as
the borrower) and a bank in Macau (as the lender), each in the principal amount of
HK$180,000,000

The interest on the New Senior Notes became due and payable on 11 October
2022. Under the indenture governing the New Senior Notes, the Company had a
grace period of 30 days to avoid an event of default. The grace period expired on
10 November 2022. Such a non-payment has caused an event of default under the
New Senior Notes. As a result, the holders of the New Senior Notes (the “Holders”)
may demand immediate payment of the principal and the accrued interest. As at
the date of this announcement, the Company has not received any notice regarding

acceleration action by the Holders.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3 November
2022 and 9 November 2022.

Subsequent events

On 11 January 2023, the Company failed to redeem 5% of principal amount of
approximately US$494,667,000 of the New Senior Notes.

The Company has appointed Guotai Junan International and Alvarez & Marsal
Corporate Finance Limited as joint financial advisors to implement a consensual
arrangement in relation to the New Senior Notes. For details, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2023.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of the Group’s
developed properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the

percentage of total revenue for the years indicated:

BETZA=Z+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

TR R
2022 2021

ARHF % AREFIL %

RMB'000 % RMB'000 %

L E Xk Property development 2,410,505 90.6 1,512,330 84.8
UELiiN= Property leasing 183,070 6.9 207,159 116
T i 7 Hotel operation 66,371 2.5 63,006 3.6
M5t Total 2,659,946 100.0 1,782,495 100.0

WahBE _F - —F+_H=T—HILFE
A NR® 17825 8 &L 414929 2 E
CE T AT HIEFERNHNRKE
2,659.9 8 #o0 > EE WY E R E RIS E
JEE A A R B

Revenue increased by approximately 49.2% from approximately RMB1,782.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB2,659.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the increase in

revenue generated from property sales and hotel operation.
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W PRI > 2 W E BB Property Sales in terms of Property Type

94.2% 1% Residential 62.3%
5.7% T % Commercial 28.9%
0.1% 4 2 Office 8.8%

B N 2 WESH Property Sales in terms of Location

39.6% Fi M Zhuzhou 2.2%
2.3% JEH) Wuxi 25.8%
0.1% 29 Changsha 1.9%
37.7% i 2% Nanjing 69.3%
20.3% M Yangzhou 0.8%

LSRN 2

Golden Wheel
Binary Star Plaza
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Property development

Revenue derived from property development business increased by 59.4%
from approximately RMB1,512.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB2,410.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. This increase was primarily due to the increase in the total GFA sold
and delivered during the year. During the year, the Group had 3 larger

residential projects completed and delivered.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group achieved contracted sales
of approximately RMB1,641.4 million (2021: RMB4,821.1 million).

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing business was remained at a similar
level as that in 2021. The Group recorded income from property leasing of
approximately RMB207.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
approximately RMB183.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operation increased mildly by 5.3% to RMB66.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB63.0 million). The
Group’s hotel business still greatly affected by the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic as the Group’s hotels in China were occasionally closed as required
by the local government authorities once there were covid cases identified in

the local area.
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88 A Cost of sales
N REN A BN A B AR Y 6 A B A The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the years
indicated:
REFAZT—HIREE
For the year ended 31 December
TR TR
2022 2021
AR T % AR¥TT %
RMB’000 % RMB 000 %
SR Property development
ES N Land acquisition costs 802,495 28.7 628,142 34.7
AR A Construction costs 1,284,404 46.0 586,927 32.4
B AR AL R A Capitalised finance costs 459,605 16.5 166,743 9.3
i IH BH 52 Tax expenses 17,127 0.6 11,302 0.6
B A Impairment of assets 136,379 4.9 311,360 17.2
N Subtotal 2,700,010 96.7 1,704,474 94.2
YERE Property leasing 22,241 0.8 30,802 1.7
5 5 4 Hotel operation 69,708 2.5 74,749 4.1
Hst Total 2,791,959 100.0 1,810,025 100.0

AEBMNEELARBE -E - —F+H
=t—HIEFEMARL8100H B THEER
BEOE L CEFT A= -HIEEENARK
2,792.0 F B0 o %N T T B E B
SET R AR > HF B 8
e

AREE T R AR EE S
S FE D ENs3eE b E T
133.3% °

The Group’s cost of sales increased from RMB1,810.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to RMB2,792.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The increase was primarily due to the increase in cost of sales of the property
development business which was mainly caused by the increase in the revenue

arising from property sales.

The Group’s percentage of average land acquisition costs over average selling price
decreased from 45.3% in 2021 to 33.3% in 2022.
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Gross loss

The Group recorded a gross loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 which
was mainly due to the Group incurring gross loss from its property development
activities which, in turn, was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19

pandemic.

The Group incurred a gross loss from its property development activities which was
mainly due to the reduction of sales prices in order to boost sales volume and the

increase in construction cost as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The gross profit margin for property leasing was 87.9% for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: 85.1%). The slight increase in profit margin was due to the
fact that the Group provided less rental concessions to its tenants as the Covid-19

situation for the year ended a bit better than the last year.

The Group’s hotel operation had recorded a negative profit margin of 5.0% for 2022
as compared to a negative profit margin of 18.6% in 2021. Because of the Nanjing

Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott gradually began normal operations in 2022.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a fair value loss on
investment properties of RMB44.1 million (2021: RMB1,597.7 million). The fair
value loss was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which has
substantially affected the rental income generated by the Group’s existing operating

investment properties.

The Group’s investment properties were revaluated on market value basis by an

independent property valuer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, expenses, gains and losses

The Group had a net loss of RMB217.2 million for other income, expenses, gains
and losses for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: a net gain RMB17.8
million). The net losses in 2022 was mainly caused by the net foreign exchange loss
of RMB284.9 million which was the result of the depreciation of RMB during the

year.

Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings and senior
notes. Finance costs increased from RMB254.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to RMB298.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
primarily due to the reduction of interest expense capitalized since less projects were

under progress as compare to the last year.

During the year, the average cost of borrowings remained stable at 10.27% (2021:
11.06%).

Selling and marketing expenses
Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and promotional

expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB64.2 million (2021: RMB88.6 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 27.6%. The decrease in selling and marketing activities as affected
by COVID-19 pandemic during the year.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily include staff salaries and benefits, depreciation
and amortisation, office expenses, traveling expenses, professional fees, utilities and

property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB164.1 million (2021: RMB143.1 million), representing
an increase of approximately 14.7% as compared to last year as a result of an

impairment loss of property, plant and equipment.

Taxation

The Group’s income tax expenses amounted to RMB77.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 and recorded a credit balance of income tax of RMB93.4 million
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to the profit

from the sales of properties in Yangzhou.

Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Due to the Group incurred a gross loss from its property sales as well as a revaluation
loss on investment properties which was mainly caused by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic and incurred a loss of net foreign exchange, the Group had
incurred a loss for the year of RMB995.3 million.

Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

The Group had bank deposits and cash of approximately RMB857.4 million as of 31
December 2022 (2021: RMB1,214.9 million), including restricted bank deposits of
approximately RMB664.2 million (2021: RMB868.0 million). The decrease in cash
and bank balances was mainly due to the decrease in proceeds received from property
sales which was a result of the substantial decrease in contracted sales during the

year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bank and other borrowings and gearing ratio
The Group had outstanding bank and other borrowings (including senior notes) of
approximately RMBS,158.0 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMBS5,045.3

million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 223.2%
(2021: 130.7%). The net gearing ratio of the Group is calculated by dividing the

interest-bearing liabilities net of bank deposits and cash by the total equity.

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness minus contract liabilities
divided by total assets) was approximately 69.0% as at 31 December 2022 versus

approximately 61.7% as at 31 December 2021.

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses paid and payable by the average total bank and other borrowings during
the relevant year) was approximately 10.27% in 2022 as compared to approximately
11.06% in 2021.

Cash flows (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities resulted primarily from pre-sales and
sales of developed properties, rental income and hotel income; while cash used
in operating activities resulted from our costs of land purchases, costs for the
development of properties, costs of operating completed properties held for sale and

taxes paid.

For the Year, net cash used in operating activities was approximately RMB193.6
million, which was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in trade and other payables
of approximately RMB307.4 million; and (ii) a decrease in contract liabilities of
approximately RMB213.6 million, which was offset by (a) a decrease in properties
under development for sale of approximately RMB712.3 million; (b) a decrease in
completed properties for sale of approximately RMB56.2 million; and (c) a decrease

in trade and other receivables of approximately RMB19.7 million.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash generated from operating activities
was approximately RMB1,023.4 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) a
decrease in properties under development for sale of approximately RMB1,285.0
million; (ii) a decrease in completed properties for sale of approximately RMB6.2
million, and (iii) an increase in contract liabilities of approximately RMB489.0
million, which was offset by (a) an increase in trade and other payables of
approximately RMB192.4 million; and (b) an increase in restricted bank deposits of
RMB189.9 million.

Cash flows generated from investing activities

Cash generated from investing activities resulted primarily from disposal of
investment properties, property, plant and equipment, cash inflow upon acquisitions
of a subsidiary while cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by
additions of property, plant and equipment and investment in investment properties

and advance to associates and joint ventures.

For the Year, net cash generated from investing activities was approximately
RMB587.0 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) the net disposal of
investment properties of approximately RMB326.0 million and (ii) cash inflow upon

acquisitions of a subsidiary of approximately RMB200.3 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net cash generated from investing activities
was approximately RMB207.0 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) the
net disposal of investment properties of approximately RMB162.1 million and
(ii) the net payment received by associates and joint ventures of approximately
RMB54.6 million.

Cash flows used in financing activities

For the Year, the Group’s had net cash used in financing activities of approximately
RMB549.1 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) a net repayment of bank
borrowings raised of approximately RMB518.8 million; (ii) an interest payment
of approximately RMB150.7 million; and (iii) a net decrease in senior notes of
approximately RMB219.2 million; which was offset by placement of deposits
pledged for bank loans of approximately RMB352.1 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s had net cash used in financing
activities of approximately RMB1,729.5 million, which was primarily attributable
to (i) a net decrease of senior notes of approximately RMB432.6 million; (ii) a net
repayment of bank borrowings raised of approximately RMB545.6 million; (iii)
an interest payment of approximately RMB533.6 million; and (iv) a withdrawal of
deposits pledged for bank loans of RMB113.9 million;

Net current liabilities

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB2,297.2 million as of 31
December 2022, and net current liabilities of approximately RMB1,314.7 million as
of 31 December 2021.

Restricted bank deposits

A portion of the Group’s bank deposits has restricted usage. These deposits are either
(i) placed with certain banks in the PRC and the usage of which are restricted to
certain of the Group’s property development projects in the PRC, or (ii) pledged to
banks as security for certain banking facilities granted to the Group, in which case
the use of the restricted bank deposits, subject to the banks” approval, is restricted to
the purposes as set out in the relevant loan agreements, or (iii) as security for certain
mortgage loans granted to our customers, in which case the restricted bank deposits
will be released upon receiving the building ownership certificates of the respective
properties by the banks from the customers as security for the mortgage loans
granted. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
were approximately RMBG664.2 million and approximately RMB868.0 million,

respectively.

Working capital

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB193.2 million and approximately RMB346.9 million,
respectively. The Group receives cash inflows mainly from pre-sales of its properties,
issue of senior notes and bonds and project-specific bank loans. The Group is
permitted to pre-sell its properties under development when it obtains the relevant
pre-sale permits. In addition to cash inflows from pre-sales, the Group typically
obtains project-specific bank loans once it receives the work commencement permits
for its projects or project phases, using the relevant land use rights and properties as

security.
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1% Indebtedness

7 b 7 BR % oK K & A 5 AT i I Property developments require substantial capital investment for land acquisition
AR - PIRER O BB TR R BB . and construction and may take months or years before positive cash flow can be
AEBTEEBANIMES ~ A7 LHA T E generated. The Group principally funds its property developments from internal
B I T B L BH ) S T A RO DA R B AT BB funds, borrowings from banks and other parties, proceeds from sales and pre-sales
B R 7% 25 B 15 5O By H Y g iR (& o of its developed properties and proceeds from issuance of both debt and equity

BE_F "R -F_—HF+-H=t+—H> securities. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following
AR T 1 04 A (B R AR AT R LA A outstanding bank and other borrowings:
BETZA=Z+—H
As of 31 December
e TERT A
2022 2021
AR T AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
JEHC AR SRAT K Unsecured bank borrowings
AR —4 Within one year 11,475 33,163
A HCHRERAT 3K Secured bank borrowings
AR (HfEE) Within one year (note) 1,631,015 1,693,086
—AERLEEOR 2 AR After one year but within two years 225,000 167,490
AL EHR R HAFE After two years but within five years 36,000 337,500
1,892,015 2,198,076
5T Total 1,903,490 2,231,239
B EE K E R (AR REATFLE) Senior notes and bonds (Exclude interest payables) 3,254,550 2,814,024
Mt Total 5,158,040 5,045,263

BESE - A R R R SRAT BRI EEA B SCE Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within one year” time

WMHGZ IR —FIRFHBE R _F band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate principal
FrHZA=1+—H0 BERITERZ A EH amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB1,379.7 million (2021: RMB1,467.1
BARM13797HE T (ZE 4 AR million). The Group believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid after one year in
1,467.1 F #70) o ASE BRI {Z 3% 57 4R AT i FOIT AR accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

TRAT B R H R — R R -

AREEZRTHERC R ot Rl eatE - The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. Details
A TR A SRAT A SR R R R of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank borrowings are set out in

WA B IEM 12> 1301718219 23 notes 12, 13,17, 18, 19, 23 and 28 of the consolidated financial statements.
F28 e
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital commitments

The following table sets forth the Group’s contractual commitments as of the dates

indicated:
BET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
S0 oy D S
2022 2021
AN BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000
NI E- SRR ER S Commitments contracted for but not provided
8T N B TS R R B A P 2R in the audited consolidated financial statements
in respect of:
R B A R W S S PR Construction of properties under development for sale
BEYE and investment properties under development 354,730 665,070
354,730 665,070

7 S T B < 6 R AR B A S T EL TR A B T 1)
=TI N AR R -

BB

WEZ-HER-F—F+HA=+—H
AR > A 48 [0 A B S B BLSE fi
FARE D KRB RS LA o
R T BT A B A AR B AR B SR A

The Group’s contractual commitments represented its commitments to third party

construction companies with respect to the construction of its projects.

Capital expenditures

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s capital
expenditures were primarily related to the acquisition of land use rights, the
construction of properties, and purchase of property, plant and equipment. The

following table sets forth a breakdown of its capital expenditures for the years

indicated:
BET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
SR TR
2022 2021
AR ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R Construction of properties 552,266 810,975
WEEYE (AfEEEgCR T Purchase of property (including transfer
FefEh W) - Bm K from completed properties held for sale),
plant and equipment 111 82,632
st Total 552,377 893,607
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Contingent liabilities

ot S SR

2022 2021
AR AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to
banks in favour of its customers 54,984 326,089
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These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership certificate
of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as a pledge for
security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group at initial recognition
are insignificant and the Directors consider that the possibility of default by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Group has not entered into any
off-balance sheet guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment
obligations of any third parties. It does not have any interest in any unconsolidated
entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to it or

engages in leasing or hedging or research and development or other services with it.

Possible risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now

but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including foreign exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk in the
normal course of its business. It manages and monitors these exposures on a regular
basis to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective

manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign exchange rate risk

The primary economic environment in which most of our principal subsidiaries
operate is the PRC and the functional currency is RMB. The Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk is principally due to its US$ and HK$ denominated debts and
bank deposits in foreign currencies, mainly US$ and HK$. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

each reporting date are as follows:

& T —AE
2022 2021
ARBFI ANRWTIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
%f% Assets

I Us$ 1,663 4,226
iESTH HK$ 21,645 24413
23,308 28,639

=L Liabilities
%0 US$ 3,770,897 3,132,809
iESTH HK$ 1,023,819 1,272,583
4,794,716 4,405,392

N B 5 38 70 R o e THE — M & EEOR S L
%70 K it To AT (R Y RS AR AR o {H SR T R
TCERAT A B B 1R o N R S R oT R i
TEHZAE U AR AR SR o

HE =< ¢ Bl 0 368 3 5 48 A 30 A 4 L S~ M
R DL B 8 4 S SR R 2 - AR SR H I SR AT
o S e S e B > M A 2L R 70 S A A L e
B e 0 B W % 1 ph RS W L -

Appreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ generally results in a gain arising
from the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated debts and a loss arising from its bank
deposits in US$ and HK$. A depreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ would

have the opposite effect.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates have had and will continue to have an
impact on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the variable
rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances of the Group.
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed rate
restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes and bonds. The Group
currently does not have a specific policy to manage its interest rate risk, but will

closely monitor the interest rate risk exposure in the future.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to it

due to the failure in discharging an obligation by the counterparties is arising from:

(a) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each reporting

period; and

(b) the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee

provided by the Group.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade

receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of properties. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank may demand the
Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-
sell the property to recover any amounts payable by him to the bank. In this regard,

the Group considers that its credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and restricted
bank deposits. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, approximately 78% and 68%
of its bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited at three and three
banks, respectively, representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding
10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit risk of these
liquid funds is limited because these banks are State-owned banks located in the
PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.
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TEE 4 Liquidity risk
ALECHEAME RN ESEHT RET The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
18 Y UL ) R B A A 4 o A AR A R A short-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages

FRRfTALE R m I R E R SR E liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and continuously monitoring
EHNE G S - forecasted and actual cash flows.

FRE— D 2 M S M B RN For further details, please refer to note 33b to the consolidated financial statements.
33b °

BB B S AR ISR R > 5 Please refer to notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 23, 28 and 33 to the consolidated financial
WA MBHREMEI2 13171819 statements for details of the pledges on the assets of, and guarantees provided by, the
23~ 28 J133 o Group.

HEARE Significant investments
RAEN > AEBERBEERFHF RN F 288 % Details of the Group’s significant investments during the Year are set out on pages
296 I F B ER]—Hi o 288 to 296 under the section headed “Schedule of Principal Properties”.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is glad to issue this Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
to disclose the Group’s ESG information and performance over the past year in an
open and transparent manner. This report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “ESG Guidelines”), covering the period from 1 January to
31 December 2022, which is consistent with the Group’s financial year. This report
describes the business, policies, measures and performance of the Group’s operating
units in mainland China and Hong Kong. Given that the Group’s business is based
in Nanjing and there are relatively more projects in Nanjing which have a greater
impact on stakeholders, and the therefore the environmental key performance
indicators mainly cover the Nanjing headquarters, Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza
Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel, Hong Kong office and Hong Kong
Golden Wheel Plaza. Compared with last year’s report, the core projects covered
for this year remain unchanged. The Group will continue to collect and monitor
environmental and social data and expand the scope of disclosure, with the aim
to enhance the operational transparency of the Group. In preparing this report,
we provided an overview of the Group’s ESG performance based on the reporting

principles of “materiality”, “quantification”, “balance” and “consistency”.

Materiality: The Group determines the significant impact of ESG matters
on investors and other stakeholders and performs materiality
assessment through stakeholder engagement process and

materiality assessment process.

Quantification: This report discloses the KPIs in a quantitative manner and is
based on the standards, methods, assumptions and calculation tools
used for emissions and energy consumption provided by the Stock
Exchange.

Balance: This report presents an unbiased view of the Group’s ESG

achievements and challenges and avoids choices, omissions or

presentation formats that may unduly affect the decisions or

judgments of the readers of the report.

Consistency: Consistent disclosure statistics methods are used to the extent
possible and explanations are provided for any changes to the

methods used last year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Information disclosed in this report has been checked by managers of the relevant
departments and reviewed and approved by the Board. This report is available in
English and Chinese versions. This report and the ESG reports of the Group for the
previous years are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

(https://www.gwtd.com.hk/).

INTRODUCTION

In 2022, the Group’s business in Mainland China and Hong Kong were subject to
the ongoing adverse impact of COVID-19 pandemic. Adhering to the management
philosophy of “making life more enjoyable through people-oriented, enterprising
and pragmatic development”, the Group always insists on providing customers with
high-quality products and services with rich professional expertise, so as to improve
their quality of life. The Group is fully aware of the importance of sustainable
development, which can enhance the Group’s energy use efficiency and operating
efficiency and is indispensable to the Group’s long-term development. Therefore,
we have added new emission reduction targets for this year and are committed to
implementing and improving our environmental protection policies and measures,
which have visible results. In addition, the Group makes good use of the influence
of the brand “Golden Wheel” to focus on business operations as well as pay attention
to industry development and social welfare. We actively encourage the public to
do good deeds in the society, and this measure brings quality service and positive
influence to customers and project areas, which is particularly true as we stood with
the public when the pandemic was prevalent. The Group’s management, including
the Board, regularly reviews and meets to attain better sustainable development
and the Group’s future business direction. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to implement its core strategy of “focusing on the development and operation of
projects adjacent to subway stations or other transportation hubs”. It will also
invest more resources in ESG to better manage internal risks and strengthen the
Group structure, which is conducive to maintaining its competitiveness for future
development and expansion. The Group is also committed to enhancing its ESG
transparency by expanding the scope of environmental performance indicator data
collection to seven property projects since last year, and continuously improving the

Group’s self-monitoring capability and the quality of this report.

THE BOARD AND ESG WORKING GROUP

In overseeing ESG matters, the Board focuses on the relevant ESG policies and
understands the related risks and opportunities. On the basis of optimizing the
management of the Company, the Board will enable the Company to meet the ESG
requirements. Meanwhile, the Board will strengthen the involvement of the internal
audit department and review the annual internal audit report to identify areas for

future improvement.
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BRI 5 8 RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
AR AR TR - 35 Bchs b <7 8 R B R During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations
JRAE R A B BT KRR o and there was no material violation during the Year.

Ji i o CR M Z A AR 7 2

Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report

B v (RN RIEM RS R %) A B

Environment Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic | A. Environment

of China

VAR GiE INCE R YRy
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution

v (hEEANRIEREK S BBiR L)
Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China

VARG YN LY 27 REE S AviReR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste

VAR GIE YN Y 2 Y N )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Noise Pollution

v (PR FEANE A RE IR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy
Conservation

VARGiE NG 2 Bl by
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s

Republic of China

v IR BT OR A B0 151D
Regulations on the Administration of Environmental
Protection of Construction Projects

v CEESUR B R TR IR SO B A
Measures for the Administration of Environmental
Protection Acceptance upon Completion of
Construction Projects

VARG E YN:E iR S N er )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Soil Pollution

v (R R

Law on Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution
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Ji il o B Z A AR 7 I B
Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter for this report
1158 v (PEAREMBE S %) B1. B 1
Employment Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China B1. Employment
v (RN RICAIE 5 8 & R KD
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
v RN RN B R AN PR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Minors
v ORI ETHE)
Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labour
v EECRME GG
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
v B E B E R
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
i B 5L 22 4 v (hEARLINBEZ2EEL) B2. fE B f e L% &
Health and safety Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety B2. Employee health and safety
VARG E YNSRI E SR
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases
FE fih FAE v (RN R E W E R ) BG. 7 i WAL MBS E R
Product liability Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China | B6. Product responsibility and service
v (hEANREAEEREE) quality
Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China
v (RN R AN B T A B A )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Administration of Urban Real Estate
VARG YN PR (F )
Urban Planning Law of the People’s Republic of China
v (REARIEFEE &%)
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
A v (R ANRIE %) B7. RET5
Anti-corruption Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China B7. Anti-corruption
VARG E INE e e g i)
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China
v T B AL AR )

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
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TR T AR RO B R AWARDS AND HONOURS IN 2022

248 [ 3 A B L AE 5 T AR R AT The management and staff of the Group have achieved recognition from all sectors
BRRITHNS N ESE SR NRE . TE of the community for their sustainable development efforts during 2022 and the key
BRAN T PR achievements are as follows:

EHETHMNEREWEEARAAE_-F Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group,
TR AT dhy MR N T Bt S e A A L was awarded the honorary title of “Outstanding Foreign Investment Enterprise
ZHJRAE B ARG A JE 8% | BB AR GE - Award” in 2022 by the Zhuzhou Real Estate Industry Association in the 30th

anniversary of its establishment.

F3 4 SEBTE N PR 4 B AR A IR R In addition, Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., a
B E AR T RE subsidiary of the Group, was awarded the following honors in 2022:

— o [T T A R N A R 2% o K L Honorary title of “Lusong District Economic Development Outstanding
48 | BB Contribution Award in 2021”
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II.  Honorary title of “Lusong District Economic Development Leap Award in
20217

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has always attached great importance to communication with its
stakeholders, and formulated communication channels and plans with stakeholders
to encourage two-way discussions on sustainable development issues and to
understand the stakeholders’ views and expectations on sustainable development
related issues. Thereafter, policies and performance of the relevant issues are
discussed and identified within the Group and the significance of these issues to
the Group’s business and stakeholders is assessed to facilitate the Group’s long-term
development. In the future, the Group will continue to improve its communication
mechanism with stakeholders, proactively understand and respond to their demands,

and work with stakeholders to achieve a sustainable future.

EERIES I o L T A 8 % 1] Ty 5
Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
£MAT > BIHGRGE > HEXR
Group staff Staff’s interests Direct communication
> RENTARE > BRI T
Work environment safety Staff hotline and handbook
> I ELR R S B R > B THHI NG S
Occupational health and Staff training and activities
development
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Fitr &

Bl

63K SN ATY YIEN

> AEEEEM

Company’s operating information

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
B B B > B > BoRKE
Shareholders and investors Return and growth General meeting of shareholders
> ZiFAE > EMPEEEEN
Profitability Regular disclosure of operating information

> AR R - EE R RR
Corporate announcements/circulars, annual reports

and financial statements
> BEH M

Investor roadshows

L 536 £

Tenants and property owners

> R SR

Product qualities and services

> FEmhAEE

Product maintenance

> HRR
Safety facilities
> MHEKFE

Rental level

> HFFWEERA
Customer satisfaction survey

> ERE - ER - EEERTRERE
Keep close relationship through phone calls,

WeChat groups, e-mails, etc.

> HHRA

Routine inspections
> RN ERRY

Provide professional after-sale services

R

Contractors

> HEHX

Tendering methods

> JBEA K

> BB EADELT R S E B R E
Technique and quality assessment of tenderers

> SO IS ERAE LA > TR AP A IE

Suppliers

Mode of procurement

> HFRBITAH
Observation and Performance of

contracts

Pay in time Set hiring standards and practices to ensure fairness
and justice
e v > R > RARXHE - AF - AENHEEEX

Open, impartial and fair tendering procedures

> EM TR

Convene regular work meetings

> RBEEE

Factory inspections
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i I e B A I8 e I HE T X

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback

B > HNPEREN > AT SO ST B R BUOR

Government authorities Compliance with laws and Follow and abide by national policies
regulations > GERE R A LAERR T S B A A
R Hold regular meetings to review operating
Tax payment according to law procedures and relevant regulations
AR > WLEEHL T REEHE
Project security Formulate green working, construction and

building policies

A’ N FE > T2 A [ B

Communities Public welfare Get actively involved in community affairs
AL I B 2 > il R D SE B BRI S A [ )
Connections with communities Set policies to minimize operation impact on the
B AW environment and community
Community sanitation > At G E)

Organise charity events

e LEER > IR A I R TR A

Media Group governance Regular disclosure of information and news release
Bt > R
Profitability Visit invitation
¥ EET > EE TN AR A B R O SR 2
Corporate social responsibility Information on investor and public relations are
(CSR) provided for media organizations upon request
BEE Y
Operational transparency
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FEERBORE - g RERRERIDMEX In accordance with the requirements of the ESG Guidelines, the Group

375 08 BRUA [ R 03 25 V8 78 DA I R o kO T identified major issues and priorities involved in the Group’s operations through

£ [958 IRF T 9 I 0 B R R I LSRR T communication with different stakeholders and internal discussions, and conducted

BT EENEE s AEE RN E R ARENT a materiality assessment. The materiality assessment process for the Year was as
follows:

7R S WS T S W 3 AR R T B 0 A
AT B AEEEAL > R AR S (R
Mg RERWREES) A R BUR R M
W~ ATEEE B ERERE RS
BROL T 17 BRST  ALer RAER AR -

5 T R 155 103 3 S0 A R A A B AR
S BN > SR E A A ] A 38 20 o B4R
BET - fEm - &5 BEER U
WCEERF I > AT HNAR E AT A

0 Ll W S B SBOOR > A
S5 B 8 VA4 B R AR O B A

S LS B - AL A R
25 1 5 R S T T
LY s T U R s
TR -

1. The Group engaged an independent third-party consultant to assist it in the
materiality assessment. A total of 17 ESG-related issues were established by
taking into account the ESG Guidelines, corporate policies and management

strategies, industry benchmarking and stakeholders” past comments, etc.

2. In order to understand the attention degree of stakeholders to relevant
issues and the importance of these issues, the Group communicates with
its staff, suppliers, customers, media, etc., through various communication
mechanisms to collect stakeholders” opinions and conduct external materiality

assessment.

3. Analyze business priorities and policies through management meetings
to assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group from a Group

perspective.

4. Based on two parameters, i.e. the importance of the ESG issues established to
each stakeholder and the importance of the issues to the Group, the issues are

listed in order of importance and disclosed in matrix form.
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High
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES
IMPORTANCE MATRIX

Based on our Group’s business development and long-term ESG policies, we have

the following important matrix:

B 1 S R
ENVIRONMENT Greenhouse gas emission

Use of resources and energy

3 BEEYER

bR
Climate risk management
BT 5 {EMFrS
STAFF Employment equality
6 LR

Employment standards

7 WRCRAEREER 4

e Occupational health and safety
8 TR K

Staff development and training
9 B ILFHEMAER]

Staff compensation and benefits

AT 10

RESPONSIBILITY Management of supply chain

11 ZFERKERLLE

Customer information and privacy security
12 7 i BB B R

Product and service quality
13 ke HEAE

Intellectual property protection

H

3

i SEHARE P S P T
Low Importance to the Group’s business

JE T A ) S R > AR T ORI E A
e 2 MR RT3 TR S IR B 2 2
BT RARA ~ (O gi s 3 - 7 b OB
B B R A% > I B A A R
EEASREBRS AL E LB RIS E - B
REHE NN BERENEERE -

v

& 14 AR

High Complaint management
A 15 &G
SOCIAL Anti-Corruption
16 #l w28

Community participation

17 HAth - A48
Other: Public interests

Based on the Group’s business characteristics, issues of greater importance during
the Year are employment equality, employment standards, occupational health
and safety, staff compensation and benefits, management of supply chain, product
and service quality, complaint management and anti-corruption etc. This matrix
of important issues is an important reference for the Group’s future ESG strategy

formulation, target setting and information disclosure.
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B

AR T Y EET TR > D
RS e B S I U A A B BBE > [R] Bey  fEK 3
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B BRFHE R R WEER
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B AR B E i B At [ o 5 TR R TR Y
BROBORRAEIEG > SR EA THE
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RIEHE

AEBFE T HRE IR EAZ > % 5
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R HE -

TE R B T+ BB % PR D
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“F R EBE D 8 B AR
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FEEEEY R £FABN %
TP AE D R R S % N E B Y) AN D
0% BEHE TREY - Wik —F _HEE
iE— > EH D E A 10% A E EY A
WD 15% B LEY o

FEOK B IR R 7 > B AR =% AR
WD 5% MK &SRR REE > I =%
TR 8% KB B R R K E L -

ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to enhancing the sustainability of its property
business to meet the challenges posed by global warming while reducing
the environmental impact of the business. The Group has incorporated the
concept of sustainability into all business processes, including project design,
development and construction, property operation, etc., in order to create
low-carbon and natural symbiotic products and communities for customers.
Through different green policies and internal guidelines, the Group strives to

guide its staff to practice green building, green construction and green office.

ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVES

The Group has set specific environmental objectives and will strengthen
its efforts to reduce emissions in order to fulfill its commitment to
environmental protection. The Group adheres to the relevant national policy
guidelines on carbon emissions and integrates into the national development
plan, committing to achieve the goals of carbon peaking by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060. With the emissions in 2022 as the basis, the Group has

set environmental objectives for 2024 and 2025.

In terms of energy use, the target is to reduce electricity consumption by
5% and other energy consumption by 5% by 2024, and to achieve an 8%
reduction in electricity consumption and 8% reduction in other energy

consumption by 2025.

In terms of solid waste discharge, the Group is committed to reducing office
waste by 5% and construction waste by 10% by 2024, and further reducing
office waste by 10% and construction waste by 15% by 2025.

In terms of water use, the target is to reduce water consumption by 5% or
reduce water consumption density by 2024 and reduce water consumption by

8% or reduce water consumption density by 2025.
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e Vil

Environmental Category

“RTUER R
Target in 2024

“ROHAEHRE
Target in 2025

AE TR BN WD sw MR BN WD sn iR
Energy use Electricity: reduce consumption by 5% Electricity: reduce consumption by 8%
HABREV : WD 5% FE B HAREIR - B 8o FER
Other energy: reduce consumption by 5% | Other energy: reduce consumption by 8%
[ o 4 B WAEREY : BV 5% WA ZEY - WD 10%

Solid waste discharge

Office waste: reduce by 5%
N TREY - 10%

Construction waste: reduce by 10%

Office waste: reduce by 10%
B TREY : 15%

Construction waste: reduce by 15%

KB RAE W 5% K B BUSARFE K L 870 896 MK 12 B AR FE K 3

Woater use Reduce water consumption by 5% or reduce| Reduce water consumption by 8% or reduce
water consumption density water consumption density

FNERER RITENZERERIEREE 5% RITE N2 FERIEREE 98%

Indoor air quality

Improve the achievement rate of indoor air

quality to 95%

Improve the achievement rate of indoor air

quality to 98%

Al B

Al. Emissions

74 B2 I EE A S I AR PR L) L
BHCE T i > S e pt T B R
T ARARL - B4R P AY SEH H R
T34 AT E B M At - TEY) SR B R
(SRR o SR R A %
SR S W B0 PR DL 4 o (HAE
HHEBKS ) CRRLZ RO
SR SR TR A A R e B
J o A AEZ (6 IR H A AT AR AL KT
RELE B RE B R E AR -

TR R A4 T U 2 SR R
T AR ) R R > R
A O PR CIR > A T P R
90 M1 L % SRR A A o il AR
A 2 IR L E Tk G R A
R B TA IEFE6E M & LU D A
DERRE -

Developing green policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

The Group attaches importance to the emissions generated from its
business and their management methods. The Group strictly complies
with national laws and regulations and regularly reviews the business
implementation process of each department. Emissions of greenhouse
gases and other air pollutants are inevitable in the business process of
property development. However, the Group has made its best efforts
to set up a number of green policies to ensure good management from
the source, reduce emissions, provide plant engineering for projects

and ensure that the green coverage rate reaches specific standards.

During the Year, the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were mainly
from outsourced electricity and gasoline, and therefore, the Group has
been closely monitoring the emission sources to reduce the production
of greenhouse gases within its controllable range. For example, the
Group has a green policy for the use of resources to ensure its staff use

resources correctly to reduce unnecessary waste.
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B

> HERAETEERMEESE
HT%%&% AR R
ORNEY TR S P i)
CHM g=EMTR%
By I PHA% 5 - IS5 3L -

> WEEHE - HENMIEE AT
%@E*&ﬁ*z’ﬂsﬁlﬂﬂ;ﬁf‘ﬁ
o P 22 9 > (I RE B 22 3 A
EK%%%&%Ea%é%
N3 B R R R K20 B 0 DA
D BV T R A i 2 R

R
> NIRRT P A RE IR
RACER R RARSRAEA -

B
> wﬁfﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁmu
WD HR A
> BEERIERYGHE
BR o SR EEE TR
FABRFIHRZ M A sE T
Ho

Electricity usage

>

Group offices: The administrative department will be
responsible for checking whether the lights, computers, air
conditioners and other machines are turned off after office
hours; after the meeting room is used, the projector, computers

and other equipment shall be shut down in time.

Commercial projects: Air conditioners are used only in
summer and winter of each year for a period of approximately
five months for project in Mainland China, with an indoor
temperature of not less than 26 degrees Celsius in summer
and not more than 20 degrees Celsius in winter to reduce

greenhouse gas emissions from refrigerants.

Gas usage

>

Hotel business: Replace some of the natural gas to be used with

other renewable energy.

Vehicle use

>

Strictly and uniformly arrange according to demand for vehicles

to reduce the use of vehicles.

For each project under construction, staff will be provided
with metro cards that are purchased collectively, and project
staff will be encouraged to use public transport when handling

project-related matters.
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Water resources management

The Group purchases water from municipal water supply agencies,
without any obstacles in obtaining suitable water sources. In terms
of sewage discharge, we set strict discharge guidelines to minimize
environmental damage. The Group understands that water resources
are precious natural resources, so we strive to improve water
efficiency and recycle water resources as much as possible and will
prefer equipment with water-saving features. In the office, there is a
dedicated area in the workplace to collect reusable stored water. The
Group will remind employees to pay attention to water usage and
develop good habits of saving water through labels or posters. At the
same time, according to the Group’s green policy, water-saving faucets
and toilets have always been used in office areas, the surplus water left
in the office pantry every day will be recycled for cleaning water, and

the available water resources will be cherished.

For other property projects, the Group uses water resources in
accordance with engineering requirements and local environmental
requirements. Although sewage will inevitably be generated during
the development of property projects, the Group’s project sites will
be provided with appropriate facilities for sand settling of surface
runoff, such as sand settling ponds, silt collectors and sedimentation
tanks, which will be maintained regularly. In addition, rainwater and
sewage will be separated to ensure that sewage will be discharged
into municipal sewage pipes and rainwater will be discharged into
municipal rainwater pipes. Drainage networks will be provided to
ensure smooth channels to prevent water accumulation. Manholes in
the site will all be covered with care and temporarily sealed to prevent

debris from entering the drainage system.
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Solid waste management

In addition to the emission of greenhouse gases, other gas emissions
and sewage, the Group strictly complies with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Promotion of Cleaner Production and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong to strictly control solid waste.
In 2022, the hazardous waste generated by the Group was minimal.
For the disposal of non-hazardous waste, the Group will strictly
implement waste classification in accordance with the requirements
of the Nanjing Municipal Domestic Waste Management Regulations,
which came into force on 1 November 2020. In the workplace, the
Company will arrange dedicated personnel and place more collection
bins in the office waste collection area to collect paper waste, and
regularly contact professional recyclers for disposal. Meanwhile, the
Company requires the use of environmentally friendly paper, reducing
the use of disposable paper and prioritizing the use of electronic files
for work. In terms of hotel and shopping mall operations, the Group
engages professional recyclers to collect and dispose of non-hazardous

waste and carry out recycling work.

Waste separation facilities within the project

Green construction

The Group has stipulated in construction contractor agreements that
construction contractors will carry out the works in accordance with
the green construction guidelines, which include adopting a “three
level waste management hierarchy” in the construction process,
following the “avoid, recycle, and dispose” process, so as to avoid waste
generation from the beginning so as to reduce the production and
disposal of waste. All chemical containers should be clearly labeled
in accordance with the waste disposal (chemical waste) (general)
instructions, and chemical waste should be stored on a watertight
floor to prevent leakage. A refuse collection point or a movable
garbage bucket will be set up at the site for properly placing all solid
wastes. Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are collected separately
and disposed according to law. Each project has designated staff
responsible for waste management related matters, and the project
manager is mainly responsible for approving the waste management
plan; the project intermediary is responsible for the implementation
of daily waste management; the general foreman is responsible for
supervising the workers’ compliance with the waste management
guidelines; and the project manager is responsible for coordinating the

actual arrangement and recording.
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Green project

The Group is fully aware of the importance of the concept of low
carbon and environmental protection to the sustainable development
of our business. In addition to formulating policies to improve the
efficiency of the use of energy and resources, we will also adopt more
different elements, including technology, design and other aspects to
reduce the environmental and ecological impact of the project before

and after construction.

The Group’s real estate project planning direction has always been to
focus on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway
stations or other transportation hubs, and the most recent projects are
located on the subway roof or near high-speed railway stations. This
development direction does not only consider profit, but also shows
the experience of the Group in pursuing sustainable development.
Under the development policy of the complex adjacent to the subway
station or other transportation hubs, all aspects of living needs of
customers, including shopping, education, medical care, etc., within
the residential area and nearby areas, can be met without traveling far
away. This does not only improve the convenience of customers’ lives,
but also reduces greenhouse gas emissions generated by customers’
transportation in daily life. For other needs, customers can use green
and nearby public transportation means to achieve a sustainable

lifestyle.

Under such general policy for project development, the Group has
also added the green concept to the site selection and design period
as early as before the construction, not only strictly complying with
the functional planning requirements of the project site, but also
conducting site visits during the site selection of the project to
understand the local ecology and supporting facilities. Before the
project is officially implemented, the Group will conduct project
environmental impact assessment in accordance with the regulations,
mainly conducting research and assessment on the water, soil, sound,
etc., that will be affected. Based on the results of the inspection and
evaluation, the Group will hold meetings and discussions and take

relevant measures based on the characteristics of each project.
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During the project implementation phase, the Group designs the
project based on the topography of the project site and the overall
climate environment. The design team will carefully consider the
project orientation, natural ventilation, sunshine time, etc., to set up
the design scheme. In addition, the Group will set up energy-saving
teams based on demand, set up water and electricity consumption
quotas in advance, formulate rewards and punishment rules and
monitor the implementation of energy-saving work plans and targets
to improve energy efficiency. Procurement of materials in the project
design is also an important part of the Group’s focus. We carefully
select suppliers and use only high-quality materials and try our best to
use environmental-friendly materials, such as external wall insulation

materials and high-efficiency energy-saving lamps, etc.

In addition, the Group actively uses energy-saving and water-saving
measures and technologies at different stages. In terms of water saving,
some residential projects are equipped with rainwater collection ponds
to use non-traditional water sources such as rainwater for greening
irrigation and road washing, and water saving systems, for example,
drip irrigation or sprinkler irrigation are also used. Commercial
projects are also equipped with water-saving equipment, such as
installation of pressure-reducing valves and induction taps. In terms
of energy conservation, basically all projects adopt door and window
products with sealing strips to enhance the air tightness of doors and
windows, thus effectively preventing heat conduction caused by air
convection, reducing the frequency of heating used by customers and

reducing the overall greenhouse gas emissions of the project.
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Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza is a popular choice
for shopping and accommodation in Nanjing. We have adopted
several measures to achieve energy-saving and environment-friendly
operation without affecting the service level. The plaza management
will compare and review the data every other month with those
of the same period in the past. The plaza implements sustainable
development measures and plans to utilize renewable energy sources
such as solar thermal and solar photovoltaic. In view of the waste
easily generated from the plaza business, the Group strives to adopt
the environmental protection and low-carbon option to the maximum
extent while keeping the environment clean and tidy, and adopting
sterilization technology in public facilities to meet requirements in
the epidemic situation. Moreover, the Group has very strict standards
in construction materials and design, and we hope to save resources
and reduce pollution to the maximum extent, so as to provide people
with applicable and efficient use space. The green space rate of the
plaza reached 15.03% in 2021. Trees are provided for shading and
supporting facilities for rest, and waterscape modeling is set in the
landscape center. The Group comprehensively considers shading and
drainage requirements in its greening design, with its green building

certification recognized as one star grade in 2021.

JBE SR il P R R R
Types of exhaust emissions 2022 2021 2020
ALy (T 5)

Sulphur oxides (kg) 0.51 0.51 0.42
AEALY (T5)

Nitrogen oxides (kg) 52.22 143.17 162.01
R (T30)

Particulate matter (kg) 0.56 11.41 14.15
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2 U i S SR R
Greenhouse gas emission 2022 2021 2020
(—) BB % SR PR B (A M)

(I) Direct greenhouse gas emissions and reduction (tonne) 613.60 365.14 234.93

() AR P 2 T 2 SR8 R it (22 mig)
(IT) Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 8,552.07 8,063.01 1,957.85

(=) Al 1] 2 U8 5 S B B (M)
(III) Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 93.74 93.96 22.69

1 2% SR8 P = (A W)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tonne) 9,259.41 8,522.11 2,215.47

R (AW BAAT)

Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (in tonne/per employee) 16.35 12.72 2.69
JoE SEA A S S TR “EIFE
Waste category 2022 2021 2020
A EREFY) (AW W M

Hazardous waste (tonne) Trace Trace 0
AEBEYEE (AW, BLET) e (6

Hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) Trace Trace 0

HEEREEY (W)
Non-hazardous waste (tonne) 51 60 11.25

WEBEYEE (MW, BLET)

Non-hazardous waste density (in tonne/per employee) 0.09 0.09 0.01
KA —F- R TR IR
Use of water resources 2022 2021 2020
FEKE (AM)

Total water consumption (tonne) 158,562 145,033 26,872

FEK BB (AW BZET)
Water consumption density (in tonne/per employee) 281.64 216.47 32.57
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There are five real estate projects in the scope of environmental performance
indicators in 2020, including the headquarters office in Nanjing, the
Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel and Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza.

There are seven real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator
data collection in 2021 and 2022, including the headquarters office in
Nanjing, the Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza
Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel, Nanjing Golden Wheel
Binary Star Plaza, in the scope of data collection in 2020, with Hong Kong
Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center as new

additions.

During the Year, the Group has applied the amended “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” as issued by the Stock Exchange in March 2022. Data conversion
method and factors are mainly referred to the amended “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, the Energy Data Book
published by the International Energy Agency, the Energy Information
Administration and the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories
of the Environmental Protection Agency. As we have used more accurate
data conversion method and factors during the Year, adjustments have been
made to the figures in 2021 to consist with the figures in 2022, enabling

meaningful comparison between data of different times.

Impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, our employees significantly reduced
their air traveling. Thus in 2021 and 2022, there is an increase in exhaust
gas emissions primarily from motor vehicles not owned by the Group, and a

significant reduction in indirect greenhouse gas emissions from air travel.

The Group does not use packaging materials nor involve in product
recycling as it mainly engages in real estate development, business

management, financial investment and hotel.
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A2.

Use of Resources

Green oftice

The Group’s green office does not only control greenhouse gas
emissions, but also includes the use of other resources, office
procurement and disposal of office waste. At present, the Group has
offices in Nanjing and Hong Kong, and the main wastes in the offices
are general domestic waste and used paper. We have actively advocated
to our staff to encourage them to reduce the use of disposable and
over-packaged goods. As for printing documents, we require our staff
to use environmentally-friendly paper under normal circumstances,
and the printing paper can be reused for internal use. All waste such as
packaging materials and office paper will be recycled by the Group’s
designated recycler. All staff within the Group have complied with the

internal Green Office Management Guidelines, including:

> Equipping staff with low-energy computers;

> Requiring staff to turn off lighting fixtures, air conditioners

and equipment before leaving the premise;

> Full use of energy-efficient lighting system and LED lamps in

the office;

> Reasonable use and ordering of office supplies;

> Employees are encouraged to use double-sided printing
and reuse the single-sided printing paper to reduce paper

consumption;

> Recycling facilities are provided in the premises to recycle glass,

carton, paper, metal and other materials;

> Engaging professional recyclers to deal with wastes that may
harm the environment, such as lamp tubes, ink cartridges and

batteries;

> People are encouraged to use video conferencing and

teleconferencing as an alternative to business trips;
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> Promote paperless office; and

> Replacing printed publicity leaflets with internet-based

advertising for project marketing.

Water conservation

As the Group’s business involves the operation of shopping malls
and hotels, there will be a certain amount of water facilities and
consumption. The Group will prefer equipment with water-saving
features and monitor the use of water resources through the property
management system. In the office, there is a dedicated area to collect
reusable stored water. As water consumption of the hotel business
is the highest in the Group, we have implemented a series of water
saving measures for the hotel business, including regular inspection
and maintenance of water pipes by the engineering department to
prevent leakage and installation of water-saving faucet and toilet to

control water output.

In other property projects, both indoor and outdoor, the Group
has taken special measures to save the use of water resources. For
indoor areas, the Group’s engineering department is responsible for
controlling water use of landscape modeling and public areas mainly
using recycled water. The engineering department also needs to
conduct regular inspections to understand the actual situation and
explore areas for which water-saving measures can be taken. In terms
of outdoor design, the Group has applied the rainwater recycling
system and the design of “Sponge City” in different projects. “Sponge
City” is a design of a city model with both flood control and ecological
and environmental protection functions, including the design of
rainwater gardens, concave green spaces, permeable pavement,
rainwater collection ponds, etc., which can improve the efficiency of
water circulation. For example, Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star
Plaza, a complex of the Group integrating retail, serviced apartments
and hotels, has been equipped with a rainwater collection pond
facilities as early as at the design stage to collect rainwater for outdoor
plant irrigation, driveway cleaning, etc., to make good use of water

resources. The Group does not have any problem in sourcing water.
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FEHETL IR 2] 41 GE IR A 2

Usage amount of energy by emission source

REJRAE = (-8 T FU i) e S SR CRORE
Energy Consumption (‘000 kWh) 2022 2021 2020
28 T H (R f 4e)

Transportation (Petrol and diesel) 188.54 260.44 233.30
SMEE ]

Purchased electric power 14,747.04 13,719.69 3,137.26
HMNEEIR R

Purchased natural gas 3,100.16 1,636.90 945.51
REVR A FE A&

Total energy consumption 18,035.75 15,617.03 4,316.07
REVRHFE R (T TRk %8 T)

Energy consumption density (in 000 kWh/employee) 32.04 23.31 5.23

2
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Notes:

There are five real estate projects in the scope of environmental performance
indicators in 2020, including the headquarters office in Nanjing, the
Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel and Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza.

There are seven real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator
data collection in 2021 and 2022, including the headquarters office in
Nanjing, the Hong Kong office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza
Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel, Nanjing Golden Wheel
Binary Star Plaza, in the scope of data collection in 2020, with Hong Kong
Golden Wheel Plaza and Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center as new

additions.

During the Year, the Group has applied the amended “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” as issued by the Stock Exchange in March 2022. Data conversion
method and factors are mainly referred to the amended “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, the Energy Data Book
published by the International Energy Agency, the Energy Information
Administration and the Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories
of the Environmental Protection Agency. As we have used more accurate
data conversion method and factors during the Year, adjustments have been
made to the figures in 2021 to consist with the figures in 2022, enabling

meaningful comparison between data of different times.
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4. The increase in energy use in 2021 and the Year was mainly due to the
improvement of the pandemic situation and the inclusion of more projects
than last year. Due to the pandemic, the Company has always arranged
vehicles for staff to visit joint venture project sites in other territories,

increasing gasoline consumption and emissions of vehicles.

Environment and Natural Resources

The impact of the Group’s business operations on the environment
and natural resources mainly relates to the consumption of electricity,
water resources, building materials and office supplies during the office
and construction process. We have also taken a series of environmental
protection measures to reduce emissions and consumption, and
implemented green buildings to reduce the impact of business

operations on the environment and natural resources.

On the one hand, the Company’s impact on environmental resources
is reflected in its business activities at construction site, where dust
generated will deepen the level of air pollution. Therefore, the Group
mainly manages the construction dust issue during the construction
process in accordance with the relevant requirements such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
establishes a complete set of spraying systems at all construction sites,
and reduces the air dust by driving mist cannon trucks and regularly
turning on the atomizing water spraying system at the construction
sites. In order to effectively reduce the dust emission from the
construction site, the construction site must meet the requirements for
the following: surrounding enclosure, hardening of construction roads,
covering of bare soil and material stacking, wet operation of earthwork
excavation and demolition works, cleaning of vehicles entering and
leaving the site and airtight transportation of slag cars, with the aim

to effectively reduce the dust emission from the construction site.

In addition, the Group is very concerned about the impact on the
residents near the project. During the construction process, the Group
will always pay attention to whether the noise generated by the project
is controlled to meet the relevant standards and strictly observe the
legal construction time in the project area. As the light emitted from
the display screen on the external wall of the shopping mall may affect
nearby residents, we will turn off the lighting system of the screen at

10 p.m. every day to reduce light pollution.
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A4.

On the other hand, the impact is reflected in consumption of energy
such as water, electricity and gas, which leads to carbon dioxide
emissions. In this regard, the Company has established a series of
internal energy saving policies that employees are required to comply.
For instance, it is required to use environmentally friendly paper and,
to reduce energy consumption, the air conditioning temperature must

not be lower than a particular level.

Climate Change

The Group is aware of the risks arising from climate change. The
management has identified and understood the possible opportunities
and risks to our business and actively responds to, manages and
monitors the risks associated with climate change. Extreme weather
brought about by climate change will directly bring physical risks
to our property development, investment, hotel operation and other
aspects. For example, extreme weather events such as rainstorm and
typhoon may affect the delivery period of the supplied materials,
causing project delay and directly affecting the normal operation
of the Group. Therefore, the Group should adopt relevant policies,
including supply chain management and green design, to strengthen
the adaptability of the Group’s business and projects and reduce the
short and medium term risks associated with climate change. As for
the long-term risk that climate change may bring, which is the risk of
social transformation, the Group has also adopted measures to adapt to

and resist climate change at the regulatory level.
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SOCIAL

Upholding the people-oriented concept, the Group is committed to creating

a harmonious and healthy working environment for its staff. We highly

respect the rights and interests of our staff, and also attach importance to

their personal growth, the Group’s supply chain management and quality

assurance. During the Year, we continued to improve our relevant policies to

provide high-quality products to our customers and our country based on the

interests of the Group and our staff.

BI1.

Employment

The Group has always valued its staff as the Group’s greatest asset. As
a result, the Group strictly complies with the Employment Promotion
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Marriage Law of the People’s Republic of China and other
relevant laws and regulations, and has formulated staff handbooks and
set down regulations on remuneration and dismissal. For example, all
employees are required to sign an employment contract, which sets
out matters such as wages, benefits and termination of the contract.
The Group respects and embraces different cultures. When we
recruit new staff, all applicants, regardless of their identity, gender,
religion, disability, nationality, etc., can have the same recruitment
opportunities. During the recruitment process the human resources
department will require applicants to show their identification
documents. If an applicant cannot show any compliance documents,
the Group will not consider allowing the applicant to proceed to the
next recruitment step to avoid the employment of child labour and

forced labour.

The Group has relevant anti-discrimination and anti-harassment
policies in both recruitment and business processes, including the
Anti-sex Discrimination Policy, which defines discrimination and
harassment so that stakeholders can clearly understand the relevant
definitions. In case of any relevant situation, staff can immediately
report through communication channels. The Group also attaches
importance to the training of talents and abilities. We conduct
annual performance appraisal with our staff every year and have a clear
promotion ladder. All staff have the same promotion opportunities
according to the results of the performance appraisal and the

corresponding qualifications and abilities.

202248 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022

61



BREE - A LA R

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R 5 B SR o

HsE

Salary and Remuneration

Employment Policy Specific Provisions
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Working Hours 2 AR AR o
The working hours of employees are generally 40 hours per week. Where overtime work is
required, the Group will offer overtime pay or grant or approve leave in lieu as appropriate.
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The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees based on factors such
as market wages, responsibilities, job complexity and work performance. Staff remuneration
is always paid in full as scheduled. The Group also pays discretionary bonuses to qualified

employees based on operation results and individual performance.

&3

Vacation

B TARECHEE NRIEABE S8 5 B2 /T = A 2R SR AR Y > 3
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Employees are entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave and other leave, and may apply for
other casual leave in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China. The
Group’s female staff can apply for physiological leave of one day each month according to

their physical conditions.

B TAaF

Employee Benefits

S 2 B TR A ZHE RO AL & ORI E S A ~ SR AL ARG - S AR -
BTEE - iRBESEM - B T2 FARR B S EHEmiM
% BB I R AR B B 2 o s B DR R AR SR I AR o B
P A — TR RS T 3 DA SR 2 T I A B % A P R I B R A R R
The Group pays contributions to the social insurance fund for its employees, and offers
working meal allowance, regular physical examination, employee activities, travel allowance
and other benefits stipulated by the state. If employees take training and relevant vocational
qualification examinations, the Group will provide additional leave for examination and
bear relevant training expenses. Hong Kong-based employees are also entitled to medical
insurance and the mandatory provident fund. The Group has also introduced a share option
scheme to reward employees who make outstanding contributions to the growth and

development of the Group.
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R

Categories

BMETAH
Total Number of
Employees

MEBETAY
Number of Lost

Employees

ik B LA 80N B TSI R %)

The Percentage of Lost Employees

in the Category

1% 0 15 ) 73
By Region

it
Hong Kong

57.14%

o B K
Mainland China

556

241

43.35%

AR B 2y
By Age Group

18-30 75,
18-30

140

88

62.86%

31-50 5%
31-50

353

126

35.69%

ST b
51 and Above

70

31

44.29%

F5 (TR ) 7
By Employment Category

e

General

345

190

55.07%

g
Middle

177

46

25.99%

FisE

Senior

41

21.95%

AR 8 7
By Gender

Ttk
Male

284

117

41.20%

g ks

Female

279

128

45.88%

Fb
Total

563

245

43.52%
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B2.

Occupational Health and Safety

To ensure a safe and healthy working environment that makes staff feel
at ease and work more efficiently, we strictly implement relevant laws
and regulations including but not limited to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Safety Production Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Industrial Injury Insurance Ordinance and the
Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China, etc. The
Company requires new joiners to undergo health check. The Group is
committed to protect the health of its employees. For any employee
who suffers from health issue that requires hospitalization, our human
resources department will make immediate intervention and gain an
understanding of his/her condition, while relevant colleagues will
be arranged to pay him/her a visit. The well-being of our staff is on
the Company’s top priority, therefore it also makes contribution for
each employee to work-related injuries insurance, while the general
contractors of our projects are required to maintain relevant insurance
for the construction workers. The Company also gives 1 day of

menstrual leave per month to its female employees.

The Group also attaches importance to occupational safety at the
construction site of the project, and implements the principle of
“safety first and prevention first” during the entire construction
process. Project engineers hold monthly meetings with the Project
Safety Committee to monitor the implementation of the project safety
plan and revise the health and safety performance of the project. The
Group listens to the opinions of the staff carefully and improve safety
facilities, safety awareness and the safety management principles
of working environment. The management of the Group will also
regularly visit the site to oversee the purchase, lease, use of safety
protection equipment, machinery equipment, construction machinery
and accessories, fire service facilities and equipment that meet the

requirements of safety construction (including the safety protection
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for inflammable and explosive and dangerous goods) and conducts
routine inspection and record on temporary electricity consumption
and high falling objects. The construction of a project shall strictly
implement a tendering and bidding system and shall be contracted
out to a construction entity with the relevant qualification grading.
The Group has a complete defense system in place against the safety
risk brought about by unexpected natural events. In the summer of
2022, the Nanjing Golden Wheel Commercial Headquarter arranged
and deployed the flood prevention work for Nanjing Golden Wheel
International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel New Metro and
Nanjing Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza in advance, which practical
and effective implementation prevents the Company from suffering

significant economic losses.

The Group regularly launches theme activities in safety production
month. In order to improve fire safety awareness of the workers and
increase the emergency response ability of staff in case of different
levels of fire, the Group’s Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in
Changsha South Station successfully held firefighting knowledge
trainings and fire drills on 13 June 2022 amid the theme activities of

the 21st safety production month.

202248 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022 65



R g RE R
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

NI BRI G EE G S — T
BRI E R RE MiTHAF
HAE A AR AT B € > RO R
FB L AE o R 20224F 17 > f #B T K
A5 R A B WO 8 2 > T A
ANGERRTAEREEF - 2021 LI K
2020 FMHBFE/ZE o

S B By B T2 M SL YA - iR
MNBRBAR > RIBEBER M E
B - AR BB AR A
{ELHE 575 2 1 BORS #40 > SE R B 4 K
MEENEE L AN
EHBETRETES  GfERg -
Hi PGS MRS R - L
B T [ A B > 9 A A /9 TAE
FOR o A TR TAE -

(EXNCIRE 3 R AR R
ERERE > K LRE T EEI
BFRIER S EER BRI W R
L A T 4 T R A A A Y
716~ B H B B — 4 TAE R
HHAEH o BeAh - B TG B T8
SR ) 5F o FRA ) R R
EHFAT R B TET TR
A E o BRI 2 5h > O A AR
BREPABINLEE) AR A
) 7E R A R A RO Bk T A
HE B THPOERZ - £ oot i
AL EEAFMET
AR L ] e > B THR AR IE AL
AT WHEIERATERM] -

The human resources department conducts statistics and data
collection on a unified basis every year, while the Administration
and human resources department conducts regular monthly meetings
to report and follow up relevant work. During 2022, there were no
material cases of work-related injuries and fatalities, and working day
lost due to work-related injuries was zero, while both figures were zero

in 2021 and 2020.

The Group assists staff to establish harmonious and healthy
interpersonal relationships and advocates mutual support and care. We
believe that such a working environment is able to not only cultivate
team spirit, but also help increasing the overall operating efficiency of
the Group. For this purpose, the Group regularly holds staff activities,
including birthday parties, festival celebrations and group construction
activities days, to narrow the gap among staff and create a harmonious

working atmosphere so that staff can work happily.

Each year, the Company holds a Spring Festival Evening Party
and annual Summary Meeting. During the meeting, the Company
reviewed the Group’s history and the overall situation in the past. At
the same time, the Company released the Group’s future development
directions, strategic objectives and working plans and tasks for the
new year in respect of its four major segments. In addition, in order
to appreciate the staff for their contribution to the Group, we have
commended and presented awards to excellent managers, excellent
staff and long-serving staff. Besides, various departments of the
Company will organize regular out-of-office activities from time to
time. There is a photo wall in the corridors of the Company’s office,
which records the flashing moments of employees in various activities.
A diversified and inclusive corporate culture offers each employee more
opportunities to enable them to truly achieve their goals and truly

become “an integral part of the company”.
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Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing the best quality products and
services to our customers. Professional staff and up-to-date industry
knowledge are behind maintaining excellent quality. As a result,
the Group regularly organizes trainings for its staff according to the
development requirements for different positions, including trainings

for pre-job, fire drill, construction engineering and service activities.

After joining the Company, all new staff are required to attend prejob
induction training provided by the human resources department
to learn about the history of the Group, organizational structure,
company rules and regulations, basic operation of office automation
system, various policies, etc., to make sure that they are familiar with
the values and objectives of the Group and understand their roles in
the Group. The Company will, on pragmatic basis, encourage staff to
take the national professional and technical qualification examinations
and file the relevant proof of staff who have successfully obtained
the qualification certificates to the human resources department.
The Group values the professional and technical skills of its staff and
assessments are made in the principles of their talent, competence
and performance. Based on the staff assessment results, the Group
takes a series of measures, such as increasing their salaries or granting
them promotion, to recognise their abilities. The Group places great
importance to the career development of its staff and focuses on
training and nurturing candidates to enter the talent pool system and
talent pipeline, enabling them to develop into senior managers or

senior professionals of the Company.
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iyl Number of Percentage of Training hours Training hours
Categories trained staff trained staff (hour) | per employee (hour)
Fe o s ) 7y
By Region
it 0 0 0 0
Hong Kong
e PN 3 21 100% 42 0.08
Mainland China
HAE B )73
By Age Group
18-30 5% 5 23.81% 10 0.08
18-30
31-50 3% 16 76.19% 32 0.09
31-50
SUE U L 0 0 0 0
51 and above
B A A9 25 1 1
By Employment Category
g 6 28.57% 12 0.03
General
R 12 57.14% 24 0.14
Middle
g 3 14.29% 6 0.15
Senior
AL 8
By Gender
FHE 2 9.52% 4 0.01
Male
Lotk 19 90.48% 38 0.14
Female
EY 21 3.7% 42 0.07
Total
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In addition, anti-corruption training is a key training program of
the Group, and its training contents have been clearly stipulated in
the staff manual. Engineering contracts, lease contracts and separate
anti-corruption clauses signed by the Company and third parties are
included in the manual to prevent any corruption. The Group also
strongly encourages its staff to participate in external training or
seminars, and provides examination leave and bears relevant training

expenses to support staff’s career development.

Employment Standards

During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors and other regulations on the
prohibition of child labour and forced labour. The Group did not
violate labour standards in 2022. All employees of the Group are
recruited by the human resources department following established
standards and procedures, so as to ensure that all candidates are able
to meet the qualifications for employment. Based on the relevant
information submitted by the candidates, the human resources
department makes rigorous check and verification on the identity and
professional qualifications of candidates, so as to ensure that the legal
minimum working age is met. In addition, the Group does not use
child labour. During recruitment, the Company requires applicants to
present identification documents to ensure that the applicants meet
the age requirement of the Labor Law. The Group has cracked down
on forced labour. All employees must sign employment contracts upon
commencement of employment, which contain detailed information
on work requirements and wages, so that employees fully understand
their responsibilities and the Group’s expectations. The Company does
not promote overtime culture. If overtime work is required, we will
consider whether employees are given proper rest time. After overtime
work, we will arrange time off or provide overtime pay. Employees
are provided with economic compensation in accordance with thew
requirements of the Labor Law to ensure their rights are under legal
and reasonable protection. In addition, we will conduct analysis
quarterly to strengthen human resource planning and streamline
working processes to avoid unnecessary overtime work. During the
Year, the Group did not commit any violation of the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China or other laws and regulations related
to the prevention of child labour or forced labour in mainland China.
However, if any violation is found, the human resources department
will immediately report it to the management according to the
established procedures, and then the management will hold an internal
meeting and appoint a person in charge to follow up the violations and

give relevant severe punishments.
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Bs. b g4 B B5. Management of Supply Chain
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The Group has always attached importance to maintaining excellent
and stable relationship with its supply chain partners and understood
the significance of advanced and effective supply chain management
to the Company’s sustainable development. The Company and its
suppliers jointly committed to the vision of building high quality

projects and society while promoting business development.

The Group’s procurement management system effectively monitors
the suppliers that cooperate with the Company. With a dedicated
procurement policy in place, the Company is able to ensure that
suppliers meet its requirements. Meanwhile, the Company has a
sound probity policy to prevent corruption of suppliers and transfer
of benefits between employees and stakeholders. When selecting
engineering suppliers, the Group conducts open, transparent
and objective bidding. During the supplier selection process, all
staff members are required to submit the inquiry results by each
department in accordance with the internal standard process and
obtain an approval from the relevant department before the relevant
supplier becomes a qualified supplier of the Group. For a supplier that
cooperates with the Group for the first time, the Group will review the
supplier’s bidding documents and the data provided by the supplier,
including business license, professional qualification certificate, safety
production license and other management system approval certificate,
business introduction, etc., to confirm the supplier’s legitimacy,
operating results, qualifications and background, and its compliance
with the Group’s standards and requirements. For suppliers subject to
daily management, the Company will only cooperate with them once
relevant department of the Company has approved the quotation of

relevant suppliers submitted by each department.
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In regulating the procurement and tendering process, we will assess
the environmental and social risks of our suppliers and ensure that our
suppliers meet our quality and environmental protection requirements
based on the principles of fair and equitable assessment. The Company
applies a tender process in selecting suppliers and requires suppliers
to provide documents such as their qualification certification and
company licenses. The Company’s site manager, together with
departments like contract department, purchasing department,
cost department and audit department, will keep an eye on the
performance of the suppliers. The Company’s leaders will be promptly
notified by relevant departments if any suppliers are found to be non-
compliant with the contract and the Company’s requirements. The
contract with such suppliers will be cancelled in a timely manner. We
conduct annual performance evaluation on our cooperative suppliers
to monitor and evaluate their work progress and quality as well as
their sustainable development performance. The suppliers that fail the
performance evaluation, such as violation of laws or regulations, and
bad operations, will be blacklisted by the Group, or even considered

never to be hired to ensure the quality of the Group’s projects.

Given the importance of green supply chain management, the
sustainability of suppliers is also one of the Group’s considerations.
The Company engages suppliers with product guarantees based on the
categories and types of environmental protection products required
to promote the use of environmental protection products and services
in selecting suppliers. The Company’s purchasing department will
compare the quotation by relevant suppliers and conduct site visit
to determine its environmentally friendly products supplier. The
operational data provided by suppliers, such as low carbon production,
use of environmentally friendly materials and green operation, are
the key considerations of the contract department. Under the same
conditions, we will basically prefer suppliers in the same region in
order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from transportation. In
2022, there were a total of 81 suppliers under the Group’s reporting
scope, with 53 in Nanjing, 21 in Jiangsu Province (except Nanjing), 6

in Shanghai and 1 in Shenzhen.
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B6. EMBEMELRREER B6. Product Liability and Quality of Services
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While providing high-quality real estate projects, the Group is
also committed to implementing various measures, so we always
have strict standards for project management and internal control.
Every detail of the Group’s projects is meticulous. All construction
work is conducted strictly in accordance with the Regulations on
the Quality Management of Construction Projects issued by the
State Council, and all contractors recruited conform to stringent
qualification requirements. Departments involved in project design,
cost control and project management must carry out project planning,
procurement, construction, supervision, acceptance and warranty
according to the Group’s standardised project management process.
All the Group’s projects are filed with the competent government
authorities in compliance with the requirements of laws and
regulations, and relevant licenses are obtained. After the completion of
a project, an on-site inspection conducted by the relevant authorities
of the government is required before receiving the completion record
certification to ensure the safe delivery of the project. The Group’s
standardisation requirements for projects not only can reduce internal

management risks, but also ensure the consistency of project quality.

In addition, the Group has purchased the public liability insurance
for all commercial properties to protect the rights and interests of
customers. If a customer is dissatisfied with a product or service, he/
she can lodge a complaint by telephone, e-mail or WeChat. The Group
will immediately assign an employee to follow up on the complaint,
and the case must be reported within the specified time limit, so as
to ensure that it can be handled in a timely and effective manner.
The Company will actively discuss with customer and determine a
solution if there is a problem in the product, with the aim to improve
customer’s satisfaction and maintain the Company’s goodwill and
image. During the Year, the Group has not received any major
complaint about the products or services. The Group did not produce
individual product and hence there were no product recalls due to

quality issue.
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Intellectual property rights and privacy protection

The Group attaches great importance to customer relations and
has fostered close relationships with customers through various
communication channels. The Group has an enterprise resource
planning system for statistics of relevant consumer information. In
light of the personal information of customers contained in the system
and for the purpose of protecting the privacy of consumers, the Group,
in accordance with the General Principles of the Civil Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations related to
protection of the right to use personal data and privacy, requires that
the data inputting and system maintaining should be only carried
out by related and authorised salespersons, and customer data should
not be transferred to other departments or third parties without the
approval of the management to reduce the risk of customer privacy
leakage. In respect of personal data collection, the Company uses
a system that settings do not grant access to relevant data to non-
related personnel. In the process of project marketing, the Group is
fully aware of the importance of accurate information. According to
the requirements of the Regulations on the Release of Real Estate
Advertising and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, each customer shall be provided with real, legal and accurate
real estate advertising information to avoid any false, misleading or

inductive contents for customers, so as to reduce customer’s risk.

The Group values the importance of, and complies with the relevant
laws and regulations for, intellectual property rights protection. All
softwares used by the Group are genuine. In respect of project design,
the design department staff will regularly check for any infringement
of the Group’s intellectual property rights in the market. The Group’s
designs are all original creations by our staff. To protect and safeguard
our intellectual property rights, we acknowledge the intellectual

property rights of the products used in projects.
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In order to maintain a corporate culture of honesty and integrity,
the Group has established a complete governance structure and
comprehensive risk assessment management and internal control
systems to provide clear principles and guidelines of business ethics
to all Directors, staff members and suppliers. All staff members of
the Group can learn about the Group’s requirements on honesty and
integrity of the staff, reporting system, definition of staff corruption,
etc, by referring to the internal honesty and integrity management
regulations. In accordance with relevant regulations, the Company
prohibits its staff to take advantage of their positions to solicit
property from others, or illegally accept property from others or solicit
and accept bribes for the benefit of others, examples include, for
the purpose of purchasing goods and materials, enter into contracts
that are unfair or prices are significantly higher than market prices,
and receive or solicit benefits in this regard. On the other hand, the
Company requires all staff members to spontaneously report and hand
in presents, cash gifts, and other items. Staff are also required to obtain
the prior approval of the General Manager when received business
invitation. New recruits are required to attend anti-corruption
trainings as well as integrity and self-discipline courses to enhance

their integrity awareness and anti-corruption ability.

The internal audit department of the Group will carry out audit on
all subsidiaries every year to check whether there are any wrongdoings
like corruption. Meanwhile, the Company has established various
anti-corruption reporting channels, including telephone, email,
WeChat official account, etc. To protect the identity of the informer,
all complaints about alleged corruption cases can be reported
anonymously or non-anonymously. Upon receipt of a report, the
Group’s legal department and the internal audit office will investigate
and handle the complaints under the guidance of the Group’s vice
chairman. During the Year, the Group did not violate any laws or
regulations relating to anti-corruption, monopolization and improper
receipt of benefits, and did not dismiss or take disciplinary action
against any staff member for corruption incidents. No corruption
related proceedings were instituted against the Group or its employees

and were concluded during the Year.

74 A K b ¥ B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



BS.

A I 1
AEEEBREL G —E U
HLL& T SOET 2 i > WA
ROl e AR R TfETT 2 4R
1> DA 7 3 355 6 2 4R L 45 A
[ 2 i 5 B o R AR M AT U
AL B B MR - F il AL H
BEITERMERTHEEN > &
BIR AL G 5T W BORE AL o [ B
S5 R AL I8 A T2 AT 1R Y -

XHRHF

€S RESIRGE bk 3y PN R R g
SRR B S SR o 7 R B M E 3K
HE R AEBRES HEE
FHEENER - —F__FRAN
HTFF > & KA R w i
T 1 4 i 16 T 7 i S
ok B S S i 2 % R R T
RUERFFRBT R MM &
A 285 24 B B Y MU AR SRR )

BS.

B g RE RIS
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Community Investment

To fulfill its social responsibility, the Group is always committed to
repaying the society by playing an active role in charity events such
as donations, establishment of foundation, blood donation by staff
and offer free commercial space to the community for public welfare
activities. In the future, the Group will continue to provide the
previous community investment services. During the Year, the Group
continued to make major contributions to education and make use
of resources to cultivate future elites for the society. Meanwhile, the

Group has made donations to the community from time to time.

Supporting education

The Group is well aware that the help and support from all walks of
life is indispensable to the development of enterprises. To reflect its
social responsibility as a real estate corporation, the Group actively
makes contribution to education. In the afternoon of 8 September
2022, Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited and Nanjing
Golden Wheel Courtyard Marriott celebrated the forthcoming
Teacher’s Day and Mid-Autumn Festival by sending regards to the
teachers and students of the Qinhuai District Special Education School

and bringing them Mid-Autumn Festival blessings and gifts.
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Building a harmonious society

The Group actively participated in community activities, with the
aim to meet the needs of the community, fulfill its obligations as a
real estate corporation and make contributions to the communities it
setves. Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings delegated staff to participate in
the caring event of “Cooling and Caring Summer for the Community”
organised by Xinlianhui of Gulou District, Nanjing, and delivered
caring products like functional beverages, biscuits, milk and eight-
treasure porridge to the dedicated front-line workers of the community

as a way to pay tribute and show care to them.

The 85th anniversary of the Nanjing Massacre and the ninth National
Public Memorial Day for the victims of the Nanjing Massacre falls on
13 December 2022. At 10:00 a.m. that day, the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and the State Council solemnly
held the National Memorial Ceremony for the victims of the Nanjing
Massacre at the Memorial Hall of the Victims in Nanjing Massacre.
All employees of Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited
stood in silence to pay tribute to our compatriots in the name of our

country.
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Jointly fight against the COVID-19 pandemic

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, Golden
Wheel has actively donated a large number of pandemic prevention
masks and funds to the community, keeping pace with, and taking
responsibility for, the fight against the pandemic in the PRC. In the
morning of 4 November 2022, the leaders of the General Management
Office of Jiangning District, Nanjing and all line departments of
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center jointly visited the pandemic
front-line fighters and volunteers at the workplace pandemic
prevention point of Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center, and
expressed gratitude to their effort in shielding the pandemic from all

citizens in Nanjing.
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W&l REPORTING INDEX
B3 il R B A
Category Content 5 fifi
Section in the
report
Al BE 4 R R T SR PR~ K R L BT o E R E R A B AR SN ¢ | AL PR
Al: Emissions The followings that relate to exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into Emissions
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes:
@ BOK: K
the policies; and
(b)  RESPEEEAT A A TR B B A AL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
ALl R A AR B DR R (M) AL PR
Types of emissions and respective emissions data (tonne) Emissions
Al2 BB (R 1) BHE IR B (R 2) W R HEMOR (LAMEREE) R () % | AL BER
B (LR & B ) Emissions
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonne) and (if
applicable) intensity (per unit of output)
Al3 FT RS A A g A (UMD B (g ) B (V42 B TRt i) AL HEH
Total hazardous waste generated (in tonne) and (if applicable) intensity (per employee) Emissions
Al4 FT A A B S A (DAMEET D) B (@ ) B (U4 B Tt AL HE
Total non-hazardous waste generated (in tonne) and (if applicable) intensity (per employee) Emissions
ALS it 7 B ARG B & T 3R B 25 B R AL P
Descriptions of steps taken to mitigate emissions and results Emissions
ALG S o A R A E R ik R W) BE S BT BRI B | AL PR
Emissions

Descriptions of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled and descriptions of

steps taken to mitigate waste disposal

A2 ERMHEH

AR TR (LG RER ~ 7K B A SRR} B BOSR

A2, G

Use of Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials Use of
Resources
A2.1 SRR B B R S AR VR (AN ) ARG (AT T RORFRT ) | A2 IRAE A
BOE L (D B Bt ) Use of
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (000 Resources
kWh) and intensity (per unit of output)
A2.2 BFEKEREE (DEEBRAFH) AL YERY
Water consumption (tonnes) in total and intensity (per unit of output) Emissions
A23 fhi e 7 4 =5 A TR O8I 28048 B PR IBA) i e S R A2 IR
Descriptions of measures taken to improve energy use efficiency and results Use of
Resources
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B3 RS B AR A
Category Content =
Section in the
report
A2.4 A B B PR 7K IR b A AT AT R > DA BB RT S R KRS BB R B BiE | A2 BUREEA
6 E A R B 20 BR Use of
Descriptions of issues (if any) in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, the water efficiency Resources
targets and the steps taken to achieve such targets
A25 SRR BT EL SRR B (DL WRRT 3R AL HERLH)
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonne) Emissions
5 R KRR AR AT NS BR BT S K R W A i E K5 2B Y IR A3 Bl B AR
Environment and Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural g/
Natural Resources resources Environment
and Natural
Resources
A3.1 Ml ERE B BRI R KRG RN E R ERCRIERGREEBNTE A3 B N AR
Descriptions of the significant impacts of business activities on the environment and ¢/}
Environment

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them

and Natural

Resources
A4 Rir#AL | e JRESES C 468 T mT R SR AT S A A R SR A R A UK A4 RAREAL
Climate Change Policies on identifying and responding to significant climate-related matters that have and Climate
may have an impact on the issuer Change
A4.1 il E K S AT RE R B BT N E AR R B BRI B E  RERTTE A4 RIRE AL
Descriptions of significant climate-related matters and that have and may have an impact Climate
on the issuer and responses Change
Bl & B SRR - R R T TERR B TERE - Zooit > RE | BL (B
Employment AR At 75 88 S AR ALY - Employment
The followings that relate to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, leaves, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare:
@ BOE: K
the policies; and
(b)  RESTEEEAT ANA TR B B A AL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
Bl.1 SRR~ DY (Hn e s ) - AR AL B s e ) 2 ) 48 B AR B1. fE
Total number of employees by gender, employment type (e.g. full-time or part-time), age Employment
group and region
Bl.2 PR~ AF B AR R ot [ ) ) R B UK B 3 B1. R
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and region Employment
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B3 il R B AR
Category Content A
Section in the
report
B2 fRREHL %4 A B 22 2 TAR BRI e (R I 0 B S SE M FE ) B2. {fE B i Bl
Occupational Health The followings that relate to providing a safe working environment and protecting TA
and Safety employees from occupational hazards: Occupational
@ HOR: K Health and
the policies; and Safety
(by  TESFHEEAT A E R B B R A1
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B2.1 B E = (B RED) A A TR AR 3 B2. i B i h 5
Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the last 3 years (including the TR
reporting year) Occupational
Health and
Safety
B2.2 SERCEEPNR(HER B2. {8 B 2 e
Lost days due to work injury TA
Occupational
Health and
Safety
B2.3 A0 2L T R 490 B0 ek P SR R A > L AR BRBUAT R BT B2. i B i b 5
Descriptions of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are TR
implemented and monitored Occupational
Health and
Safety
B3 & Ll A BATR THE BB AT TAE BT 0 0k X B B Y BOR B 5 315 B) B3. #J& S Bl
Development and Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Development

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category

Training Descriptions of relevant training activities and Training
B3.1 FEVER R A8 B A (e B BN~ S ) 70  ZA E B T A B3. # & KAl
The percentage of employee received trainings by gender and employee level (e.g. senior Development

management and mid-level management) and Training

B3.2 FEVE R K A BB B93> 5 4 18 B 52 WU 3 Y- 34 By B B3. # R L

Development

and Training
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B3 R B AR
Category Content i
Section in the
report
B4 55 TUEH| A B By 1L 2 T BRI 55 TR B4. 45 THEH
Employment Standards | The followings that relate to preventing child and forced labour: Employment
(a) K & Standards
the policies; and
(b)  REST AT N A R B B A KL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B4.1 2 A o AR 0 5 e DA B T R R R 55 T B4. 55 THEH
Descriptions of measures adopted to review recruitment practices to avoid child and forced Employment
labour Standards
B4.2 A L 7 5% B AL DL I8 BR AT B 17 DU BT SR L 4 R B4. 45 THER
Descriptions of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered Employment
Standards
Bs fH e B B LS I G 0 BR T A i L o R SR B e A 3
Management of Supply | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain Management
Chain of Supply
Chain
BS.1 e 4 [ 1) 2 £ 38 BS. fit 1 4 3
Number of suppliers by region Management
of Supply
Chain
B5.2 it A (AL A O L9 e FCBAL AT A R L £ 6 Rt R P B BS. it fE s 2
Descriptions of practices of supplier engagement and number of suppliers where the Management
practices are being implemented of Supply
Chain
B5.3 A 2t A7 I P 36 D BB 01 3R B AL TR B O B9 > DA RO BR BT R B | B, ST R
7k Management
Descriptions of the practices for identifying environmental and social risks at each stage of of Supply
the supply chain and related implementation and monitoring methods Chain
B5.4 A 2L 7 RS (I 78 g B2 6 2 3R ORE o SR s B P91 - DA ROME B BLAT BB %% | Bs. (ISR B
RS Management
Descriptions of practices to promote the use of environment-friendly products and services of Supply
when selecting suppliers, and related implementation and monitoring methods Chain
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B3
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A

Content
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report

B6 E dh AT
Product Liability and

Quality of Services

6 TR P R A3 2 o5 R RS 1 e B &~ R~ AR S AL R R DL RO T Y
The followings that relate to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
pertaining products and services provided and remedial methods:
@ HOR: R

the policies; and
(by  TESTHEEAT A E OB A B R LA

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the

B6. E ih AL &
B R
Product
Liability and
Quality of

Services

Descriptions of quality assurance process and product recall procedures

issuer
B6.1 O 4 Bl O 735K o A S [ 2 4 B e 2 oy 1 80 1] i 9 7 0 B B6. & i B AE K
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health 8 %
reasons Product
Liability and
Quality of
Services
BG.2 TR B 22 i JWHS 9 4 M H L) R e T 1 B6. A M ALK
Number of product/service-related complaints received and how they are dealt with 8 3
Product
Liability and
Quality of
Services
BG.3 i gt B A % R A T AL 0 BG. A M AL K
Descriptions of practices of intellectual property right maintenance and protection s B R
Product
Liability and
Quality of
Services
B6.4 820 5 R R R i (e iR 2 BG. & FAE K

B E R
Product
Liability and
Quality of

Services
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B3 R B AR
Category Content 1]
Section in the
report
BG.5 fhh T B ERHOR R SRR ALEOR > L R AR BT R BT ik BG. T AE K
Descriptions of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are e B &R
implemented and monitored Product
Liability and
Quality of
Services
B7 &S A BB ARSI B3 R R R R B7. R &5
Anti-Corruption The followings that relate to prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering: Anti-
(a) R 5 K Corruption
the policies; and
(b)  REST AT A A TR B B i KL
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer
B7.1 SO A BT N B B4R 0 O AS A BT SR A R AT A BOE R MRS | BY. AT
5% Anti-
Number of closed corruption lawsuits filed against the issuer or its employees during the Corruption
Reporting Period, and the outcomes of the cases
B7.2 gt By HEA o e B AR R > DL R BT R B O ik B7. &5
Descriptions of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, and how they are Anti-
implemented and monitored Corruption
B7.3 fh gt 1 R S B TR B S s B B7. &5
Descriptions of anti-corruption trainings provided to the chairman and staff Anti-
Corruption
BS HhlE %4 A B DA 5 22 B A I 0 T AL [ 75 R AR AR S G B & % AL B A 42 | Bs. HLIE S E
Community R Community
Investment Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the Investment
issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests
BS.1 BOEE R (WA -~ BUREE - TWK - - S0t - #E) BS. 1% 4% &
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental matters, labour needs, health, Community
culture and sports) Investment
B8.2 P S o P D A (4 R B ) BS. L1 4% &
Resources contributed to the focus area (e.g. capital and time) Community
Investment
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The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance the performance
of the Group. The Board reviews and improves the corporate governance practices
from time to time to ensure that the Company is under the leadership of an effective

board to optimise return for the shareholders.

As a responsible business enterprise, the corporate governance standards of the
Company are built on the principles of independence, accountability, transparency

and honesty.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Corporate Governance Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) came into
effect and the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code will apply to
corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or after 1 January
2022. The Company has put in place corporate governance practices to comply with
all the provisions and most of the recommended best practices of the Corporate

Governance Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with

an aim to maintain and improve its high standard of corporate governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Upon specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board members for the Year were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)
Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Janata David
(Resigned on 27 May 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
Mz. Li Sze Keung
Ms. Wong Lai Ling
(Appointed on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Wong Ying Loi
(Resigned on 27 May 2022)
Mr. Lie Tak Sen
(Resigned on 27 May 2022)

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a Non-
executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (a former
Executive Director), and the uncle of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director)
and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

As at 31 December 2022, the Board currently comprises a total of 9 Directors, with
four Executive Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. The number of Independent Non-executive Directors represents
more than one-third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 102 to 110 of this Annual
Report.

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”)
provides that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Also, pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-
election at the next following general meeting or next following annual general

meeting of the Company respectively.
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EHEA Name of Director

HiTEF Executive Directors

THE Wong Yam Yin

THiE Wong Kam Fai

THE Wong Kam Keung, Barry

Tijie Tjin Fung Tiie Tjin Fung

Janata David (R ZF 24 Janata David (Resigned on 27 May 2022)
LAZ L HAEHE)

FAGTEF Non-executive Directors

Suwita Janata Suwita Janata

Gunawan Kiky Gunawan Kiky

BiFAGEF Independent Non-executive Directors

R Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

ZHE Li Sze Keung

EER LT (R-F_F Wong Lai Ling (Appointed on

HAZTLHERT) 27 May 2022)
EER(RZF- 1A Wong Ying Loi (Resigned on
ZHEHEHE) 27 May 2022)

AEE (R -F-FELA Lie Tak Sen (Resigned on
“1EHET 27 May 2022)

HHGHANEEALT » WA BRA K -
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HAE W - AR B AR - e
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Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. Special meetings of
the Board will be convened whenever necessary. The Board convened a total of six

meetings for the Year.

Details of the directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee

meetings and general meetings during the Year were as follows:

/BT R
Meeting Attended/Held
R R
2REFRE FHEA® FWMZRe R4ZA® BEXe  RBIKE
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General
Full Board ~ Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
6/6 - - 22 11 0/0
6/6 - 212 - 11 0/0
6/6 - - - 11 0/0
6/6 - - - 11 0/0
33 - - - 11 0/0
6/6 - - - 11 0/0
6/6 - - - 11 0/0
6/6 33 22 - 11 0/0
6/6 33 - 22 11 0/0
33 202 11 - - 0/0
33 - - 22 11 0/0
33 11 11 - 11 0/0

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company in a
responsible and effective manner. It is responsible for formulating strategies and
management policies of the Company, approving the strategic objectives of the
Company and ensuring the availability of necessary financial and other resources
to meet such objectives. The Board also constantly supervises and reviews the
Company’s regulations and rules. The Directors perform their duties in a faithful and
diligent manner and act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as

a whole.
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Moreover, the Board is also responsible for presenting a clear and balanced
assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects, preparing accounts that
give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position on a going concern basis

and disclosing other inside information.

The management is responsible for implementing the policies and strategies as
determined by the Board, and is delegated with the daily management, operations

and administration of the Company.

The Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors (“Independent Non-
executive Directors”), at least one of whom has appropriate financial management

expertise in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all the
Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board is of the view that all the Independent Non- executive Directors

are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules
and regulations. The Company Secretary and our legal advisors also provide the
Directors with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and

other relevant legal and regulatory requirement from time to time.

All of the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has
arranged in-house trainings for the Directors to update and refresh their relevant

knowledge during the Year.

As at 31 December 2022, all of the Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Mr. Suwita
Janata, Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, Ms. Wong Lai Ling and
Mr. Li Sze Keung had confirmed that they had complied with the Code Provision
C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code during the Year or his tenure during the

Year by participating in continuous professional development.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance

coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, has executive responsibilities and provides
leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and business directions.
He ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
He also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues to be discussed at
Board meetings. Mr. Wong Kam Fai, the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for
overseeing the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Mr. Wong Yam Yin
is the father of Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors
has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
one year or two years, subject to termination provisions therein and retirement by

rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has established three committees with respective
responsibilities, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All Board committees are empowered
by the Board under their terms of reference which have been posted on the websites

of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the Company’s financial reporting process, half-yearly and annual
results, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal
audit function performed by the internal audit department of the Group and
provide advice and comments to the Board. The Audit Committee consists of three
Independent Non- executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman), Ms.
Wong Lai Ling and Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who together have sufficient
accounting and/or financial management expertise and/or business experience to

carry out their duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review the interim
results and annual results and provide recommendation on the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. All members of the Audit Committee
attended the meetings. The Directors and the representatives of the external auditor

of the Company also attended the meetings.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Directors on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on
such remuneration; to assess performance of each Executive Director; to recommend
to the Board on the terms of the specific remuneration package of each Executive
Director and senior management (adopted the approach under Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii)); and to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by Directors from time to time. The
Remuneration Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman) and Ms. Wong Lai Ling, and an

Executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to assess
the performance of the Executive Directors, review the remuneration of the
Executive Directors under their service contracts and the remuneration policies
of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board. All members of the

Remuneration Committee attended the meetings.

Pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, details

of the annual remuneration of the senior management by band for the Year are as

follows:
(VN
Number of employees
HK$Nil-HK$1,000,000 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000 1

HK$2,000,001-HK$3,000,000 -
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,000,000 -
HK$4,000,001-HK$5,000,000 1

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the Year are set out in note 9 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis; to make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; to identify, select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of an
Executive Director, Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman), and two Independent Non-

executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Lai Ling and Mr. Li Sze Keung.

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy, setting out the
approach for nominating and appointing a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on criteria including character and integrity, qualifications, any measurable
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board, any potential contributions
that the candidate can bring to the Board and the candidate’s willingness and ability
to devote adequate time to discharge his/her duties. Upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new Director and the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, the Nomination Committee will evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will rank them by order of preference based on the needs of the Company

and recommend to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to assess the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, recommend the re-
appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting and review
the policies implemented by the Nomination Committee. All members of the

Nomination Committee attended the meetings.
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The Board’s Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy, which sets out the approach to

the diversity of the Board. The Company recognises the importance of diversity to
corporate governance and an effective Board. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve Board diversity, so as to ensure that the Board members
possess appropriate skills, experience and diverse views necessary for the business of
the Company. In determining the Board composition, the Board and Nomination
Committee consider a range of diversity elements, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All appointments of the Board will be made based on merit and

objective criteria while taking into full account the interest of the Board’s diversity.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity elements and
measurable objectives which will be reviewed regularly. Such measurable objectives
shall include, but be not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or terms of service. The
final decision will be made according to the strengths of the candidate and his/her
contribution that would bring to the Board. Furthermore, pursuant to code provision
B.1.3 of the Corporate Governance Corporate Governance Code, the Board should
review the implementation and effectiveness of the issuer’s policy on board diversity
on an annual basis. The Nomination Committee has performed the above duties in
terms of selection of candidates and review the implementation and effectiveness of
the Company’s diversity policy during the Year. Having considered the business and
development needs of the Company, the Nomination Committee considers that the
current Board is sufficiently diversified in terms of its skills, experience, knowledge,

length of service and independence.

To comply with Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Company appointed a female
director to join the Board by 27 May 2022. The Company is contemplating to
appoint more female directors by 31 December 2024. The Nomination Committee
will proactively consider the increase in the proportion of female members
when selecting and making recommendations on suitable candidates for Board
membership. Through the Board Diversity Policy of the Company and the annual
assessment by Nomination Committee on the Board structure, the Company could

develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only within the
Board but among its workforce generally. As at the date of this report, the number
of female employees of the Group accounted for 49.6% of the total workforce. The
Board is of the view that the Group has achieved gender diversity among employees.
The Group's recruitment strategy is underpinned by the appointment of the right
employee for the right position, in order to achieve employee diversity for all
employees (including the senior management) in terms of gender, age, cultural and

educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.
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Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties which include
developing, reviewing and approving the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board held meetings to review the Company’s policies and

practices on corporate governance and perform all duties as set out above.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

By recognising the importance of stakeholders at the Board level and throughout the
Group, we strive to create values to the stakeholders through sustainable growth and

continuous development.

The Group has set out the purpose, values and strategies to provide guidance on
employees’ conduct and behaviours as well as the business activities. Details set out

in the “Chairman Statement”.

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its business strategies
and keep track of the changing market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive
measures will be taken to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to

foster the sustainability of the Group.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 which give a true and fair view of
the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.
The Directors are aware of the Group's net current liabilities of RMB2,297.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and these conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern.
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Pursuant to the code provision C.5.9 of the Corporate Governance Code, the
management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with regularly updates on Company’s performance,

positions and prospects.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the section headed

“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this Annual Report.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION MEASURES

Disclaimer of opinion by the Auditors and the management’s
position

As stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report (the “Independent Auditor’s
Report”) prepared by the Auditors and included in this report, and Auditors have
issued a disclaimer of opinion in relation to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“Disclaimer of Opinion”)
due to the existence of multiple uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. For details, please refer to the
sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” in

the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2(b) to the
financial statement. The validity of the going concern assumptions on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends on the outcome
of these measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including: (i)
successfully completing amendments to the terms and conditions of the senior notes
with the senior notes holders; (ii) successfully negotiating with the banks for renewal
of existing bank loans; and (iii) successfully expedite the sales of properties and
investment properties and collection of receivables to generate sufficient cash flows

from its future operations in view of the volatility of the China real estate market.

If the Group fail to achieve one or more of the above-mentioned plans and measures
on a timely basis, it may not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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The management’s position, view and assessment on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

In view of the uncertainties relating to going concern, the Directors have undertaken
a number of plans and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial

position, including that the Group:

(1) has appointed financial advisors to assist in with a restructuring of its senior
notes, in order to reach a consensual solution with all the stakeholders as soon

as practicable;

(ii)  has been actively negotiating with the financial institutions for renewal,

extension and replacement of bank loans;

(iii)  will continue to seek for other alternative financing and borrowings to finance
the settlement of its existing financial obligations and future operating and

capital expenditures;

(iv)  has implemented measures to speed up the collection of outstanding sales

proceeds and effectively control costs and expenses; and

(v)  has prepared a business strategy plan mainly focusing on the acceleration of

the sales of properties.

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the above plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next twelve
months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
approptiate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.

Our external auditor, has indicated to the Company that whether the multiple
uncertainties relating to going concern can be adequately addressed depends o the
implementation of the Company’s actions taken/proposed plans and measures to be

taken as mentioned above to address the Disclaimer of Opinion.
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Audit Committee’s view on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer of Opinion, the
management’s position concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion (the “Management’s
Position”) and measures taken by the Group for addressing the Disclaimer of
Opinion. The Audit Committee agreed with the Management’s Position based on
the reasons above. Moreover, the Audit Committee requested the management
to take all necessary actions to address the uncertainties regarding going concern
underlying the Disclaimer of Opinion. The Audit Committee had also discussed
with our external auditor regarding the financial position of the Group, measures
taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered their rationale and understood

their consideration in arriving their opinion.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company has maintained various measures and mechanisms to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board. For instance, in compliance
with Code provisions C.5.6 and C.5.9 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the
Board and its committees are provided with adequate information and have separate
and independent access to the senior management of the Company for purpose of
making informed decisions. In particular, all members of the Board are entitled
to have timely access to the information of the Group (including but not limited
to management accounts, operational results and statistics, audit results and other
relevant industry and market information and forecasts), as well as assistance of
the Company Secretary and professional advice if necessary at the expense of the
Company. Besides, the audit committee of the Company is also entitled to contact,
and has discussed with, external auditors of the Company on an annual basis to
discharge its duties. Board members are also encouraged to seek inputs from other
members, employees, other stakeholders as well as investors (via the investor
relations channels) in appropriate circumstances to ensure that different perspectives

are taken into account in the decision making process.

The implementation and effectiveness of the relevant measures and mechanisms
are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. The Board is satisfied that there
are effective and sufficient formal or informal channels in place to ensure that

independent views and input are reached at the Board level.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment of the
Group’s performance and prospects. The Directors acknowledged their responsibility
for preparing the accounts that give a true and fair view on the Group’s financial
position on a going-concern basis and other financial disclosures. Management
of the Company provides all relevant information to the Board, giving its
members sufficient explanation and information that they need to discharge their
responsibilities. A statement by the auditor of the Company in respect of their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report section

contained in this Annual Report.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit
service provided by KPMG were RMB2.5 million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day- to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to the Board

and is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

Ms. Li On Lok who is a full time employee of the Company and has day- to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs was appointed as the Company Secretary on 1
November 2022. Ms. Li has confirmed that for the Year, she has taken no less than
15 hours relevant professional training. The biographical details of Ms. Li are set out

on page 111 of this Annual Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law

(Revised). However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, it provides that:

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholders”) shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of the
requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at 27-28/F,
Golden Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong. The Company will

endeavour to respond in a timely manner.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

Eligible shareholder who wishes to put forward proposal(s) at shareholders” meeting
which is to be held, should submit a written notice of the proposal with his/her
detailed contact information to the Board or the Company Secretary at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at 27-28/F, Golden
Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene an
extraordinary general meeting by following the procedure set out in “Procedure for

shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting” above.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director at a general meeting

If a shareholder intends to propose a person for election as a Director at any general
meeting, he must sign a notice (the “Notice”) stating his intention to propose such
person for election. The Notice which includes the personal information of the
proposed person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of
consent signed by the proposed person stating his willingness to be elected shall be
lodged with the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong located
at 27-28/F, Golden Wheel Plaza, 68 Electric Road, Tin Hau, Hong Kong; or the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, located at shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, with at least
seven (7) days’ notice given. If the Notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election, the period for lodgment
of such Notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days

prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. As such, the Company
has adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure true, accurate, complete
and timely disclosure of information in order to ensure all shareholders as well as
the public have equal access to information. The management of the Company
has proactively taken and will continue to take the following measures to ensure

effective shareholders’ communication and transparency:

J Maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through various

channels such as meetings, telephone and emails;

J Regularly update the Company’s news and developments through the investor

relations section of the Company’s website;

J Arrange on-site visits to the Group’s projects for potential investors and

research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with the
investment community and provide them with the latest development of the Group

and the PRC real estate industry.
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The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby
enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires directly
to the Board (a) by mail to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong, (b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070 or (c) by email at IR@gwtd.com.hk.

The Board reviewed the implementations and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy during the Year. After review, the Board considered that
the shareholders communication policy remained effective and was properly
implemented given the multiple channels of communication in place during the
Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control of the Group
and for reviewing and maintaining its effectiveness of the systems. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and the compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems ate reviewed and assessed on an
on-going basis by the Executive Directors, and are further reviewed and assessed by
the Board on an annual basis to ensure that the systems in place are effective and
adequate.

During the Year, the internal audit department of the Group has conducted an
assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and the assessment result was positive.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects.
The systems were considered effective and adequate.

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has developed a
risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks and to
resolve material internal control defects (if any). Senior management, through the
Company’s internal audit department, is responsible for the annual risk reporting
process. Members of the internal audit department meet with various members of
the senior management to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address
material internal control defects (if any), including any changes relevant to a given
year. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are documented.
The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review.
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Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i) the severity of
the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the

risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which a risk could occur.

The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

. identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate
y

the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;

J develop necessary measures to manage those risks;

o monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The controls built into the risk management system are intended to manage, not

eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business environment.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance. The system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in

achieving the Company’s objectives.

The internal audit department reports the internal audit plan and results to the

Audit Committee directly.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing
their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal

control systems.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing guideline on

handling inside information.

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a set of policy for the disclosure of inside information
which sets out the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and in compliance with
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
Unless the inside information falls within any of the safe harbors as permitted
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Group is required to disseminate
such information through the electronic publication system operated by the Stock
Exchange to the public in a timely manner. All Directors, Senior Management and
relevant employees are required to take reasonable precautions for preserving the
confidentiality of inside information and the relevant announcement (if applicable)
before publication. If the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained, the Group will in a timely manner disclose the information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The policy and its effectiveness are

subject to review on a regular basis.
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Corporate Governance Report

Whistleblowing and Anti-corruption Policy

The Company takes a zero-tolerance attitude toward corruption, implements anti-

corruption policies that apply to all staff, and rewards the whistleblowers.

The Company formulated a series of rules and measures, including such as the Code
of Conduct for purpose of strictly prohibiting any offering, accepting or claiming
bribery, gifts, hospitality and any other form of activity intended to affect the

Company’s relevant business decision for abnormal or inappropriate advantages.

The Company also opened special channels for honesty issues reporting (including
via telephone, email and WeChat official account) to encourage whistleblowers to
perform the honesty supervision system of the Company, and actively report cases of
embezzlement, corruption and other violations of laws, regulations and the rules and
measures of the Company. These whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies are

reviewed on an annual basis.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Ani-Corruption” in the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, setting out principles and guidelines
that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees developing a dividend distribution system as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The
declaration of dividends, in addition to the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association, is subject to the discretion of the Board, which the
Company expects will take into account the financial results, shareholders’ interests,
general business conditions and strategies, capital requirements, contractual
restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company, taxation considerations and possible
effects on creditworthiness, statutory and regulatory restrictions. The Company
intends to distribute not more than 50% of its net distributable profits as dividends
to its shareholders for each financial year, subject to the conditions and factors as set

out above.
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Below are biographies of the current Directors and senior management of the Group.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (fﬁk%), aged 81, is an Executive Director and the
Chairman of our Board and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the
founders of our Group and our controlling shareholders. He is responsible for our
overall strategy, business and investment planning. Mr. Wong was appointed as a

Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in business management. He established
Golden Wheel Trading Company Limited (4 ¥ % 55 A FR A Al ) in 1981 in Hong
Kong to engage in metal trading business. He, together with his wife Ms. Hung So
Ling, his elder son Mr. Wong Kam Fai and his younger son Mr. Wong Kam Keung,

Barry, established our Group in 1994 to engage in real estate development business.

Other than his role in our Group, Mr. Wong is involved in various associations,

including being:

o a consultant of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

J an Honorary Member of China Overseas Exchange Association*;

J a Standing Deputy Chairman of China Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

. a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Federation of

Overseas Chinese Association®;

o a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiao Yao

Association®;

U a Chairman & CEO of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

. a Standing Director of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations*;

U an Honorary President and Vice President of The General Association of
Xiamen (H.K.) Limited*; and

U the Honorary Principal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Qiaoxin School*.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong received various awards in recognition of his contribution to society,
including the “Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community Service (17 B
= H 4 R IR B 824K )” by the Hong Kong government in 2004, the “Prize for
Outstanding Contribution to Beichuan Middle School*” by All-China Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese Association®, the “Manufacturer with Honesty and
Integrity of 2010” by All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce, Hardware
and Electromechanical Chamber in 2010, the “Award of Outstanding Chinese”
jointly held by Global Outstanding Chinese Association and Chinese Literature
Publishing House in 2014, and the “Honor of Serving Chinese Society” by Overseas’
Chinese Office of the State Council* in 2014. In 2019, Mr. Wong was also awarded
the “Overseas Chinese Charity Star”. In 2022, he was awarded the Outstanding
Hong Kong People 2022 “Meritorious Person Award” by the Outstanding Chinese
Culture Promotion Association, the Federation of Industry and Commerce of all

districts in Hong Kong and the Greater Bay Area Times Magazine.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in physics from Huaqiao University in
1967.

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a Non-

executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Iﬁﬁ), aged 52, is an Executive Director, a Vice Chairman
of our Board, the Chief Executive Officer of our Group and a member of our
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the founders of our Group and
our controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong held several positions within our Group
immediately after completion of his bachelor’s degree. Mr. Wong is responsible
for our overall business operation and management. Mr. Wong was appointed as a
Director on 26 April 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in the real

estate industry.
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ERAES RS MALE - RAEEE - Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

. FEARBIGHHEILHMELZAEELE o a member of Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

. R B R ERH ST RS J a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association®;

° UG AL B g B o a Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese
Associations®;

° FmAtEe R . a Chairman of Hong Kong Chiao Yao Association*;

o HEBEESARARERfES

a Chairman and Director of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

. LB LHERGgRE . a standing committee member of All-China Federation of Industry &

Commerce of Jiangsu Province*;

e UHETHBEHMEMNGLEEGR

an Honorary Chairman of Real Estate Chamber of Jiangsu Provincial

Federation of Industry & Commence*;

d LA BRI ERER & . a Deputy Chairman of Jiangsu Provincial Overseas Exchange Association*;
and

° METERRECERGEERER - U a Standing Deputy Chairman of Nanjing Overseas Chinese Chamber of
Commerce*.

F AR — JUIUIE AR S H A5 B e BT Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in computer science from The University of
KEFHRBP R LR - New South Wales of Australia in June 1994.

T R S A ] AT # LB Lt Z8 4 Mr. Wong Kam Fai is the elder son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive Director)
TR T MBATHEE 8 A R o and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an

Executive Director).

F e R AR R R B B R A7 o A AR R R The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
75 T BB AR B 5 X 0 SCZR T B R 2 A T Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
AW EF Gy —HFREEITHABR K headed “Directors” Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short
5~ AR TR B A B i o O R 4 IR | — i o Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (£ 8 ##), aged 49, is an Executive Director
and the Standing Vice President of our Group. He is also one of our controlling
shareholders. He is responsible for administration, human resources management
and projects development in Hunan province. Mr. Wong joined our Group in 1996.
Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012. He has over 20 years of

experience in the real estate industry.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

o a member of Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

° a member of Youth Committee of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas

Chinese Association®;

. a standing committee member of Guangdong Provincial Overseas Chinese
Association®;

. a Director of Huaqiao University*;

J a Deputy Chairman of Hunan Provincial Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

J a Director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations™;

J a standing committee member of Hunan Provincial Federation of Returned

Overseas Chinese Association®; and
. a Chairman of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*.
Mr. Wong completed the Foundation Studies Certificate Course of Unisearch
Limited (now known as New South Innovations Pty Limited, an entity controlled by
the University of New South Wales) in 1993.
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry is the younger son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an

Executive Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the younger brother of Mr. Wong

Kam Fai (an Executive Director).
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The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, aged 72, is an Executive Director and a Vice Chairman of our
Board. Mr. Tjie is responsible for overseeing our Group’s operation, and formulating
our Group’s investment strategies. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Tjie was

appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mzr. Tjie is an Indonesian Chinese. Being an entrepreneur, he established his own

manufacturing business in Indonesia in the 1970s.

M:r. Tjie is involved in various associations, including being:

. a counselling committee member of Indonesia Kota Bandung Social Welfare
Fund*;

J a Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association®;

. a Charter President of Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International*;

J an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong Provincial Federation of Indonesian

Social Institutes*;

o an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Hakka Chinese Association*;
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Mei Zhou Club*; and
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Chinese Association®.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Tjie in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors” Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suwita Janata, aged 72, is a Non-executive Director and a Vice Chairman of
our Board. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Suwita Janata was appointed as a
Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Suwita Janata is an Indonesian Chinese. He commenced his career as an
entrepreneur by establishing his own trading company in the 1970s. Mr. Suwita
Janata and his family members established PT Golden and Mitra Property in

Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development business in Indonesia.

Mr. Suwita Janata is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

o the former Executive Chairman of Chinese Committee of Indonesia Chamber

of Commerce (West Java)*;

D the former head of the Indonesia Chamber of Commerce (West Java),

Commerce Division*;

J an advisory council member of Indonesia Bandung Yayasan Dana Welfare

Foundation*; and

J a member of the supervisory committee of Indonesia Bandung Minnan

Gonghui*.

Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (a former Executive Director)
and the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar. Ms. Julia Oscar is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam
Yin (an Executive Director) and the aunt of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive

Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Suwita Janata in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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Mr. Gunawan Kiky, aged 75, is a Non-executive Director. He joined our Group in

2002. Mr. Gunawan was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Gunawan is an Indonesian Chinese. In the 1980s, he established his own trading

business.

Mr. Gunawan joined Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International* in 1989. In
2000, Mr. Gunawan founded Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association* and

has been a financial supervisor of the association.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Gunawan in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’” and Chief Executives” Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (3

Director, the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit

%%), aged 55, is an Independent Non-executive

Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 1 August 2017. Mr. Wong

has over 10 years of experience in business strategies and corporate management.
Mr. Wong is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

U a member of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

. a member of the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Municipal Committee of

the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference®;
. a President of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations;

J a standing committee member of Hong Kong Petroleum, Chemicals and

Pharmaceutical Materials Merchants Association; and
U a vice president of Centum Charitas Foundation.

Mr. Wong is currently a managing director of Wah Fu Petroleum Company
Limited, the business of which includes the wholesale distribution of petroleum and
petroleum products. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial

performance and implementing business strategies of that company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

He is also a director of Chuan Chiong Company, Limited, which is involved in
the trading and wholesale of proprietary Chinese medicine, food product and tea,
where he is involved in the determination of that company’s strategic objectives and
policies and monitoring its overall achievement. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ahsay Backup Software Development Company Limited which
is engaged in the provision of online backup software solutions to clients via the
internet, and listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
stock code 8290.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Engineering from Boston
University, the United States, and a Master of Engineering (Electrical) from Cornell

University, the United States, in May 1990 and August 1991 respectively.

Mr. Li Sze Keung (ZE 8 3), aged 44, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Nomination
Committee. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants.

Mzr. Li obtained his Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Li
joined PricewaterhouseCoopers as Senior Consultant of the Tax Department in
June 2004 and was promoted to the position of Manager in October 2007. He left
PricewaterhouseCoopers in February 2009 to join RSM Nelson Wheeler as Manager
of the Tax Services Department, and became a Senior Manager of the Tax Services
Department from January 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Li was a Senior Manager of
the Tax Department in Ernst & Young from December 2011 to May 2012. Mr. Li

has been the director of The Concord Consulting Service Limited since 2012.

Mr. Li has over 15 years of experience in providing tax advisory and compliance
services to local and multinational corporations. Mr. Li has wide experience in
serving a wide spectrum of clients including trading companies and financial or
professional services firms. He has extensive experience in various tax advisory and

investment projects, and regularly represents clients in handling tax-related matters.
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Ms. Wong Lai Ling (EE%

and a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination

), aged 55, is an Independent Non-executive Director

Committee. Ms. Wong was appointed as a Director on 27 May 2022. She has wide
experience in real estate investment and in operating business of real estate agency,
money lending and car park operations. Ms. Wong holds an estate agent’s licence

(individual) issued by the Estate Agents Authority.

Ms. Wong is the director of (i) Parton Parking Limited, a company founded by
her and engages in car park operations in Hong Kong; (ii) Polycom Limited, a
company founded by her and is a real estate agency licensed under the Estate Agents
Authority; and (iii) Eve International Enterprise Limited, a company founded by her
and engages in property investment. Since 2013, Ms. Wong has also been a manager
of CNUTT Finance Company Limited, a company licensed as a money lender under

the Companies Registry, which engages in money lending business.

Ms. Wong was also involved in various associations, including:

o the founding President and the third Vice President of the Hong Kong Asia
Youth Association from 2014 to 2017;

. the Treasurer of the Wanchai District Association (Community Volunteers)
from 2013 to 2014;

J the Director of World Federation of Chinese Associations of Industry and

Commerce in 2014;

. a member of the Friends of The Community Chest Wanchai District
Committee from 2014 to 2016;

o a member of the council of Overseas Xiamen Fraternal Association in 2015;
and
U vice chief officer of the social affairs department of the General Association of

Xiamen (H.K.) Ltd from 2015 to 2019.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chi Man (k% 3C) is the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Yiu is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial management and regulatory compliance. He has
approximately 20 years’ experience of providing audit and advisory services to listed
companies and multinational companies with a focus on properties and financial

services industries.

M:r. Yiu joined the Group in 2013. Before joining the Group, Mr. Yiu was a partner
of KPMG China.

Mr. Yiu obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1993. Mr. Yiu is a fellow member of Chartered
Association of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate member of the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Li On Lok (2% %) is the Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Li is
responsible for overseeing the corporate governance, regulatory compliance and

investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Li joined the Group in November 2022. Ms. Li is an associate member of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries), a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. She worked as company secretary in listed companies for

many years.

Mr. Tao Kang (P ) is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Tao is responsible
for overseeing our project management. Mr. Tao joined the Group in 2006. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Tao worked at various companies, including being the

Deputy Director of Nanjing Science and Technology Hall*.
Mzr. Tao obtained his diploma degree in industrial and civil construction from the

Southeast University* in 1994. Mr. Tao obtained his senior engineer qualification in

2007 and is a Registered Supervision Engineer and a Certified Constructor.
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Ms. Sun Hui Hong (%%,{[) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group. She is
responsible for financial management. Ms. Sun joined the Group in 2009. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked at various companies, including being the
financial controller of Xinshi (Nanjing) Textile Co., Ltd* and the audit supervisor of

Ren Tianhua Zhongxing CPA, Jiangsu Branch*.
In 2001, she obtained her certified public accountant qualification.

Mr. Chen Gang (B #]) is the Standing Deputy General Manager of the Group.
He is responsible for financial management. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2012.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked at various companies, including being
the Financial Controller of Jiangsu Joyque Information Industry Co., Ltd* and the

financial manager of Intech Group*.
Mzr. Chen obtained his diploma degree in economic management from Hehai

University in 1999. In 2000, he obtained his middle level accountant qualification.

In 2013, he obtained his advanced level accountant qualification.

*  For identification purposes only
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries established in
the PRC are primarily engaged in property development, property leasing and hotel
operation. The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating profit for the Year by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and

note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on pages 136 to 137 of this Annual

Report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 22 May
2023 to Monday, 29 May 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 May 2023.

The record date for such purposes is Monday, 29 May 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the

Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

Please refer to the section headed “Financing” in this Annual Report for information
regarding the scheme of arrangement of the Company as sanction by an order of the

Grand Court of the Cayman Islands dated 4 April 2022.
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Directors’ Report

SETTING UP AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

As at the end of the Year, the Company had set up and/or acquired a total of 69
subsidiaries, the details of which are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed above and except disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of

subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the distributable reserves of the
Company was RMB605.9 million.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and note 32

and 39, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 28 and 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

With respect to the senior notes with a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears, and due 9 January 2023 (the “USD 2023 Notes”), the
Company repurchased and cancelled part of the USD 2023 Notes in the aggregate
principal amount of USD500,000. On 11 April 2022, the restructuring conditions
under the Cayman Scheme had been satisfied and the USD 2023 Notes were then
cancelled and delisted from the Singapore Exchange. Please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated 13 April 2022 from further details.

On 10 July 2022, the Company redeemed the first instalment of 5% of the principal
amount of New Senior Notes and relevant interest, amounted to US$25,344,000
(equivalent to RMB170,434,000).

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the

year.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing shareholders.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details on the charges of the Group’s assets and guarantees provided by the Group

are set out in notes 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report are:

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

M. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Ms. Wong Lai Ling

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at AGM and be eligible for re-election. Also, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-

election at the next following general meeting or next following AGM, respectively.
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Mr. Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Suwita Janata, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie and Ms. Wong
Lai Ling are due to retire from the Board by rotation at the AGM. Mr. Wong Kam
Fai, Mr. Suwita Janata, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie and Ms. Wong Lai Ling, being
eligible, offers himself for re-election as an executive director, a non-executive

director and an independent non-executive Director at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and may thereafter be
renewed for a term of two years by agreement between the parties and in accordance
with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the
Executive Director may terminate the service contract at any time by giving not less

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date and may
thereafter be renewed for a term of two years in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the Non-executive
Director may terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than

three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Independent Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year, and may be renewed for a term of one year
in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. The term of
the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, Mr. Li Sze Keung and Ms.
Wong Lai Ling commenced on 1 August 2017, 14 June 2019 and 27 May 2022,
respectively. Either the Company or the Independent Non-executive Director may
terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than one month’s

notice in writing to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract/appointment letter with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (including fees, salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Directors in aggregate for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 were approximately RMB7.3 million and RMB9.8

million, respectively.

The remuneration (including salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit scheme
contribution) paid to our Group’s five highest paid individuals in aggregate for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 was approximately RMB11.2 million and
RMB13.4 million, respectively.

For the Year, no emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining our Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments

for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

LOAN OR GUARANTEE FOR LOAN GRANTED TO THE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for
any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its controlling

shareholders or their respective close associates.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief profiles of the current Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” of this Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 10 December 2012, the Directors may invite participants (including
any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Directors or any
employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or associated companies or any other person whom the Directors consider, in their
sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group) (the “Participants”)
to take up options at a price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to
the grantee (which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding

the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human resources that are

valuable to the Group and any entity which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing
from 10 December 2012, and expired on 10 December 2022.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 180,000,000, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue immediately following the completion of the initial public
offering of the Company, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the

shareholders to refresh the limit.
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In respect of the maximum entitlement for each Participant, the total number of
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders at a general meeting of the

Company.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by any Participant who
accepts the offer by signing the letter of acceptance together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of the option within

such period as our Board may determine and specify in the offer letter.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the option period which may be determined and notified
by the Board to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall not expire

later than 10 years from the grant date.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share options outstanding under

the Share Option Scheme.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted

thereunder, please refer to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

1 20 AW K b ¥E B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



H g0 R AT BRI Ay - B B
A A R il V9 B i e 0 AT

RE-BZ T A=t —H R RANA
FEATEN BRA L m] SOHAL T A A ) (G 2
SR SR B BRI ([ 825 RS S kol 1) 26 xv i)
B A7 ~ A B M Ay S AR RE R TR BT T BRI A
oy m) AR A T S B R 91 5 352 R ML RE T AT
BB O AR SR SRR IR b
T A S BAE k  Br CA 9 b i R AT N AT R
J2 58 oy BB ST R (TP AL D) ST Mg AL
A A B K RE i SR AT

T A A 5 M A B A R B A F e i -

R

Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shates, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

HE Long positions
i A2 )
OB 17 R AHE 2
EREY B/ HER T E JBe Ay S5 B B A 48 BEAIE A
Approximate %
Aggregate number of interest in the
of sharesor  issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest underlying shares of the Company™
FhE Z A% W i 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
T Z P ERE R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
3 2PN 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
A5t Toral: 736,475,600 40.94%
B L Z A ERE R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
3 2PN 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
At Toral: 736,475,600 40.94%
Tjie Tjin Fung® YRR R A 80,268,950 4.46%

Interest of a controlled corporation
Suwita Janata® YL IME LR i (6 HE 25 128,539,400 7.14%

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

Gunawan Kiky® YRR R A

86,360,950 4.80%

Interest of a controlled corporation
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Wi 5E -

1

2

(3)

)

®)

(©6)

W oE S A E - HAR R E TR
AR (F51,799,020,000 ) T3 F A GHA AT 4 LL -

FHEGLE - MER L FHELERTHR
JE A A A SR A A e R R R (T E
REHD) ERMAR S EEERAAREEN
706,785,600 B e iy « TSk BB AERBU KR L+ A
KFE o LML R EHm S B e
WEBALHHRT -

JBC 3 T B SRR e A R R R e A R A A

Tjie Tjin Fung 5e 4 #EA B2 15 1 Tiie Tjin Fung
S RHFIERAN A EH B EA RO a FH A
180,268,950 e e f <

Suwita Janata JeE A A (i) A Suwita Janata
SEHE A AT AN ) A R RN 4 MR AT PR
T A7 980,268,950 i i i+ M (ii)Julia Oscar & 1= 2
A I 2 R 4 OO gk fE EE A A BR R R
48,270,450 J1& [ 173 © Suwita Janata 55 2 4 Julia Oscar
MR RSB AR R

Gunawan Kiky 75 4 #4716 1 03 8 15 () Gunawan 5
R FROEAT 1 ) KRR PR AT PR R AT Y
80,268,950 BB+ J& (i) Gunawan Kiky S 45 F5 5 HY
6,092,000 & B 173 <

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

(6)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022 (that was,

1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong
Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong
Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung
So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire Spark
Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky and his family, and (ii)
6,092,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan Kiky.
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Interests in debentures of the Company:

R
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JA T — %
CHE SR
ARG, W5 ELiVg TR fig i o £ i BE A e W H
Aggregate Amount of
amount of debentures
Currency of debentures in same class
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Debentures bought in issue
EHE YR SV 2,080,800 494,667,369
Wong Yam Yin Interest of a controlled corporation™ USD
Ha A A *it 1,060,800 494,667,369
Beneficial owner® USD
BT Total: 3,141,600
F ZYLEERO ESSIn 2,080,800 494,667,369
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation” (SN
Hit A A ESTv 1,060,800 494,667,369
Beneficial owner® USD
A5 Total: 3,141,600
B XA W O e 2,080,800 494,667,369
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation™ usD
- § o XN e 1,060,800 494,667,369
Beneficial owner? USD
Al Total: 3,141,600
Suwita Janata WA AN ES 226,666 494,667,369
Beneficial owner usSDh
Gunawan Kiky HadEA A EH 4,616,841 494,667,369
Beneficial owner ush
BiF&E Notes:

(1) XA V] 2,080,800 3% JC A G HE A5 i £ R R R (1) These debentures in a sum of USD2,080,800 are held by Golden Wheel Realty, a company

T 2 ) i R AT o controlled by the Wong Family.
(2) %A RERS B R RS A (2)  These debentures are jointly owned by the Wong Family.
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B SR R #Ah > MEEEM - R F
TOHEY A= 0 EREAL R
N AR 208 A R 0 2 S ) B R 09158 352
78 T e % - SUE AR AR L TR B Bk BT R
R < S AT R A ) R S T Y A ]
AT AT AR gt 35 R 28 b o IO 68 0k 105 X v
) FBCAY ~ AR B R Y i R

32 BB 3 B Je A A IR A B A W It
B i hi 2t

REFZZET A= —H o AR R
BB B0 - A E R SRR AR 2 Al AR 07
B B ARAB15F 336 M€ 77 B )RR > SRR
15 78 75 B B Wk 491 5 Xov A A 2 B O 3 0 1) A
O BRI BT S R R K SR A AL R

TR 2 T B A B AR B A o B

B A, k4 /A

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

A 7

e S A il BT R AE 25
et 48 0 BRE L

Approximate

percentage of
Aggregate number interest in the

of shares or  issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest underlying shares of the Company™
EHEe A5k B 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
eI %5k B 706,785,600 39.29%
Hung So Ling®” Interest of a controlled corporation
B} Z A B R AR 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
AN 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,475,600 40.94%
B Z A B R R 706,785,600 39.29%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
AN 29,690,000 1.65%
Beneficial owner®
AT Total: 736,475,600 40.94%
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Name of shareholder

Suwita Janata®

Oscar Julia®

EWMBELRAFC

iy, AR

Capacity/Nature of Interest

XL AL T B 4

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

YL M AL TR £

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

A A

e S A il
JBe A 48

Aggregate number
of shares or
underlying shares

128,539,400

128,539,400

706,785,600

R
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N/

C B AT RAHE 2
BEATE O

Approximate

percentage of

interest in the

issued share capital
of the Company”

7.14%

7.14%

39.29%

Golden Wheel Realty Company Beneficial owner

Limited?

it

1

(2

(3)

)

)

A8 (F51,799,020,000 %) T4 A FHAALA) 20 E o

FHEBGAE MER L FHELAERTHR
e A A B SO BT R T TR R T A s ) 4
BEARAFREA M 706,785,600 By o F2RE
SR BRI E R FE - EHIESEA R T
e B PR A I R W R -

JBC 3 ) Eh T SRR e A e T SR R e A R B A

Suwita Janata 5 4E HEAT 19 I 07 €2 45 (i) B Suwita Janata
S 2GR A ) B R UK R A R
180,268,950 It Bt 47 » K (ii)Julia Oscar & 1: 2 &
A28 ) G K 3 IR AT R 7 F5 A7 19 48,270,450
JBBEAR © Suwita Janata 56 4E 2 Julia Oscar 20 11 3L K
LERS oiasii) (PNE

Julia Oscar 2+ #1903 62 45 (i) H1 Julia Oscar &
LB A A R AR R A F A
148,270,450 & & A > B (ii) B Suwita Janata 5 4
A EHEA 2 ) AR AT R TR A
80,268,950 B A 13 © Julia Oscar % L H Suwita Janata
SEHE T S B e A Y BRI

Notes:

1) The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022 (that was,
1,799,020,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

(2) Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

(3) Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

(4) Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

) Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar, and (ii)
80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata and
the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.
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HHEH
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Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2022, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO and no person
was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
the Company, or of any other company which is a member of the Group, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during

the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as adopted on 10 December 2012 and the
redemption of debentures and repurchase of shares as stated under the section
headed “Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” of this
Annual Report, at no time during the Year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as defined under note
15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any

time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the applicable laws and regulations, every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might compete

with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Reference is made to the non-competition deed (the “NCD”) dated 10 December
2012, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Deed” of the prospectus issued
by the Company dated 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2022, each of the
covenanters under the NCD who or which remained to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company and/or associate of any controlling shareholder of the Company
and/or director of any member of the Group, being Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Ms. Hung So Ling, Golden Wheel
Realty Company Limited, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Chun Hung Investments Limited,
Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Fire Spark Holdings Limited, Mr. Suwita Janata, Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, Ms. Julia Oscar and Golden Joy Forever
Holding Company Limited, declared that they have complied with the NCD. The
Board has also reviewed the relevant undertakings and has not noticed any non-

compliance incident.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of services (as
defined under note 15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a controlling shareholder of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 24.0% of the Group’s total purchases, and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined was 57.5% of the Group’s
total purchases. The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined was 8.3% of the Group’s total turnover. To the Director’s best
knowledge and belief, none of the Directors nor his close associates and none of the
shareholders interested in over 5% of the shares of the Company has any interest in

the above-mentioned suppliers and customers.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of approximately 563 (2021:
670) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group’s employment
contracts with its employees cover terms such as position, term of employment,
wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches, and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances, pensions,
performance bonus, share options and other employee benefits. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the performance, skills, qualifications, experience of

the employee concerned and the prevailing industry practice.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the employees

consisted of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the

basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The employees in Hong Kong are enrolled in the Mandatory Provident Fund
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Monthly
contributions are made by the Group which are 5% of the monthly income of the
employees as stipulated under the relevant requirements (if applicable), with the
maximum contributions of HK$1,500 monthly. No forfeited contributions (by
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) were used to reduce the existing level of contributions and no
forfeited contribution was available as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 to reduce

future years’ contributions.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Total employee costs for the Year, including directors” emoluments, amounted to
approximately RMB101.9 million (2021: RMB158.9 million).
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, none of related party transactions set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In
addition, there were no other transactions which constituted connected transaction(s)
or continuing connected transaction(s) for the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” stated
in note 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the

Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant impact
on the Group. The Group would seek professional advice from its legal advisers to
ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant

impact on it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting
the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices will serve its long-term interests and those of
shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code to

govern its corporate governance practices.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company on pages 84 to 101

of this Annual Report.
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DONATION

Donation made by the Group during the Year amounted to RMB376,000.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute
to achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply
fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel,
water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise
this to be a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmentally-friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly practices

whenever appropriate and possible.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company on

pages 36 to 83 of this Annual Report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing training
and development opportunities are provided to equip them to deliver their best
performance and achieve corporate goals. During the Year, our staff continually
pursue training and career development through our policy on top of mandatory
training on anti-corruption, safety and health awareness. They also work under
motivating remuneration and reward schemes and were provided with a smoke-free,

healthy and safe working environment.

Customers’ feedback and advice could be taken into account via customer

communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The Group has
policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who share our social,
environmental and labour practice standards. Appropriate steps are taken to ensure

that our partners and suppliers do not employ child labour or abuse human rights.

1 3 O AW K b ¥E B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Directors’ Report

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company and further discussion and analysis
of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the Year, and an indication of likely
future developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate Governance
Report set out on pages 6 to 10, pages 11 to 35 and pages 84 to 101 of this Annual

Report, respectively.

In addition, the Group’s environmental, employee, customer and supplier matters
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 36 to 83 and pages 84 to 101
of this Annual Report, respectively. These discussions form part of this Directors’

Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
the Group had no future plans for material investments as at the date of this Annual

Report.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company and will hold office until
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM to re-appoint KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 136 to 286, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties and their
possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us
to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
incurred a net loss of RMB995 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
recorded net current liabilities of RMB2,297 million as at 31 December 2022.
Included in the current liabilities were bank loans of RMB1,642 million and senior
notes of RMB3,255 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group failed to repay bank
loans of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB278,584,000) and
HK$374,680,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB334,690,000) and an interest
of US$34,139,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB237,763,000) on the senior
notes. The Group has received a demand notice from the bank requesting immediate
repayment of above mentioned bank loans and related interest but the Group has
not repaid the bank loans. As a result, senior notes and bank loans with an aggregate
amount of RMB4,148,222,000 became default or cross-default and became
repayable on demand. Those defaulted or cross-defaulted bank loans were secured
by the Group’s assets with an amount of RMB1,191 million and the related banks
have the right to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of those assets if the Group
cannot repay the loans upon request. Up to the date of this report, the Group has not
repaid the bank loans of US$40,000,000 and HK$374,680,000 and the bank has

not exercised its right to take possession of the pledged assets.

These conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties which

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to remediate certain
delayed repayments and breach of specific terms and condition of loans for the bank
loans and senior notes, which are set out in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether the Group is able to (i)
successfully complete amendments to the terms and conditions with the senior notes
holders; (ii) successfully negotiate with the banks for renewal of existing bank loans;
and (iii) successfully expedite the sales of properties and investment properties and
collection of receivables to generate sufficient cash flows from its future operations

in view of the volatility of the China real estate market.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern (Continued)

If the Group fails to achieve one or more of its plans and measures on a timely basis,
it may not be able to continue to operate as a going concern and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial

statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standard
Board (the “TASB”) and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and to issue an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the potential
interaction of the uncertainties relating to going concern and their possible
cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis
for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an

opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), together with any other ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with these requirements and the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report

is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2023

20224 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022

135



AR AR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BEZEFZ A+ ZH =+ —H IL4FFE For che year ended 31 December 2022

(LA BT ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

TR TR

2022 2021

M 5E AR¥T ARWFIC

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Wz Revenue 4 2,659,946 1,782,495
5B A Cost of sales (2,791,959) (1,810,025)
EH Gross loss (132,013) (27,530)
REYENTEEH Changes in fair value of investment properties 13(a) (44,090) (1,597,661)
HAbU A ~ BA X~ st KR Other income, expenses, gains and losses 5 (217,173) 17,787
i T B B 52 Selling and marketing expenses (64,173) (88,604)
BB 32 Administrative expenses (164,127) (143,050)
B ER Loss from operations (621,576) (1,839,058)
il AR Finance costs 6(a) (298,049) (254,759)
JRE AL B 5 s A R (54 Share of profits/(losses) of associates 15 8,711 (14,772)
HERL &8 20 (B518) /T F Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures 16 (7,368) 28,149
s B B 1 488 Loss before taxation 6 (918,282) (2,080,440)
RESH Income tax 7 (77,031) 93,355
FENER Loss for the year (995,313) (1,987,085)

LR A A Attributable to:

A7 ) 1R A TR SR Equity shareholders of the Company (1,053,851) (1,980,195)
FE 1 A %5 Non-controlling interests 58,538 (6,890)
N B E Loss for the year (995,313) (1,987,085)

55144 7 286 AR B RE A 1% 5 TR TR I — 3

A

1 3 6 £ R b ¥ B A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

The notes on pages 144 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
BEZEFZ A+ ZH =+ —H IL4FFE For che year ended 31 December 2022
(LI B B51R) (Expressed in Renminbi)

TR TR
2022 2021
Wi st AR¥ T ANRET T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
AR Lossforcheyear ©95313) (1,987,085)
A At 2 T W AR Other comprehensive income for the
(BRABE B 48 Fh B 4 S 4R year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments): 10
HETGEFEM A ER 2 I H © Item thar may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
WA NR LR B Exchange differences on translation of financial
B8 5 R Y B 502 B statements of the entities with functional
currencies other than RMB (1,860) (881)
FPAJfbemYa  Othercomprehensive income fortheyear 1860 (881)_
A% ) RE 235 e SRR AG A 9 2 Total comprehensive income for the year
Wt 4E A attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company 997,173) (1,987,966)
VYN Attributable to:
A7 A HE 4 OR Equity shareholders of the Company (1,055,711) (1,981,076)
I e PO HE £ Non-controlling interests 58,538 (6,890)
AR PN 4T WK 25 4 A Total comprehensive income for the year (997,173) (1,987,966)
i 1 Loss per share 11
B (AR R o) Basic (RMB per share) (0.586) (1.100)
(BN R IFTT) Diluted (RMB per share) (0.586) (1.100)

55 144 % 286 IR B 5T A AL S A S R R 1 — 8 The notes on pages 144 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
ﬁ o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A EFE A+ H =+—H At 31 December 2022
(AN E ﬁakﬁ/ N) (Expressed in Renminbi)

- ~SEY: TR
+=A +=J
=F= ~“+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
W &E AR#F AR ¥T T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
FER B Non-current assets
W3~ MR B Property, plant and equipment 12 557,580 599,451
HEYE Investment properties 13 4,119,284 4,326,157
QNP £ Interests in associates 15 95,147 75,001
e EAE R Interests in joint ventures 16 486,250 493,619
oA 4 i G Other financial assets 17 208,823 213,146
Z R SRAT A7 K Restricted bank deposits 23 7,517 33,770
R S JE Deferred tax assets 31 110,304 126,994
L 384905 5,808,138
WEE & Current assets
B R W Properties under development for sale 18 3,331,206 4,149,446
EAZEREEY/ES Completed properties for sale 19 1,841,172 1,894,938
FrlEd B R &= Non-current asset held for sale 20 66,383 184,289
ARERE Contract assets 21 47,462 34,210
Z 5 R HAt e U IE Trade and other receivables 22 510,791 462,927
T L b (BB S T 5 Land appreciation tax and income tax prepaid 78,731 64,224
% PRI AR AT A7 3K Restricted bank deposits 23 656,671 834,241
Ba RIS EY Cash and cash equivalents 24 193,217 346,910
WEAE Current liabilities
B 5 Jo HoAh IR A 0 IH Trade and other payables 25 1,748,011 1,796,636
BHIA K Contract liabilities 26 1,892,097 2,370,706
T % Rental received in advance 15,927 35,298
& A E Lease liabilities 27 55,922 44,482
|ATE Bank loans 28 1,642,490 1,726,249
EIE:GE AN Current taxation 413,875 498,521
BT Senior notes 29 3,254,550 2,814,024
e 9,022,872 9,%5}5,916 B
mEAREE Neccurrentliabilides 2.297.239) (1,314,731)
B R ) EE Total assets less current liabilities 3,287,666 4,553,407

1 3 8 £ R b ¥ B A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= FE . A4FE+ T H = +—H At 31 December 2022
(LI B WP R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

ot St — A
+=A +=A
=+—H =1—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
B ARBF ANR¥Tor
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
FEm B 21 5 Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 27 140,924 152,618
RITRR Bank loans 28 261,000 504,990
% SiE B VA B A Deferred tax liabilities 31 959,289 965,304
T~ | 1,361,213 1,622912
i NET ASSETS 1,926,453 2,930,495
N CAPITAL AND RESERVES
A Share capital 32(c) 112,883 112,883
it i Reserves 32(d) 1,675,895 2,731,606
A2 ) RE £ R E A REE 25 48 7 Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 1,788,778 2,844,489
e RS Non-controlling interests 137,675 86,006
HE 25 HA TOTAL EQUITY 1,926,453 2,930,495

FHEN T A=A = BRI

EHE
Wong Yam Yin
EF

Directors

55 144 5 286 LA A 5E M6 AR 35 J 5 AR 1Y — R

o

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.

B )
Wong Kam Fai
EF

Directors

The notes on pages 144 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZFZ A H =+ — H IL4F ¥ For the year ended 31 December 2022
(AN BB R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

it
Note
REFZ-HHZR Buuocear 31 December 2021 and
SHRRCERCTE ey 2
SR
CECTEBEEE:  Changesinequityfor202
R (BR) /E (Loss)profi or the year
EiEbAERE Ocher comprehensive income
for the year
PSR | Tomedeivicer
L Surplusreserve appropriaion 30d)iv)
[i-HKEA Acquisitons ofa subsidiary 31

RERZZEFZH Balanceat31 December 2022
St-Red

1 40 £ R b ¥ B A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZEFZ A+ ZH =+ —H IL4FFE For che year ended 31 December 2022
(LI B WP R ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

KATIEERREL
Actrbuteble o equity shareholders of the Company

B RBEE  BWRE OMREARE WEEERE  BRERE  EBRE  REEA Bt hREE it

Property Share Non-
Share Share Special Exchange tevaluation options Surplus Retained controlling
apial premium feserve feserve feserve feserve feserve earnings Toul Interests Toul
Mt N AREFr AREFL AREFC AREFT AREFL AREFL AREFT AREFD AREFL AR
Note RABU0 RIBU0 Y RMBU0 RMBU0 RMBU0 RMBUD RMBOw RMB U0 RMB 000 RMB 000
(Basao) (e sua)  (sEsoil (O i) (HE30) (1 32
(note320) (ot 32d)i)  (note 32(d)i)  (note 32(d)ii)) (note30) ~ (note 32(d)iv)
WEZZREFTR Balanceat 3 December 2000 and
SH-RRZEZE ) 2020
il 4 113099 416143 19673 16134 16631 1551 B4 38940 g0 nW6 4919946
CRCEREES:  Changesinequit for 2021
L Loss o he e - - - - - - S (198019) (6890 (1.987,085)
EiibAEhE Ocher comprehensive income
for the year - - - (881) - - - - 881) - (881)
AlilE4% Total comprehensive income - - - (881) - - - (1980,195)  (1,981,076) (6890 (1,987,966)
i Surplusteserve appropriation 32d)w) - - - - - - 6,969 (6,969) - - -
DRARGERAELNLS  Bquiyseled sharebsed consactions. 30 - - - - - 52 - - 52 - 52
LR Puchase o v hares 1) (16 (1321) - - - - - - (1537) - (L537)
WEZZ~FFZR Balanceat 3 December 2021
St-0ZER 11288 {7480 19673 155 1661 1603 138 1936 2844 80006 29304%

55 144 2 286 LI B G A A% S5 A5 R R 1 — 8 The notes on pages 144 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
6} o
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Consolidated Cash Flows Statement
BEZEFZ A+ ZH =+ —H IL4FFE For che year ended 31 December 2022
(LA BT ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

R - aet/: S
2022 2021
Bt 1 ANBRHETx AR T T
Note RMB’000 RMB000

S ] Operating activities

I 4 Cash generated from operations 24(b) 4,143 1,197,164
C LA Tax paid (197,759) (173,744)
RETE B B & F Net cash generated from operating

. activities (193,616) 1,023,420
BEWE B Investing activities

SRATAE K E A B Interest received from bank deposits S(a) 20,110 27,323
WEE W~ B Mkl Purchases of property, plant and equipment (111) (82,632)
a2 m Increase in investment properties (121,698) (61,377)
w—HAESENR % Investment in a joint venture - (61,297)
H—HA&8AEIRERE Investment received from a joint venture 13,319 114,459
h—HEE AT 2R E Investment in an associate - (10,000)
WEWE - WE Kkt Disposal of property, plant and equipment 21,831 -
HEREWE Disposal of investment properties 447,718 223,502
HERATEF ABEG Z &M EE  Disposal of financial assets measured at FVTPL - 45,509
2 S Dividend received 5,968 —
Wi B — [T BB 2 7] 2 BLB A Cash inflow upon acquisitions of a subsidiary 200,310 -
) B T B A A PR A B Advance to associates and joint ventures (2,194) (55,243)
& — [HI 7 2 w3 Repayment received from an associates 1,779 66,712
$8 T B B A5 Bl 4 Net cash generate from investing activities 587,032 206,956

1 42 AW K b ¥E B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Cash Flows Statement

BEZEFZ A+ ZH =+ —H IL4FFE For che year ended 31 December 2022

(LINFE f[/g( ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

Y S ZE
2022 2021
Wit & AR F ANRIFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
A ) Financing activities
g N m BRI Advance from associates and joint ventures 39,257 67,286
Bl NG SR - E 3T ¢ Repayment to associates and joint ventures (1,173) (111,767)
AT S SRR T A5 K H Proceeds from issue of senior notes - 521,052
ST EEAT 1B ST SRR I A BH Payment of expense attributable to issue of
senior notes 24(c) (46,196) (11,930)
%ﬁ%&ﬁgﬂﬁﬁﬁ WA Proceeds from new bank loans 24(c) 67,300 1,101,854
fEE AT Repayments of bank loans 24(c) (586,101) (1,647,483)
i E]Ef‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% Repurchase of senior notes 24(c) (1,663) (61,518)
HRECEBASH Repayment of principal of senior notes 24(c) (171,292) (892,099)
& A AL Interest paid 24(c) (150,680) (533,578)
A (GRE #ARITEFE Y Placement/(withdraw) of deposits pledged for
173K bank loans 352,055 (113,909)
LACRER= g el Purchase of own shares - (1,537)
B EH 4 EAR T Capital element of lease rentals paid 24(c) (38,317) (31,079)
B & 4 A BB Interest element of lease rentals paid 24(c) (12,334) (14,840)
WAEBIASEFH  Netcashusedinfinancingacdvides  GO4H (1,729,548)
Bl KB4 S E A T Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (155,728) (499,172)
H—H—HMBERIESFEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 24(a) 346,910 849,120
A1 B 236 4 ) g ¢ Effect of foreign exchanges rates changes 2,035 (3,038)
RTEZAZ+T—HMB& X Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
Ba%Hy 24(a) 193,217 346,910

55144 7 286 FLHA B RE A 1% 5 TR TR 1N — 3D

A

The notes on pages 144 to 286 form part of these financial statements.
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(a)

GENERAL

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from
16 January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the property development, property leasing and hotel

operation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

comprise the Group and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is

the historical cost basis except as set out in the accounting policies hereunder.

Non-current assets and disposal Groups held for sale are stated at the lower of

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see note 2(x)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have

significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of RMB995 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 and recorded net current liabilities of RMB2,297 million
as at 31 December 2022. Included in the current liabilities were bank loans
of RMB1,642 million and senior notes of RMB3,255 million. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank

deposits amounting to RMB193 million and RMB664 million, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, bank loans of US$40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB278,584,000) and HK$374,680,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB334,690,000) were originally due on
31 August 2022 and the maturity date was extended to 31 October 2022.
The maturity date has not been further extended and the Group failed to
repay these bank loans on 31 October 2022 (the “Default”). The Group has
received a demand notice from the bank requesting immediate repayment
of these bank loans and payment of related interests. These bank loans
are pledged by the Group’s completed property for sale amounting to
RMB877,095,000 as at 31 December 2022. As a result of the Default, the
bank has the right to take possession, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the
pledged asset. Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Group has not repaid the defaulted loans and the bank has not exercised its

right to take possession of the pledged assets.

The Default triggered cross-defaults of other bank loans with an aggregate
carrying amount of HKD313,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB280,397,000) as of 31 December 2022, which became repayable on
demand and were included in current liabilities. These cross-defaulted
bank loans were secured by the Group’s pledged deposits amounting
t0.RMB314,000,000. If the bank requests repayment and the Group
cannot fulfill the request, the bank has the right to take possession of the
pledged deposits. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group continues to be in cross-default and the lender has not

demanded immediate repayment of these bank loans.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to going concern (Continued)

The Default also triggered cross-default of the senior notes issued by the
Group with carrying amount of RMB3,255 million as of 31 December 2022,
such that they become due for immediate redemption once the relevant
senior note holders (the “Holders”) make the request under the cross-default
provision. In addition, in November 2022, the Group failed to repay the
interests of US$23,495,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB163,633,000)
of the senior notes when they were due. Such non-payment has caused
an event of default itself. As of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the senior notes continue to be defaulted and the
Holders have not exercised their rights to require immediate redemption of

the senior notes or payment of interest.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had investment property, completed
properties for sale and properties under development for sale of RMB4,119
million, RMB1,841 million and RMB3,331 million, respectively, including
pledged completed properties for sale of RMB877,095,000 as mentioned
above. The current volatility in the real estate industry may place increasing
difficulty for the Group and may undermine the Group’s ability to generate
sufficient cash flows from its future operations to meet its financing
obligations and the Group’s ability to renew existing facilities or source new

funding.

All these events or conditions indicate the existence of multiple material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to going concern (Continued)

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have given
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by management, which covers a period of at least
12 months from 31 December 2022. Certain plans and measures have been
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressures and to improve its financial position

which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)  The Company already had preliminary discussions with the major
Holders. The board of directors of the Company will take steps to
come up a senior notes restruction proposal. On 29 March 2023, the
Group has appointed financial advisors for the purpose of facilitating
timely negotiations of various proposed amendments to the terms and

conditions of the Holders;

(i)  Regarding the bank loans, management is also negotiating with the
banks for renewal of existing bank facilities, as well as discussing
with various parties (including but not limited to banks and financial
institutions) to secure additional sources of financing for the Group;

and

(iii)  The Group is working diligently to assess and improve its liquidity
position. In order to generate sufficient cash flows to meet its
obligations, the Group will continue its efforts to recover from the
volatility in the China real estate industry, and expedite sales of
properties and investment properties, and collection of receivables,
while maintaining more stringent cost control measures of
containment of discretionary capital expenditures. The Group aims
to gradually address the Group’s debt obligations within a reasonable

timeframe.
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Multiple Uncertainties Relating to going concern (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has contract liabilities amounting to
RMB1,892 million. The forecasted amounts to be received from the contract
sales amounted to RMB552 million. Based on the management estimation,
three property development projects are forecasted to complete in the twelve
months ending 31 December 2023 and the Group can then release part of the

contract liabilities and receive additional cash from the property buyers.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, assuming the success
of all the above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due for at least the next twelve months from 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year

ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as to whether
management of the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures
as described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate

financing and operating cash flows through the following:

(i) successfully completing amendments to the terms and conditions of

the senior notes with the Holders;

(i)  successfully negotiating with the banks for renewal of existing bank

loans; and

(iii)  successfully expedite the sales of properties and investment properties
and collection of receivables to generate sufficient cash flows from
its future operations in view of the volatility of the China real estate

market.

If the Group fail to achieve one or more of the above-mentioned plans and
measures on a timely basis, it may not be able to continue to operate as a
going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these

consolidated financial statements.
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(©)

(d)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the

IASB to these financial statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IFRS 16, Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds

before intended use

o Amendment to IFRS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities and

contingent assets: Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract

None of these developments had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior years have been prepared
or presented in this financial report. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting

year.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are

considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised

gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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(d

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’

proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the

equity shareholders of the Company.

Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in

accordance with note 2(p) or 2(q) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no

adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note
2(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in

an associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or company has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its management, including

participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or company and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement and have rights

to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(j)(iii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the
joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests

where applicable (see note 2(j)(i)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment

continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a

financial asset (see note 2(f)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
see note 33. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the

following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using

the effective interest method (see note 2(u)(v)).

- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) — recycling,
if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other

comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set

out in note 2(u)(iv).

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held
under a leasehold interest (see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or developed for future use

as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the
course of construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain or
loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from

investment properties is accounted for as described in note 2(u)(iii).
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(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property interest under
an operating lease and used the property to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the Group could elect on a property-by-property basis
to classify and account for such interest as an investment property. Any such
property interest which had been classified as an investment property was
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 2(i)), and the
same accounting policies were applied to that interest as were applied to
other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments were

accounted for as described in note 2(i).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)(iii)):

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and

borrowing costs (see note 2(w)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. The proceeds from selling

any such items and the related costs are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is

not reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land and hotel property 20-50 years
- Land and buildings held for own use 20-306 years
- Motor vehicles 4-10 years
- Computers and office equipment 3 years

- Leasehold improvements over the lease period or 5 years,

whichever is shorter

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life

of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single

lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis

over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in

the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to
their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(h) and 2(j)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-

use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are

carried at fair value in accordance with note 2(g).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost (see
note 2(f)(i), 2(u)(v) and 2(j)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair value
and the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional lease

payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for
in the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as
a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions
that occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the
change in consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit ot loss in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent concessions

occurred.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease

liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting

period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the

lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating leases is

recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(i)(i), then the Group

classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the

following items:
- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, including loans to associates

and joint ventures, which are held for the collection of contractual cash

flows which represent solely payments of principal);

- contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 (see note 2(m));

- debt securities measured at FVTOCI (recycling); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including funds, equity

securities measured at FVTPL, and structured bank deposits, are not subject

to the ECL assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and

the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates

where the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof;
- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement of the lease

receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum

contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date;

and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to which

the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case the

loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually

due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial

instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results

of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s

ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVTOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised in other

comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(v) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the

financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following

observable events:
- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation;,
- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal

environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial

difficulties of the issuer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The gross catrying amount of a financial asset, lease receivable or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-

off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which

the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor)
to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make

payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition
for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the

changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the

cash shortfalls being discounted.

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk of default of
the specified debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same assessment of

significant increase in credit risk as described in note 2(j)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default
by the specified debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that
the Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using the current

risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

- goodwill;

- interests in associates and joint ventures; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial

position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether

or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating

unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in

use (if determinable).

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of

goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited

to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria

as it would at the end of the financial year (see note 2(j)(i) and 2(j)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed

only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

Property under development for sale

Properties under development for sale, representing leasehold land and
buildings located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) under
development for future sale in the ordinary course of business, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises the costs of land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
development expenditure. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Properties
under development for sale are transferred to completed properties for sale

upon completion of development.

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct development expenditure. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course

of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to property, plant and
equipment as evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the carrying

amount of such property is the deemed costs at the date of transfer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Completed properties for sale (Continued)

When a completed property for sale is transferred to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party.
Any difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer

and its previous carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see note
2(u)) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in note
2(j)(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration

has become unconditional (see note 2(n)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable

would also be recognised (see note 2(n)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and

contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract
balance includes interest accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(u)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(m)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method

less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(j)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with

the policy set out in note 2(j)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for
financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note 2(k)(ii), trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect

of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 2(w)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,

these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contributions is

matched by employees.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government (the “PRC
Scheme”) The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute specified rate of
the employees’ salaries to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the

probability that the options will vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the shares

issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

1 7 2 AW K b ¥E B4 B A ] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



o A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R EHHBOR ()

P38t (#)

BT HRGISME RS > TR ERIA S
1 e BT A IR AR JEUE A P F AR T RE A E
SBL 2R PR DASIE 8 T B A R o T
SRR R IR 1 T B IR 2 A A
YEL 4 7 M R A B A0 ) 4 45 R 43¢ [ B A
WL BE U I 2 LR T A A T e
TR LR — BB W A — B A
B » S 300 0 A TS0 988 [ ) 1B IR 2
L[] — 30 P A R A B A G
50 LT 1 42 0 T 0 A A T 4 1]
TE 7 58 B MESBL 0 R 1 2 LR 75 S4B T
R P BB i 4 40 T A 1 R A
BOIE A - € 3T b e — e B
o W I 2 L BRI — RS A D S —
R MR 7 T 6 B
i 1L A A B 0 T B T B R

e

A7 I T A S L VRV T B AT FR 91 5
DL > AR AN AT A FBE 228 1) i 2 P
R RS WA R B R R
B a1 f 0 SR R BT AR O 0 TR (1L
T ) R AN R S 8 Y
— ) > DL A B AR I A R BT A
0T I 22 5L TR BT 5 (A G 2
BL) o [ A S A £ o $58 [0 A IR (R ) 1
UL o HaZ 2 SO W REA G A vl SR A el
o (U T AT B BR IR A AT AR R 2K
fBE ] o

it BB W) 36 2 V- e W R 2(g) B & st
BURRT R o FLAE R 0 T S T I i o
H 2 B 8 2 IR (2 R RERE - BR
MR TIE > Wik B K2 B
FEZW S B (0 & 2 4B R A8 A i > T
TR A8 5 T FE 2 7 SR o T A
HAREL T > O A0 A B IH & W% T
BB S EEE LA RREE 2T B
PG RCE R E L CHik B
Al A o BIEBUAEE L AEATHH -

(s)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can

be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 2(g), the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of
those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes

probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are

recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income

taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of
goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the Group’s assets

under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred
to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue

excludes value added tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies

are as follows:

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the customer obtain the control of
the completed property, which is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the property, and the Group has present right
to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial position

under contract liabilities (see note 2(m)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale of properties (Continued)

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of
payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties to the contract. For
contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing

component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of the
associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the promised
amount of consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. The
relevant interest expenses during the period between the advance payments
were received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are

accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs (see note 2(w)).

Hotel service income
Revenue from hotel accommodation and other ancillary service is recognised

when relevant services are provided.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Dividends
- Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share

price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method
using the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying

amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(j)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and subsequently recognised in profit or loss

over the useful life of the asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Renminbi (‘RMB”) at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income

and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to

profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs
are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare

the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if it is
highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a
Group of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in

the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of
a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as
held for sale when the above criteria for classification as held for sale are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the

subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the
non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group)
is brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and until disposal,
the non-current assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or
disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this measurement policy so
far as the financial statements of the Group and the Company are concerned
are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets
(other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to

be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the

Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions

applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

(ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the

Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to

the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has

made the consolidated accounting judgement:

Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(i), the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term. In
determining the lease term at the commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood
of exercising the renewal options taking into account all relevant facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise the
option, including favourable terms, leasehold improvements undertaken and
the importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in
the lease term would affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use

assets recognised in future years.
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(a)

(i)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment properties and concluded that, except
certain investment properties which will be recovered through sale, the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business model which
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors determined
deferred taxation in relation to the Group’s certain investment properties
which will be recovered through sale have been measured based on the tax
consequences of recovering the carrying amounts entirely through sale. In
determining that Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties held
under a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
the directors have determined the presumption that investment properties

measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale is rebutted.

As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties. The carrying amount of deferred taxation on

investment properties at 31 December 2022 was RMB820,930,000.
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(i)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
source of estimation uncertainties at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by the independent professional
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation report,
the management has exercised their judgement and is satisfied that the
assumptions used in valuation have reflected the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
investment properties of the Group and the corresponding adjustments to the

amount of fair value gain and loss reported in profit or loss.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including sales charges, borrowing costs and all

property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation have
been announced by the local tax bureau in certain major cities, however, the
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the local tax
bureau in those cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgments are
required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes.
The Group has recognised these liabilities based on the management’s best
estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax expenses in the period

in which such determination will be made.
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(iv)

(v)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realizable value. The net realizable
value of properties under development for sale is determined by reference
to the estimated selling prices less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are estimated based on the Directors’ best available

information and the prevailing market conditions.

Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any
changes to the property market conditions, properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale may be written down. There is no
write-down of properties under development for sale or completed properties

for sale during both years.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets and unquoted equity instruments
are measured at fair values with fair values being determined based on
unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect
the reported fair values of these instruments. Further details of disclosure of

the fair value measurement are set out in note 33(e).

ECL on financial guarantee
The management estimates the expected credit losses for the financial
guarantee issued. Should the actual outcome differ with the estimation, a

material loss may arise.
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Ve Y Tig: £y 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
W s (@) Revenue
AEBZ FREGHREFHERE Y The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
SERH B DT B AR o e R DR 0 i leasing and hotel operation. In a manner consistent with the way in which
RIS A SR B S AT BUE LB B WRE information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
RHI AR 7 2 AR Rk = A K management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
AR o A A AR R R RS TR assessment, the Group has identified three operating and reportable segments.
HE— 2B RENE I BT 5 4(b) i Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note
4(b).
Weas 4 (i)  Disaggregation of revenue
TSR R & P B B B R F A Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by business lines
AR T and geographical location of customers is as follows:
R e et
2022 2021
ARET T ARWTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ek Property development 2,410,505 1,512,330
YERE Property leasing 183,070 207,159
T8I Hotel operation 66,371 63,006
W i 4R Total revenue 2,659,946 1,782,495
ek Pt 3 A E 4 8 Disaggregated by geographical location
of customers
HH I A HE Mainland China 2,640,123 1,769,711
ik Hong Kong 19,823 12,784
2,659,946 1,782,495

T i 45 GBI AT A & P 4 A0 35 A 43
FEBY 22 1 B 4(b)) ©

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of

revenue recognition is disclosed in note 4(b)(i).
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4 Wedi B A () 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Concinued)
@ Wik (45 (a) Revenue (Continued)
i) HEHEEF G TEAEES X5 (if)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation
for contracts with customers
WoER T At —HARERT The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
JB &) BAT CRIEERK) 2 2 ) (8 4% I 78 49 1 (unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2022 and the expected timing of recognising
AR R 2 R AR revenue are as follows:
R TR
2022 2021
ANBRHET X ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
— 4N Within one year 2,353,003 2,483,081
TR 8 — L R A0 T A More than one year but not more than two years 90,648 328,208
2,443,651 2,811,289
(b) ArEpHE (b) Segment reporting

7% S g 0 = I S 5 A BHL S -
iz BB ) e e R B AT A ) A 5 M R A
HUE g 2 AR AR 7 AR EE
SHILLT =8 AT 5 o AR R AR
BB T B -

RS — BN E

WEME -~ YEHE(ER
A BB E
M EYEE)

WIEEE - WEEE

The Group manages its businesses by three business lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
three reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to

form the following reportable segments.

Property development —  Development and sale of properties

Property leasing - Property leasing (including lease of self-
owned properties and sub-lease of rented
properties)

Hotel operation —  Hotel operation
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etk B 2 WA (40) 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Concinued)
g3 R R (4) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
AR BERAR (i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities
SR ETAL 23 TR B A 2 8 ] VR A3 T AT For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources
AL B S RATBUE BN B DL AL B AR between segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the
K TE AT o A TR RE AL 2 24 results, attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:
Wi T3 2 B 5 2 F A E A 2 B % Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
S 3 T E A 2 B S TR % S A B generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
785 A B 1 A 2 FLA B S i T 4% RT or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
g o U R B AN R P o 3K attributable to those segments. Segment revenue all generated from external
A B I Ay [ 8 4 customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the reporting year.
AR 0 T 7 0 0t ) 2% 3 T R IR i ) Segment profit before tax represent the profit earned by each segment without
MR OFEREY AT EEE) - HAblA - changes in fair value of investment properties, other income, expenses, gains
BH S~ iR KBS 1R R 2 T A58 B s W) B and losses, unallocated head office and corporate expenses, finance costs, share
3 BB ST - R AG TR A A Y SERE N of results of associates and share of results of joint ventures.
haEhEL R -
e R A 5 W 0 4 2 B A #lias - DA Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of
BEHERT AR E_F R =% revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the Group’s reportable
T ZAZS T HIEEEN IR B segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
AR T A LB ESITHERANER the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
B A S ] T i 2 20 S K BORL B AR o for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out below. No segment
Ji 7 4 R R i e 3R B REA B T S A assets and liabilities are presented as they were not regularly provided to the
] AR PR A R A E A chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
I 40 52 )40 B I AR o performance assessment.
nER% MET Wk it
Property development Property leasing Hotel operation Total
SRR AT CROCE CRC-F CROCE CRT-E CROTE SR
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
AR T ARWTr ABKTE ARHTT AEETFx ARHTC AREFT ARHTZ
RMBO0O  RMBY00 — RMBUOO RMBOOO ~— RMB000 RMBOOO — RMBOOO  RMBO0O
HWEHARFAE  Disaggregated by timing of
ggregated by timing
revenue recognition
Gk Point in time 2410505 1,512,330 - - 66,371 63006 2476876 1575336
Kk Over time - L R IAY) - - I8 071
AHE R Reportable segment revenue 2410505 1,512,330 183,070 207,159 66,371 63,006 2659946 178249
BBETRESS  Reportable segment (loss)profit
%)/ before ax GOLUS)  GUS3) BB g0 (246) 6L GHKD 6949
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4 Wt B Ak () 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) HEERE A7) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
i) A AR A 0 R (ii)  Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss
Y - R
2022 2021
AR#F AR BT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
EEiS Y i Reportable segment loss (314,647) (243,949)
BBV NN T EEH Changes in fair value of investment properties (44,090) (1,597,661)
HAYA ~ B diess RE R Other income, expenses, gains and losses (217,173) 17,787
ey e A i K R B S Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (20,576) (15,235)
W~ B B A EE Impairment of property, plant and equipment (25,090) -
A A Finance costs (298,049) (254,759)
JE A B 45 s ] R A (ks Share of profits/(losses) of associates 8,711 (14,772)
FEA A2 3 (B54R) /T Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures (7,368) 28,149
BRI A% 1 5 1 Consolidated loss before taxation (918,282) (2,080,440)
(iii)  HAEABEF (i)  Other segment information
FrE TR R R A 3 R 2 s Depreciation of property and equipment included in the measurement of

segment profit or loss:

st St [T S

2022 2021

A REFr ANRBT T

RMB’000 RMB000

iR Property leasing 13,174 4,002
T Hotel operation 22,368 36,247
EN L Unallocated 28,414 4,417
s Total 63,956 44,666
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(iv)  Geographic information

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived substantially from

its operations in the Mainland China, and non-current assets of the Group are

also substantially located in the Mainland China.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s non-current assets other than

other financial assets, restricted bank deposits and deferred tax assets by

geographical location of assets:

i R B B

Specified non-current assets
G- Y TERT AR
2022 2021
AR T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FR R A Mainland China 5,255,561 5,494,228
5,255,561 5,494,228
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5 JLAMOA ~ B3~ W B i 4 5  OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES
@ FHABKA (a) Other income
S0 Sty P St
2022 2021
ANBRH T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB000
SRATAE R R A Interest income from bank deposits 20,110 27,323
N TR AR 5 0 4 flVE & Dividend income from financial assets measured
BB A at FVTPL 3,131 1,659
R AR FLA) Z WA Compensation income from early termination of
leasing contract 5,758 6,063
R # By (B 5E) Government grants (Note) 1,222 1,017
WEYE - WUE Sl A Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 16,635 -
i s 2 IO 8 5 A Y i i Gain on cancellation of sales contracts by buyer 25,656 -
HoAts Others 6,772 3,131
79,284 39,193
B o« 5% 4 A T R OO 42 [ O A M B Note: The amount mainly represented the unconditional subsidies received from the local
JRF 2 S Jh 77 b ) S 8 TR O By 2 AR governments where the Group entities were located for encouragement of business
i B4 o development activities in the local areas.
(b) HAbWE K R (b)  Other gains and losses
RO TR TR
2022 2021
ARWF ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEE i, (G 98) /Wi 4 19 4 Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (284,864) 110,604
NP AR G 1Y 45 o Losses on changes in fair value of financial assets
NTE S B R measured ac FVTPL (1,828) (74,934)
WA PEFT AR B M E  Losses on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL
i 18 — (1,520)
E T T At JRE WS 3R T ik (A 1R Impairment losses of trade and other receivables - (55,896)
i [ o] 8 90 SRR 0 i 4 Gains on repurchase/redemption of senior notes 1,594 2,867
(285,098) (18,879)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

JCBOA ~ B ~ AR BB () 5 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES
(Continued)
oA BH 52 (c) Other expenses
- SR R
2022 2021
AR#F ARWEFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Donation (376) (168)
oAt Others (10,983) (2,359)
(11,359) (2,527)
At Total (217,173) 17,787
Ik 2 1 e 4L 6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BRBLRIESRE R, (GEA) - Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
il R A (a) Finance costs
TR TR
2022 2021
ARHF ARWTFI
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRATE IR (B 5T 24(0)) Interest on bank loans (note 24(c)) 194,554 179,480
& EEAE (K 24(c)) Interest on lease liabilities (note 24(c)) 12,334 14,840
B RS (BT 24(0) Interest on senior notes (note 24(c)) 385,002 457,149
B BRI EER Less: Interest expense capitalised into properties
[ v 4 2E ) RS B 3 under development for sale and investment
properties under development* (293,841) (396,710)
g Total 298,049 254,759
* AR C AR AR 10.27% (ZF Z—4 * The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 10.27% per annum (2021:

11.06%) EAAL ©

11.06%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT 2R 2 2 AN B B2 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

6 BrBLEiEH @)

6  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b)y BIEA (b)  Staff costs
TR TR T AR
2022 2021
AR T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fra o LA R H A AR A Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 94,578 148,003
RARARE R FE 4 3% Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 7,366 10,854
e A &5 L FBe A S AR (B3 30) Equity-settled share-based payments (note 30) - 52
W BRI BB EYER Less: amount capitalised to properties under
BH 8% BUE W) B development for sale and investment
properties under development (13,963) (31,235)
87,981 127,674
(© HAbEHE (¢ Other items
G Y TR TR
2022 2021
YN ANRIEFTT
RMB’000 RMB 000
e Depreciation
—BEWME - WE K — Owned property, plant and equipment 50,782 36,868
— G — Right-of-use assets 13,174 7,798
63,956 44,666
% S0 T 5 Auditors’ remuneration 2,500 2,500
Y2 A Cost of properties 2,700,010 1,704,474
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B3y A2 A vl B 15 B

A A R AR AR R BLIE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:
TR TE AR
2022 2021
AR ARWEFIC
RMB000 RMB000
RIHAFRLIE Current tax:
— R ([ ZEEA]) - PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) 29,089 26,016
— TR —LAT 46,414 81,625
— WA GEB - Hong Kong Profits Tax - _
et e 75505 107,641
TRAERLIA (B 3E31) Deferred tax (note 31)
— R —CIT 2,261 (286,288)
— LA ER _LAT (733) 85,292
. -+ A (200,996)
77,031 (93,355)

FET A 70 1 S0 T 17 B 2 0 S D O
By REAM AL 2 2w SR A AR AR AT B - AL
S 488 30 5% S5 2~ ) i AT A B TR 4B -

SR RGBT AT
5 BE SR BL i A 16.5% (—F ——4
16.5%) w5 - M« 52 [ — [ AR 48 15 Bt
A% o 5 Y ) O B A R BR A o

R A5 $88 A ) AR A A R BT A AR
S 2 A7 D L R B
A& B R RBR R

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies incorporated in
the Cayman Island and the British Virgin Islands as they are not subject to

any tax during both periods.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the two-

tiered Profits Tax rate regime.
The provision for PRC income tax is based on the respective corporate income

tax rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in the PRC as determined in

accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT 2R 2 2 AN B B2 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(a)

B AR BB ()

A A R AR AR RO B (47)

-+ b 38 F Bl R b A 18 (B4 A F 30% £ 60%
(1) 2B R i > b 398 B A 26 5 4 B
A5 TR % T A0S L g M
o FIAE BT A 308 ~ T BB R B T K
P Rl ) BROAS B B2 ) SO AR T A
YIRS ~ A7 B0 I i 1Y) B 800 JE DA
Jo A B R i HA AT 40 BE H ) e B -
A AL o Hh E B R AR AT = A B AN
U0 S A WA R REE A R IE
B 5 KB M O B AR R R AR Y

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents: (Continued)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use
rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for construction
of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old
buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real estate
and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance. Apart
from the aforementioned deductions, property developers enjoy an additional
deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment made for acquisition of

land use rights and the costs of land development and construction of new

20% ©

buildings or related facilities.

RO TR
2022 2021
ARWTIT ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

xR i 1R Loss before taxation (918,282) (2,080,440)
M 25% B P B EFGBIBIE  Tax using PRC CIT rate of 25%

At S BLIA (229,571) (520,110)
AT A1 B S 1 B 2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

tax purpose 153,546 110,499
T E B A BB 5 28 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (2,091) (39,796)
O AW 2 ] SEAR N B R Tax effect of share of results of associates (2,178) 3,693
MG AE S EEENBUL P2 Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 1,842 (7,037)
+ o (L LAT 32,957 162,816
Tl R R RS Tax effect of LAT (8,239) (40,704)
FIERB BRI Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 99,405 170,335
R HEFR AT AT IRF 2 B BB 2 Tax effect of deductible temporary difference not
recognised 34,095 78,229

fill R A0 7 2R e AR B YL i 1R PR B Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses now

A recognised (4,776) (1,981)
A B g A R R A Bl FIAAR Y Effect of withholding tax on undistributed profit

TE 0B 2 from PRC subsidiaries 2,041 (9,299)
BT B Actual tax expense 77,031 (93,355)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BR1FPIHER P AN RS ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

g 4

Y A8 0 A 5 3830 e I
AT (B R 3 R M0 56 2 0
(3 0T

BRE_ZF-_H+-H=+—H
R4

WS Executive directors
THERE Mr. Wong Yam Yin
TR (M) M:t. Wong Kam Fai (note 1)
FHELE Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry

Tjie Tjin Fung & M. Tjie Tjin Fung
David Janataf'ﬁé (Mt 3k i) Mr. David Janata (note iii)

FHGESR Non-executive directors

Kiky Gunawan 764 Mr. Kiky Gunawan

Janata Suwita 76 M. Janata Suwita

BukanEs Independent non-executive
directors

FRREA (M) Mr Wong Ying Loi (note iv)
BRI (k) Mr. Lie Tak Sen (note v)
FERA L (ki) Ms. Wong Lai Ling (note vi)

ZRBEE Mr. Li Sze Keung
ERAEE Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT 2R 2 2 AN B B2 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

8 WML ) 8
BE_Z-_—#+-H=1+—H

DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AR
ek fLiL RIRAE A
RS HAER (B &) G st
Contributions
Salaries and Bonuses to retirement
Directors’ fees other benefits (note i1) benefit schemes Total
ARBTr ANRBTr ANRETr ANR¥TF NEWTF
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

WhE$ Executive directors

THERE Mr. Wong Yam Yin 299 - 1,058 - 1357

TEHCE (W) Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note ) 120 3,682 253 15 4070

EHBEE Mr. Wong Kam Keung Barry 120 2,498 253 15 2,886

Tjie Tjin Fung 7 M. Tjie Tjin Fung 239 - 30 - 269

David Janata J6*E (M 3E iii) Mr. David Janata (note iii) 239 - 2 - 261

FhfTES Non-executive directors

Kiky Gunawan g Mr. Kiky Gunawan 199 - 22 - 221

Janata Suwita bt M. Janata Suwita 242 - 30 - 272

BukafmEs Independent non-executive

directors

FHALE (M3Eiv)  Mr. Wong Ying Loi (note iv) 120 - - - 120

AL (k) M:r. Lie Tak Sen (note v) 120 - - - 120

FREEE Mr. Li Sz¢ Keung 120 - - - 120

FRANE Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie 120 - - - 120

1,938 6,180 1,668 30 9816

B gL Notes:

(1) F B R TR R A A A AT BB HUR b (i) Mr. Wong Kam Fai is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his emoluments
SO R I 4 TR 2 AT BUBR AR AR (I A disclosed above include those for his services as the Chief Executive and
BLEBATEFNIME - remuneration as the Executive Director.

(i1) REMBEAL IS EERWMAREEE - (i) Performance related bonuses is determined by reference to the individual

performance of the directors.
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HIME )

Wit - (3

(i)  David Janaa G/ E R ZE R H =L
HEHE BT HE S -

(iv)  EREFEAEREFAH T LHE
6% EE- XS i

v  BERERAENR-E AR TLHE
R AT o

i) ITERRLER-Z-HFRA-TLHE
ZAERBI P ES -

JRAF A > 7 S [ M 06 i) AR ) A o] 9 2 5
A5 4 1 5 i A A 5 B o IR 2 3 P
RETRAT 2 A 1 o 1 A 79 M 206 3 < AT
AT 4 o

I v 4 A

WM AR g (ZF 4
=) Ry d s HM R s - AR
=2 (ZF 4\ AL a
BHIWMT

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)  Mr. David Janata was resigned as Executive Director on 27 May 2022.

(ivy  Mr. Wong Ying Loi was resigned as independent Non-Executive Director on 27
May 2022.

(v) Mr. Lie Tak Sen was resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on 27 May
2022.

(vi)  Ms. Wong Lai Ling was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 27
May 2022.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has waived any

emoluments during the year.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 2 (2021: 3) are directors
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments

in respect of the other 3 (2021: 2) individuals are as follows:

- TR

2022 2021

ANRHFr AR BT

RMB’000 RMB’000

¥ e L H A AR A Salaries and other benefits 3,630 3,212
fE4L Bonuses 1,404 1,707
DA B AS &8 B IR 3 S AR TR Equity-settled share-based payments — 39
AR ) 4 Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 236 99
5,270 5,057
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9 IEMaeANL @) 9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

A FE A 7 2 L AT R S 2 A

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the

TR BRI Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:
ot S SR

2022 2021

BT¥A BT#H
Number of Number of

individuals individuals

Z2 I8 £ 1,000,000 ¥ 70 HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 1 -
1,000,001 #5 76 F 1,500,000 ¥ JC HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 -
1,500,001 ¥ 7T % 2,000,000 #5 7C HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 = 1
2,000,001 #5 7T % 2,500,000 #5 TG HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 = -
2,500,001 # JC £ 3,000,000 # JC HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 - -
3,000,001 ¥ 7T £ 3,500,000 # 7T HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 = -
3,500,001 # JC £ 4,000,000 # JT HKS$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 = -
4,000,001 #5 7T F 4,500,000 ¥ TC HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 1 1
3 2

TAAR AL » A S5 T A0 A0 1) T 4% S g8 A L
oK) AR — 24 SR < 2% i A 7 4 B
N5 IR 22 58 B 2 K 2 M A

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office.
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10 3ol 2 i W i 10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
B A 2 T WA 45 4% AL R 3 H R 1 Tax effects relating to each component of other
BB % comprehensive income
e S Y
2022 2021

i B % Bk BBl AR X BrBiik
Before tax ~ Tax expense Net of tax Before tax Tax expense Net of tax
AR TE  ARWTFE  ARWTT  ARETT  ARFTT  ARKTZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

11
(a)

HEDVT K THRFR)  Exchange differences on
- translation of financial
AR statements of entities with
M B ER functional currencies other

than RMB (1,860) - (1,860) (881) - (881)
R e Other comprehensive income (1,860) = (1,860) (881) - (881)
1Bt s 11 11 LOSS PER SHARE
(Y& YN (a) Basic earnings per share
o e B A Tl 4R 9 AR A AR A ) 3 A8 R i Ak The calculation of basic losses per share is based on the losses attributable to
HORE G 5 N K H1,053,851,000 00 (Z % ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of RMB1,053,851,000 (2021:
Z—fFEE 0 AR1,980,195,000 70) KA loss of RMB1,980,195,000) and the weighted average of 1,799,020,000
TN B B4 T4 R I RE ST 24 3 1,799,020,000 ordinary shares (2021: 1,799,883,000 shares) in issue during the year.

B (%~ —4F 1 1,799,883,000 %) #HH o

528 P R T Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Y S CE
2022 2021
T A
shares ‘000 shares 000
—H—H S Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,799,020 1,802,456
i I 5 10 1 7 2 Effect of shares repurchased - (2,573)

AT H = A R Weighted average number of ordinary shares at

JInAE-F- 34 8 31 December 1,799,020 1,799,883

20224 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022

199



SR BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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11 HRE#H @ 11 LOSS PER SHARE (Concinued)
(b) 5 Jht 4 4 28 ) (b) Diluted earnings per share
R 7 T 1R 2 0 A ) o A A G0 R The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of
ZATHAE R R R 2 S TE > BOR EHE the Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
o PR 2 R I 7 R B ATT (AR A D i R options was higher than the average market price for shares for both reporting
T8 2 WA HE o DR 0t > T {18 A ) 22 7 e 4 periods. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share was same as the basic
V28 ) B R B AR B R AR ] earnings per share for both periods.
12 W3k ~ B Bt i 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HELR  HERTH L HEME
WEnE  LuRET RE AR kb fmlxE ERIR it
Leasehold Land and Computers
land and hotel ~ Buildings held Motor and office Leaschold ~ Right-of-use  Construction
property for own use vehicles equipment  improvements assets in progress Total

ARETT  ARBTT  ARBTT  ARETZ  ARETZ  ARETT  ARETZ  ARKTx
RMBOO  RMBUO  RMBUO  RMBOO  RMBOW  RMBOW  RMBOW  RMBOW

WA Cost

REFZ-F=A=H  Atl Janary 2021 103,430 90,440 9924 18,640 110,955 60,624 - 304013
e Additions 132 - - 6333 51,184 23,044 - 82,082
BRARENE Transfer from investment properties 211,000 - - - - - - 211,000
BRAMEDEEDE  Trnsfer fom properties under

development for sale 26,748 - - - - - 57,641 84,395

ExEE Exchange differences - - (48 (4) - - - (72)
i Disposals - - (417 (20) - - - 7
REFZ—% At 31 December 2021 and

TZA=T-RR 1 January 2022

e S g gt 342,499 90,440 9,459 25,129 162,139 83,668 57,647 770981
e Additions 3,389 - - 8 8350 40,544 - 52,372
BRATRTR Transfer from construction in progress 57,647 - - - - - (57,647) -
bt Disposals - (14,408) 97) (250) - - - (14,755)
RZFZZE At 31 December 2022

TZA=1-H 403,535 76,032 9,362 24,968 170489 124212 = 808,598
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12 W3~ B Kt (41) 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
MELRE  BEARS L HEDE
EIE S Y £ o RARH b fmlxE RRIR &t
Leasehold Land and Computers
land and hotel ~ Buildings held Motor and office Leasehold  Right-of-use  Construction
property for own use vehicles equipment  improvements assets in progress Total

NRKTE  ARKTT ARKTT  ARETT  ARKTZ  ARETT  ARETT ARKTE
RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBWW  RMBUW  RMBOW  RMBUW  RMBUW

LEE Accumulated depreciation
AZFEZE-H=H Al January 2021 (12914) (35,646) (8,507) (10992) (48,304) (10937) - (127,300)
L Chage for the year (14777) (4417) (7124) (3,278) (13,67 (7,798) - (44,666)
ExEH Exchange differences - - 4 % - - - 72
e Disposals - - 347 17 - - - 304
REFZ—H At 31 December 2021 and

TZR=+-Bk 1 January 2022

e St @761 (40,063) (8,836 (14229) (61,976) (18,735) = (171,530)
L Chage for the year (22,368) (4416) (265) (3,065) (20,668) (13,174) - (63,956)
bt Disposals = 9212 97 249 - - - 9,558
REFZZH At 31 December 2022

FoA=T-H (50,059 (35,267) (9,004) (17,045) (82,644) (31,909) - (225,928)
WlEEH Impairment loss
REFZ— At 31 December 2021 and

FZAZT-HER 1 January 2022

CRCCE-B-H - - - - - - - -
RE Additions (25,090) - - - - - - (25,090)
i -3 At 31 December 2022
I . A ®wo SRR S S S S . @00
WA Net book value
S 3 At 31 December 2022

FoA=t-H 328,386 40,765 358 7923 87,845 92,303 - 557,580
3 St At 31 December 2021

tZAZT-H 314808 50377 623 10,900 100,163 64,933 57,647 599,451
REFZZFETZAZT—H REED As at 31 December 2022, leasehold land and hotel property and land and
ANRH51,957,00070 (ZF = —4 : AR buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB51,957,000 (2021:
55,553,000 7C) (AR & 4l B30 15 ) 2E DL Tk RMB55,553,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
3 M E AR T R AT o DA A A granted to the Group.
B THRATR SRR -

AR S ZA=ET—H o KRR The Group provided an impairment loss of a property of RMB25,090,000
— IR B A B ByRa i ERT (2021:Nil) as at 31 December 2022 based on its latest recoverable amount.
11 U9 B e 15 3 4 N TR 25,090,000 78 (Z %
) o
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13 BEWE 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(a) MR H IR (@) Reconciliation of carrying amount
LA b 8¢
REDHF BREDH o FHE ¥ At
Investment
Completed properties
investment under Right-of-use
properties development assets Total
AT ANRHTT ARWT T ARBT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
REZFZ—H—H—H  Acl January 2021 5,964,568 509,500 154,497 6,628,565
~E Additions 30,423 - - 30,423
EHAARRTEYE Transfer from uncompleted
properties for sale - 59,500 - 59,500
HREYE - BF R Transfer to property, plant,
B equipment (211,000) - - (211,000)
EE R RHEL RN Transfer to non-current assets
AL ) held for sale (318,000) - - (318,000)
i Disposals (223,502) - (42,168) (265,670)
TR g R 2 P Net change in fair value recognised
BEEE in profit or loss (1,609,930) 36,600 (24,331) (1,597,661)
I S S V| At 31 December 2021 and
EF—HRZRZTHE 1 January 2022
—H—H 3,632,559 605,600 87,998 4,326,157
NE Additions - 88,635 - 88,635
ERACR LHEYE Transfer from completed properties
for sales 6,020 - - 6,020
ik Disposals (255,219) = (2,219) (257,438)
QLY TP/ S Net change in fair value recognised
SHRE in profit or loss (149,338) 126,265 (21,017) (44,090)
RZRZZHETZA At 31 December 2022
=t—H 3,234,022 820,500 64,762 4,119,284
fiar: A F o FE++ A=+ —H o BEEY Note:  As at 31 December 2022, investment properties with carrying amount of
NE#2375,920,0007C (ZF ——4F : AR approximately RMB2,375,920,000 (2021: RMB2,477,803,000) were pledged to
52 477,803,000 7C) HY 1% G W) 2 O 1K T 41 banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

A7 o AR ARG BB 00 T SRAT R AR 1R
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(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BEWE )

I A (A A

KT

% 5 9 A S I 4R 2 IR e A e Y
SRR AT - TR AR ISR
2 5 13 55 0 T T R E 9 = R
INTAHZE 4 o A8 B 5 BB LA i 807 3% R
T 0 W A S ) T ISR B A
T A P M (T SRR 1 48 -

oA R A
e BN A O A
R T ) B
i

o R ERANE ¢ (T A A RR
(B R 58 — B o BBL 4 i A LR
Sl 4 2 B R OR AT B i A B At
BN o A AT B oA R R 1R
IR T 355 ) B A iR

o CRZBNE RAERAT B R
ARG A

13

(b)
@

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs

used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable

inputs
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13 BeEWE ) 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(b) ERATFHEF R ) (b)  Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)
(i) WS () 1) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
U BB EFZAZSTHE
R AT AR
- E?J‘ AP Fair value measurements as at
bt walite 31 December 2022 categorised into
31 December B B =%
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARW T ARW T AR T AR TT
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
B e T Recurring fair value
measurement
H i Py Mainland China:
LE3/ES — Commercial properties 4,052,652 - - 4,052,652
—{FH; — Car park 1,870 - - 1,870
—fE G — Right-of-use assets 64,762 - - 64,762
#at Total 4,119,284 = = 4,119,284
P BB AS R
R—R— AN =N v
‘ AT RSB
+-A=+—H
1A T Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2021 categorised into
31 December B8 B =M
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBEFIL ARBF AR#HFI AR¥TT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
S YN Recurring fair value
measurement
TR A Mainland China:
—-THEWE — Commercial properties 4,180,300 - - 4,180,300
—{FH — Car park 57,859 - - 57,859
—fE A E — Right-of-use assets 87,998 - - 87,998
A5t Total 4,326,157 - - 4,326,157
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BEWE )
WM A VAR & (47)
ATFAESE (47)

RE B ER B ET A
Sf - HRAERE o SEE  G 2 B
TR T S N A S - A4
54 2 (2 40 2 T s B 8 0 4
22 1 e R M o

AREBMPRTAC R THREYE - MR
B ERMFRAEEEYNCOR T F
TAZ T HETEA o fh{E T i Y
AR A R A A (T35 ) (— & W
T A AL E AR A R > 74 A (E T
AT AT B AR B ) AT o B4 P B AR
o BT AN (I > AR R O A
B e i £ (1B B A (L5 SR o

13

(b)
@

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s completed investment properties, investment properties
under development and right-of-use assets were revalued as at 31 December
2022. The valuations were carried out by CHFT Advisory And Appraisal
Led. (“CHFT”), a firm of independent qualified valuers in Hong Kong with
relevant experience in the valuation of properties. The Group’s directors have
discussion with the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting

date.
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13 BHEWE @ 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(b) PERAFEE R ) (b)  Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)
(i1) H R E=RA T 7R E R (ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
ES Bl AFEES  Ek EARTREH AL AT RS ABGEER AT BB AR S A P B iR
Property Fair value Valuation Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable
category hierarchy techniques unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
CRISENE  WEME =4 BRI e 880059950 (ZFZ—F: EWEHEAR  ATHEER
(NRHTL/FIK) R 5,758 £ 100,700)
Completed investment ~ Commercial Level 3 Direct comparison Adjusted market price 8,800 ©0 99,500 The higher the adjusted market pric,
properties properties (RMBJsquare meter), and (2021: 5,758 10 100,700) the higher the fair value
Flng 0% % 65% (ZF - BARBAE ATERR
0% £65%))
Level adjustment 0% t0 65% The lower the level adjustment,
(2021: 0% to 65%) the higher the fair value
H24 A EE(LER o Een (“FEanFer)  WALILRER ATEEE
Level 3 Income method Capitalisation rate, and 4% 10 6% The higher the capitalisation rate,
(2021: 4% t0 6%) the lower the fair value
BHAHARYL/THk) 2216232 —-F 0% BHEARES ATHES
Daily unit rent 20016 The higher the daily unit rent,
(RMBJsquate meter) (2021: 2t 16) the higher the fair value
2 =4 iR HRETE BOOES5000(“FZ—F: BREMERE  ATHER
(AR /Feikfi) 63,000 % 361,000)
Car park Level 3 Direct comparison Adjusted market price 28,000 t0395,000 The higher the adjusted market price,
(RMB/per car park) (2021: 68,000 to 361,000) the higher the fair value
b SRR LB Rkl HRETE 200E1650(CF -~ EREHERS ATEER
(NRHTL/FHK) 12500 £ 16000)
Investment properties Level 3 Residual approach Adjusted market price (RMB/ 12,200 t0 16,500 The higher the adjusted market price,
under development square meter) (2021: 12,500 to 16,000) the higher the fair value
BHAA ARMT/ TR ses1Es0m (CF—F:  BHAAME ATHEER
5,350 £8756)
Budgeted cost 5,031 t0 8,927 The higher the budgeted cost,
(RMB/square meter) (2021:5,350 to 8,756) the lower the fair value
BR SR R 10% £20% (“F -~ B ST B
10% % 20%) it
Anticipated developer's profic 10% t0 20% The higher the anticipated developer's
margin (2021:10% to 20%) profit margin, the lower the fair value
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BEWE @)
WM A& (4)
B = L TG B EH ()

ES bl AFEES S
Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
EHERE Lik/Ed =8 o83
Right-of-use assets Sub-leased Level 3 Income method
properties

CR TREMEN A FEIE2E TG
) 3 1 T 555 2 G ok ) ) 8 (A1 L T
E) > LEALIR A B AR S5 &
(R B A 2R3 5 I S 18
S ATE ) (AN ) 1 i 5 o

b 8% T BUE W S AP E T RS B R
W EHTSOL M E R RIEREEA R
wh AR~ BEON A LA S B B 1 T R
153 tH % TS SF A (% %5 Bk R e A B
(Herp L 4%) TR 52 TG DU ot B 30 0H H il
S A L By DA B T 3 B TR B £l
6 00 S A () T 2

O8O R P (EL ) 2 0 R T e o
Sl B0 2 S B A R S LAY B 0 R
EATRE B BEE < fHE M2 E & A EE
REAL R S AR - B A RE B R 2
R R R BT I o AP (ERHE
AR 2R E > SE AL R R A
MBLAR 2 AR -

BB N TE IR AR SRR [
BR[| H PR -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

EAATEES LR AT RS ABGEER AT BB AR S A P B iR

Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable

unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

EAfb® 65%£675% (“F -~ HAR R A FER(E
6.5%£675%)

Capitalisation rate 0.5% t06.75% The higher the capitalisation rate,

(2021: 6.5% t0 6.75%) the lower the fair value

BHARARRET/FhK) 150C%0—8 150 BROEEE ATEES
Daily unit rent lwol? The higher the daily unit ren,
(RMBIsquare meter) (2021: 1t 17) the higher the fair value

The fair value of completed investment properties is determined by making
reference to the market transactions or asking evidence, as the case may be, of
comparable properties, and on the basis of capitalisation of the rental income
derived from existing tenancies or market rental with due allowance for

reversionary income potential of the properties, where appropriate.

The fair value of investment properties under development is determined
by making reference to the current or recent prices of similar properties and
estimated costs to completion based on construction budget, committed
contracts, allowances for contingencies as well as developer’s profit margin,
which reflect the risks in relation to, inter alia, the completion of the
construction and marketability of proposed development, and in achieving

the anticipated income or capital appreciation on the date of valuation.

The fair value of right-of-use assets is determined by discounting a projected
cash flow series associated with the assets using risk-adjusted discount rates.
The valuation takes into account capitalisation rate and rental rate of the
respective assets. The discount rates used have been adjusted for the quality
and location. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the rental
rate, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate and risk-adjusted

discount rate.
Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item

“changes in fair value of investment properties” on the face of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 BEWE ) 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
© fEHHEEE (c) Right-of-use assets
e R 2 4 v £k R E P R T The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying
BESHWT asset is as follows:
R TR
+=A=+—H +-A=t+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
ANRWTF T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
&R K H A Other properties leased for own use, carried at
(DA B AR B (W 5E) depreciated cost (Note) 92,303 64,933
RGN T4 10 2 M Ownership interests in leasehold investment
THEBE Y E T A HERE & property, carried at fair value, with remaining
($2 N T B HR) lease term of between 4 to 10 years 64,762 87,998
157,065 152,931
B < A A ] O i AL B T A 15 £ LA 3 Note: The Group has obtained the right to use of other properties through tenancy
DA 80 0 9 BE ) o PSR B A5 B 8 agreements to operate hotels. The leases typically run for an initial period of 8 to
F 1S ME MR 1 2 3 FHM— 15 years. Lease payments are usually increased every 1 to 3 years to reflect market
PR Wi 5 4 o rentals.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

I REE E () (c) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
B PR E A BMENEE 2 The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss
i is as follows:
TR TR
2022 2021
ANRET T ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
A G B A R Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
B4 1 5 DR O 9T B B S by class of other properties leased for own use 13,174 7,798
A S5 B ) 8 P Fair value change of right-of-use assets
A INUASRIE -3 ) by class of investment property 21,017 24,331
34,191 32,129
HEABMNE (B3 ow) Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 12,334 14,840
E. i COVID-19 H B il 45 (8 5 COVID-19-related rent concessions received 9,885 -
A7 BRREL R B 4 U o AR L B AR B B 0y Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease

T B RE ARG 23 B B 5 24(d) J 27 -

liabilities are set out in notes 24(d) and 27, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 $EWE @ 13

d BEWHE G
AEERESSHENHEREYE - HE
RO BN ESE - RSN @ 51
O AERI— WK > DU BT

TR H > AR SR IR R A0 T HE i A
AR A AL LIRS A R 4 BUR B 3m

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The leases

typically run for an initial period of 1 to 5 years. Lease payments are usually

increased every 1 to 2 years to reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place

at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods as

N follows:
SR e b
2022 2021
AR#Fi AR BT
RMB'000 RMB'000
—E R Within 1 year 180,733 185,985
—EHREHER After 1 year but within 5 years 247,194 296,598
TR After 5 years 42,515 51,046
470,442 533,629
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14

TRERS] ERHAEEPN —F 4
T A=+ HIER - BE R A RE
B FIRENS o BRIE DA B4R A
P 4 0 5 I

AR

Name of company

SRERARLT

pe=ii]

Golden Wheel Jade Company

Limited

SRNIKARAR
Golden Wheel Pearl Company

Limited

SRRAOHRA

Golden Wheel Diamond Company

Limited

SRANARLT
Golden Wheel Jewel Company

Limited

SRKRARAR
Golden Wheel Crystal Company

Limited

SRIARLA
Golden Wheel Amber Company

Limited

SRETHRAT
Golden Wheel Tourmaline
Company Limited

Ak bR B A

Place of incorporation

and business

ERRARE
(BELRE])
British Virgin Islands

(BVI)
ERRLHE

BVI

FREAHE
BVI

EREARE
BVI

FRELHE
BVI

FREAHE
BVI

EREARE
BVI

FHEREA

Form of business

structure

ARRELA

Limited liability

company

HRAEIERA
Limited liability

company

AREIELA
Limited liability

company

ARFHEAT
Limited liability

company

HRAEIERA
Limited liabiity

company

HREELA
Limited liabilicy

company

HRAMELA
Limited liability

company

o A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which

principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31

December 2022. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

ERTRAERA
RfgH@H

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debt securities

1 £

Uss1

1 £
US$1

1 £
Uss1

1 £
Uss1

3
Uss1

1 £
Uss1

1 £
US§1

AR
FriEdi
Held
bya

subsidiary

AR
Proportion of ownership interest
ARE kA
BhlEs A
Group's Held
effective by the
interest ~ Company
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
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Principal

activities

il

Investment holding

il

Investment holding

BEHR

Investment holding

il

Tnvestment holding

i

Investment holding

il

Investment holding

i

Tnvestment holding
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 MBAFAZ8E ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRI RARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR JUTT v HEEE R FEE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities

SRATARLA FREAHE HRRELA £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Opal Company BVI Limited liability Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRAEARLT EREARE HRAEAT ESTH 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Ruby Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRAHARL FREAHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER

Golden Wheel Emerald Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRETARLT FREAHE ARRELA £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Sapphie Company ~ BVI Limited liabilicy Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRREARLT EREARE HRAELA 1ETL 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Jasper Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRREARLA FRELHE AREELR 1R 100% 100% - BEER

Golden Wheel Treasure Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SRATARAA EREAME ARFELA £ 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Trinity Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company

SREBARLT ERRLHE HRREAA ESTH 100% 100% - REER

Golden Wheel Enamel Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
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AR

Name of company

SRARARA
Golden Wheel Liuli Company

Limited

SRNRARAR
Golden Wheel Bright Jade

Company Limited

BEARAA
Winning Year Company Limited

SR EARLA
Golden Wheel Jumbo Company

Limited

ERABREARAR
Golden Wheel International

Investment Limited

EREBRELARAF
Golden Wheel International

Corporation Limited

SRERARARAA
Golden Wheel International

Creation Company Limited

SRARAEHRAA
Golden Wheel International Capital
Company Limited

At R A

Place of incorporation

and business

FREAHE
BVI

EREARE
BVI

FREAHE
BVI

FRELAHE
BVI

Fib
Hong Kong

Fik
Hong Kong

Fit
Hong Kong

Fib
Hong Kong

14

Form of business

structure

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HRREAA
Limited liability

company

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HREELT
Limited liabilicy

company

HRRIEAA
Limited liability

company

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HREELT
Limited liability

company

HRRIEAA
Limited liability

company

o A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRI RARRA ARE KA WEAR

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

REH R EBiES  BRE BiNE FEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held

and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities

£ 100% 100% - BERR

US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
1£7 100% 100% - RERR

US$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
10070 100% - 009  BERER
US§100 100% - 100%  Investment holding
1£7 100% 100% - BERR

Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
100,000,000 72 100% - 1009 HEER
HK$100,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
48,000,008 ¢ 100% - 009  BEER
HK$48,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
30,000,000 10 100% - 100%  BERER
HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
30,000,000 ¢ 100% - 1009 HEER
HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 MBAFAZ8E ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRI RARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR JUTT v HEEE R FEE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  activities
SRERAEARAR wik HRRELA 10,000,000 72 100% - 00 BEER
Golden Wheel International Billion ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARARHRLRA B HRREAA 10,000,000 & 100% - 100%  fEER

Golden Wheel International Wealth ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARAEARAA Fib HRAELH 10,000,000 100% - 0% REER

Golden Wheel Incernational Trend  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRERASHRAR Fik ARFIELH 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% BERR

Golden Wheel Incernational Success  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARARARLA Bk HRAELA 10,000,000 7 100% - 0% SEER

Golden Wheel International Glory ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company

SRERATHRAA Fib HRAIELH 10,000,000 ¢ 100% - 0% SEER

Golden Wheel Incernational Idea ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company

SREREFARAR Fik ARFIELR 10,000,000 72 100% - 00 BERR

Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Innovation Company Limited company

SRARASHRAA Bk HRREAA 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% SEER

Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Harvest Limited company
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14 MBAFAZ8E ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

CRTRAERA ARE  AAA WEAR

Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
SRERAEARAR wik ARAIELH 10,000,000 T2 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Merit ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRERAGHRAR Bk HRRELA 10,000,000 T2 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Inherit  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRARALHRAA Bt HRRIEAA 10,000,000 7 100% - 0% SEER
Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  lvestment holding
Wisdom Company Limited company
SRERAEARARA Fik ARFIELH 10,000,000 72 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Excellent Limited company
ARARLA Fik HRRELA 1ET 100% - 0% FHRERE
Success Seeker Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HKS$1 100% - 100%  Property development
company
HRFRERERARAA: AR P EEE 14950000 % T 100% - 100%  FRERERGERS
Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty  The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  US$14,950,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Company Limited property leasing
R ER i B 2000000%7C 100% - 0% FHERERYEHE
HRAR
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate  The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ US$$2,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. property leasing enterprise
PNERERERS il P E DK 13,000,000 ¢ 100% - 100%  FHERE
ARAT
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  US$13,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Estate Development Co., Ltd.
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14 KB A Z 8% ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continucd)
AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE AN WEAR
Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA JUUT vl RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
HHeBEEERARAA R ARERELEAD  ARM 000007 100% - 0% FEREERER
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business ~ The PRC Domestic limited liabilicy -~ RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Property operation
Management Co., Led. company
HRERFEHERS il EEELRFE 6,130000% T 100% - 00 FRERERYELE
HRAR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate  The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  US§6,130,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. enterprise property leasing
HRNKEREEARAA SEBELRE 2000000 % TC 100% - 0% FHEREREERE
Nanjing Pearl Golden Wheel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  U$§2,000,000 100% - 100%  Property Development and
Realty Co., Ltd. enterprise hotel operation
ERHEERMEREARELE ARARFELT  ARH200000007 100% - 00 FHRERE
Ik
Nanjing Metro Real Estate The PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Investment Co., Led. company
BRKRERERARMAA K EBELE NEH5,0000007C 100% - 0% FHERE
Nanjing Crystal Golden Wheel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Realty Co., Ltd. enterprise
HAL RN EERRR i PHEELE AR 320000007C 100% - 0% HEHE
HRAR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Business ~ The PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  RMB32,000,000 100% - 100%  Property leasing
Management Co., Ltd.
RUCBERNEARAA: R ARERELELT  ARHS,0000007 100% - 0% FEEEE
Changsha Golden Wheel Xinghao ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMBS,000,000 100% - 100%  Hotel operation company
Hotel Co., Led. liability
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N

4

Name of company

#

ERDEERERARAT

REAEREXARAT
Nanjing Sapphie Golden Wheel

Real Estate Co., Led.

Nanjing Jumbo Golden Wheel

HRAEERERARAT
Nanjing Ruby Golden Wheel Real

Iy

W

PNBRERERARAT

Yangzhou Sufangtou Real Estate

REES U

Realty Company Limited

Estate Co., Ltd.
B R E R
FRAAx

uxi Yizhong Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd.

Mz 1)

Co., Ltd. (Note 1)

B A R+

Yangzhou Economic &

RUSRERERARAA

Technological Development Zone
Golden Wheel Sing Yuet Hotel

Management Co., Ltd.

Changsha Jade Golden Wheel

Realty Company Limited

Ak B A

Place of incorporation

and business

il
The PRC

G
The PRC

i
The PRC

i

The PRC

hE

The PRC

G

The PRC

el
The PRC

R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Form of business

structure

b B

Sino-foreign joint venture

P EAEE

Sino-foreign joint venture

P REE

Sino-foreign joint venture

SEBELE

Wholly-foreign invested

ARAREEAR

Domestic limited liability

company

B A ATRE A

Domestic limited liability

company

IBELE
Wholly-foreign invested

enterprise

BLGYE N
BB b
Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital
and debt securities
20,000,000 7
RMB20,000,000

B 500,000,000 1
RMB500,000,000

820,000,000
RMB20,000,000

NEH230,000,000 1

RMB230,000,000

820,000,000

RMB20,000,000

AR 15,000,000 7

RMB5,000,000

5,000,000 T
USD3,000,000

AL I

Proportion of ownership interest
ARE AN WEAR
HhEE  BHE RE
Group’s Held Held
effective by the bya
interest ~ Company  subsidiary
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
88% - 88%
88% - 88%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
32.64% - 32.04%
32.64% - 32.64%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
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FEEH

Principal

activities
FHERS

Property development

FHERE

Property development

FHERE

Property development

FHERS

Property development

enterprise

FHER%

Property development

WEEE

Hotel operation

FHERE

Property development

217



SR BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 MBAFAZ8E ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

CRTRAERA ARE  AAA WEAR

Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA JUUT vl RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal

Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities

EHERFAERRAR b SEBELRE 6,000,000% 72 100.00% - w000 BHERERMERE
il

Wuxi Golden Wheel Real Estate ~ The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USD6,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. enterprise property leasing

ERERAETEREAR  PE EELE 2000000 % TC 100.00% - l000%  BEER
aL

Nanjing Chuanghui Golden The PRC Wholly-foreign invested  USD2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Investment Holding
Business management Co., Ltd. enterprise

SRIMEERERARAD B HRAIELH 1ETL 100.00% - l0000%  FREEFER

Golden Wheel Commercial Hong Kong Limited liability HKS$1 100.00% - 100.00%  Property operation
Management Holdings Limited. company

HWEREBERARAA  WH HEBEDE KEH20000007  10000% - l000%  BHERE

Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty ~ The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB20,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Company Limited enterprise

ESERARNEERAR  TE ARHRAL NRHELO000TT  10000% - 000w HERE
et

Wuxi Chuanghui Golden Business ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMB1,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing
Management Co., Ltd liability

EREREHEEARAD . H Ak AREL NEHES 0000007 100.00% - l000% BEEE

Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingzhi The PRC Domestic limited RMBS,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Ltd. liability

HRERENIRARAA: R AAREL NBH1,0000007C 100.00% - l000%  WEEE

Nanjing Xinghao Decoration The PRC Domestic limited RMB,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property decoration
Engineering Co., Ltd. liability
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R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 KB A Z 8% ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continucd)
AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE AN WEAR
Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
HRAHERERARAT  hH P EEE AR 200000007 10000% - l000%  BHERE
Nanjing Emerald Golden Wheel The PRC Sino-foreign joint vencure  RMB20,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Real Estate Co., Led.
HREREEERARAT  hH BB 2000000%7C 100.00% - 000 BERR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Hotel The PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USD2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Investment Holding
Management Co., Ltd. enterprise
EHFRRERARAD A REL KRB 20000000 10000% - 0000 BHERE
Wauxi Jade Golden Wheel Realty ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMB20,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Company Limited liability
EHRATERRARLA PR AR RALE ARH3000000 60,00 - G0 HERE
Wuxi Metro Business Development ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMB30,000,000 00.00% - 00.00%  Property leasing
Company Limited liability
ERERERNEEAAR  HE AR RAL NRHELO000TT — 10000% - l000%  HEME
ik
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingda The PRC Domestic limited RMBT,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing
Business Management Co., Led. liability
HREEREERARLA BAAREL NEH1,0000007 100.00% - loooos  HEEE
Nanjing Jinyi Business The PRC Domestic limited RMB,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing
Management Co., Ltd. liability
EREBERAEARAA K AR KA NEH 2,000,000 T 100.00% - loo00%  EEER
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xinghao ~ The PRC Domestic limited RMB2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Led. liability
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SR BB R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 MBAFAZ8E ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

CRTRAERA ARE  AAA WEAR

Ai4H AR REERS  REERDRA RfgH@ERHE RS FHE R TEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya  Principal
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary activities
EREEREERARLA R RmEREL NEHE 1,000,000 100.00% - w000 BHEEEEH
Nanjing Tourmaline Business The PRC Domestic limited RMBI,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property operation
Management Company Limited liability
TEHEERHRAR il AR RAL NRH 2000000 37.00% -y RRERE
(WE1)
Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate The PRC Domestic limited RMB20,000,000 37.00% - 37.00%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (Note 1) liability
* IR NGNS S T A /N * The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their
A E AR By 3 o official names are in Chinese.
BEGE 1 R%ECHE AR PR Wk A MRS B A R Note 1:  The entity is accounted for as a subsidiary as in accordance with the investment
ERE Hernfg SEE R R B S B o agreement. The board of directors of the entity can direct the relevant activities
MR ALE T ZEZEME RGP LY of the entity. Since the Group is able to appoint more than half of the directors in
DIFREE IAEREER AL the board of the entity, the directors of the Group consider that the Group is able
V] il ) S T AT {42 o o to exercise control to the entity.
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R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

TR 88 4 v I A 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
T REES T RS A RS - KA The following list contains only the particulars of material associates, all
RO TAEFZH = R TG R of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not
B EHARIESE available as at 31 December 2022:

AL I

Proportion of ownership interest

AR kER kAT WEAT

Wandak FHRREA AN ESES (RRW)  HREE  FEE A TERE
Group's Held by
Form of business Place of incorporation Registered capital ~ effective the Held by

Name of associate structure and business (RMB) interest ~ Company asubsidiary  Principal activity

BRAERAERRARAR:  RAERAELA  hH WHET 5% - 5% FHERE K1)
(T8

Nanjing Ruiyu Real Estate Development Domestic limited liabilicy ~ The PRC 20 million 5% - 25%  Property development
Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Ruiyu’) company (Note 1)

FNHRFAERRARMAT PARELE Gl NEEL  BRB% - Bye BHERE I
(T )

Changzhou Peiling Real Estate Sino-foreign joint venture  The PRC 20 million 13.33% - 13.33%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
(“Changzhou Peiling’)

THRERTRRRGARAA ARARAMELT  HE L0 & 187% - 18% SRR (3E3)
(RLH R )

Jiangsu Realty Tnvestment Urban Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC 1,000 million 18% - 18%  Investment holding (Note 3)
Development Co., Ltd. company

(‘Jiangsu Fangtou”)

BZEBROERARAD  BRARKELT 9K S0F BT 10% - 107 FHERS ()
(MEZEHR )

Lianyungang Sufangtou Realty Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC 50 million 10% - 10%  Property development
Investment Co., Ltd. company (Note 4)
(‘Lianyungang Sufangtou”)

TR ERAR A ARARALELT  hHE WHET 37% - s RERE (i)
(AR )

Jiangsu Shangqing Real Estate Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC 20 million 37% - 37%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. company (Note 5)

(‘Jiangsu Shangqing”)
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o 1 A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 BB AW MKRER 2 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

BEATLR EHERER Eal AN EES L
Form of business Place of incorporation
Name of associate structure and business

BZECBREAERRARLT: BRARKELT  9H
(EZEeH)

Lianyungang Golden wheel Real Estate  Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC
Development Co., Led. company

(‘Lianyungang Golden Wheel’)

. FRAAME A TELSE - % :
A TRIIER 4T -
CHIES St S0 RE S 1 EE P e Nore &

P 37 o = 7 SR L R B ) HLE
& N R 5,000,000 7C Sl £ A 259 B HE o
T S A P R BT B A R B AT A D
T IE e BB 0 - M R 2
T S0 L B S A

(TR Sl ok S g SIS S F SR Note 2:

208 5 = 0y T T 1
B AR % 100,000,000 75 3 3% A 13.33%
R HE o AR H MR ER G &
E—%#EH Wt AEMEERHA
S5 B RN A ERGE ) o WO
VR P BT A IR AT A A e
J5 o 7 BR R S HS WO T C R WO
WEFEERRER R % R
IR AT ZIEE o i ZF = — 4 H M
MM E AN D EANRB20H ST -

BN 1
Proportion of ownership interest
AR KEM RAT WEAR
(NRW)  HREE  FRE REE EERE
Group's Held by

Registered capital ~ effective the Held by

(RMB) interest ~ Company ~ asubsidiary  Principal activity

EL Y 20% - i FHERE (o)
50 million 2% - 20%  Property development
(Note 6)

The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their

official names are in Chinese.

In October 2017, Nanjing Ruiyu was established by the Group and other three
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMBS5,000,000 and has a 25% equity interest. Nanjing Ruiyu is a limited
liability company established in PRC and engaged in property development. In
2022, Nanjing Ruiyu has almost completed delivery of project in Nanjing, PRC.

In December 2017, Changzhou Peiling was established by the Group and
other two independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB100,000,000 and has a 13.33% equity interest. The Group
is able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Changzhou Peiling and
therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Changzhou Peiling. Changzhou Peiling is a limited liability
company established in PRC and engaged in property development. Changzhou
Peiling has completed the construction of its property development project in
Changzhou and commenced delivery of project in 2020. In 2021, Changzhou
Peiling reduced its capital to RMB20 million.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 RIBE A v Wk )

B &k s

B 5E4 -

Bf5Es -

Wifte :

LA BT A B

WZZE—UFENA > REBB R I A
T SL A = BSL T RE S 4% > A 4 ) i 1
& AR #36,000,000 7C 3 £ 4 18% K
o AREMAHNIHERNEREGF
T AEF WL AEMEHD A
AREEBLEERA KRS - TR
[ 45 B — R m B R ST A B4 A PR AT
AR REFWERE - T —JUE
TLRR G5 3500 ob B 45 N 4% 5 5 ot 7S ) % 0
Ho i ZZRE IREREREF
B A — {8 5 B 0B B R A B
EUE A 28 5 b PR AR TE o YRR 41
BN ER Y ERSIHE N F
T BRFHARENDER -

R AR A > AR (] B A U 47
AL = ML E R Hh A
S B R 5,000,000 78 K A 10%
T A o A A2 A 0 O R R AR
FERMT—4EF MALEERRA
AL BRI ERLE
S R S B A vl S B 4 A BR
EEAj m$ﬂﬁﬁF%%%ﬁ it
—AE S HEBHREREE T P
E@m @Fmé%%ﬁa

TLER 905 LR ZFE A NH o R 2
T A REBERE AR
7,400,000 7G J¢ HE 17 37% M HE o Y8R 1 3
P& T I — (1 B

WoFE R AEERS —ZH
b 185 57 58 = 05 BT A o AN
T R ¥ 14,000,000 7 K A 709 i
HE o AL M MR —F ——F LA
B 200 REBHE BB AR
10,000,000 TG © & —F ~—4F HEE S
ARG T — R b B
JEH -

i {5 PR £ 5 T A AR B

Bk o

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

In September 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou was established by the Group and other five
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB36,000,000 and has a 18% equity interest. The Group is able to appoint
a director in the board of directors of Jiangsu Fangtou and therefore the directors
of the Group consider that the Group has significant influence over Jiangsu
Fangtou. Jiangsu Fangtou is a company limited by shares established in PRC and
engaged in property investment. In 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou invested a property
development project in Yangzhou, PRC. In 2020, Jiangsu Fangtou invested a
property development project in Nanjing, PRC, and 2 properties development
projects in Lianyungang, PRC. The property development project invested by
Jiangsu Fangtou in Yangzhou was completed in 2022 and almost all properties

are sold.

In August 2020, Lianyungang Sufangtou was established by the Group and
other four independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB5,000,000 and has a 10% equity interest. The Group is
able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Lianyungang Sufangtou
and therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Lianyungang Sufangtou. Lianyungang Sufangtou is a company
limited by shares established in PRC and engaged in property investment. In
2021, Lianyungang Sufangtou has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

Jiangsu Shangqing was established in August 2020. In December 2021, The
Group injected capital contribution of RMB7,400,000 and has a 37% equity
interest. Jiangsu Shangqing has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

Lianyungang Golden Wheel was established the Group and the other third
party in May 2021. The Group injected capital contribution of RMB14,000,000
and has a 70% equity interest. The Group’s equity interests changed to
20% in September 2021 and the actual amount of capital contribution was
RMB10,000,000. In 2021, Lianyungang Golden wheel has invested a property
development project in Lianyungang, PRC.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.
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SR B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 RBE A RHESR @) 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
B & R BOR M AT ] 22 BAE I 2 R Summarised financial information of the material associate, Changzhou
W g 28 m) (N Tt W I TL R % 40 1Y B Peiling and Jiangsu Fangtou adjusted for any differences in accounting
LML B B S SR % A ) B T ) policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
IR T - statements, are disclosed below:
W i v
Changzhou Peiling
—E - N
2022 2021
AR¥FT ANRBF T
RMB’000 RMB000
Wi o W) MR 1 4L Gross amounts of the associate’s
TE Current assets 253,144 290,133
I iy G Non-current assets 476 3,600
e N=K Current liabilities (43,821) (115,309)
W45 Equity (209,799) (178,424)
& Revenue 21,016 13,263
5 48 45 2 Uik ) / (E5148) Profits/(losses) from continuing operations 31,376 (10,292)
417 45 AR R Total comprehensive income 31,376 (10,292)

AR [ T A v IO RE 25 SR Reconciled to the Group’s interests in
p

the associate

T ) V(L 1Y G T (L Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 209,799 178,424
AN A R 25 Group’s effective interest 13.33% 13.33%
A SR B AL B A AL ) B TR E Group’s share of net assets of the associate 27,973 23,790
& B R R Z IR A Carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements 27,973 23,790
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R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 RBEAE MR ) 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Jiangsu Fangtou

- Y- N S

2022 2021

ANRWFr AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Tt 2 ) MR T A Gross amounts of the associate’s

MEEE Current assets 173,855 173,501
I E) A Non-current assets 25,000 25,505
E A fE Current liabilities 4) 4)
R4 Equity (198,851) (199,002)
i 45 Revenue _ _
A AR T 1R Losses from continuing operations (151) (49)
2T W 4 ARAE Total comprehensive income (151) (49)

S A [ 7 g ) B AE 25 R Reconciled to the Group’s interests in

the associate

Voo ) I V(L 7 MR 1 L Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 199,851 199,002
AR E E R A Group’s effective interest 18% 18%
AR B JRE A W A R I S R (E Group’s share of net assets of the associate 35,793 35,820
TP ot B B B A 2 R v Carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements 35,793 35,820

20224 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022 225



o 1 A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 TR A vl W HER (2) 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Concinued)
A 7 3 B R Mg 2 ) A BE AR Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:
2k | -~z
2022 2021
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SR BB ER A A JEE R Aggregate carrying amount of individually
W85 ) 1 O v 4 immaterial associates in the consolidated
financial statements 31,381 15,392
AR B A 5% S e 0 R AR Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of those associates’
FE AR A8 8 JE T i | Profits from continuing operations 8,590 13,326
W 8 — [ e o 2 m) s 48 (Bt 37) Losses on acquisition of one subsidiary (Note 37) (4,034) -
2T i R AR Total comprehensive income 4,556 13,326
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T8 A SR AR
UF T AEME =% - —F A=t
IS B S B R » 2 3 (0

o A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

MR IRFT A SR A B R A
fRLELR EHEREA
Form of business

Name of joint venture structure

BESRMHA R - HREMEL
(TS aA )

Powetlong Golden Wheel Coral Limited liability
Company Limited* (‘Powerlong company
Golden Wheel Coral’)

BReRABABERAR  EREELA
(e WA AE )

Powelong Golden Wheel Limited liability
International Famous Limited* company
(‘Powerlong Golden Wheel
Famous”)

PNEREREXARAA:  AWRELX

(MM e smsREE R )
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong
Realty Co., Led.* (*Yangzhou
Golden Wheel Powerlong

Realty’)

BN B B R TR 7+
(T et )

Yangzhou Jiashiwei Construction
Development Limited*
(“Yangzhou Jiashiwei")

SRARBEARAR
1275 1)

Jin Gang Corporation Investments
Company Limited*
(*Jin Gang Corporation”)

Wholly-foreign invested
enterprise

B ETRE (A

Domestic limited liability
company

HRRELA

Limited liability
company

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures 31 December 2022, which
is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements, are as follows:

B ARG ke

Proportion of ownership interest

AEE AN WEAR
LA EES alEA  REEE R B TR
Group's Held Held
Place of incotporation effective by the bya
and business Registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
ERE LN 00007 9% 49% - BRER (D
E3 13l
British Virgin Islands US$50 thousand 49% 49% - Investment holding (Note 1)
('BVI)
Ei WAKET 495 - doge BEEEAR (M)
Hong Kong HK$10 million 49% - 49%  Investment holding (Note 1)
Gl 61 EET 4ot - don FAERE (i)
the PRC US$61 million 49% - 49%  Property development
(Note 1)
i IS AU v 0% - i FHRERE ()
the PRC RMB140 million 20% - 20%  Property development
(Note 2)
&b NS0BT 55.56% - st BEERBES)
Hong Kong HKS$11,250 53.56% - 59.56%  Investment holding (Note 3)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

16 REBEENHER @)

* LA AR RS ATEEN S E - HEW
3L T IE A A o

Wfpkr: R _F R F DT A
=ob B ARG AT B b M B
499 WA A% - T T RE A 4 0 ) 5
HE AR R AR sE  TTE BEe A
SEEREAT P 4 0 B HE R A R AR IR (R
A (SR ) -

AR A S B o o I 4 P o R 4
By —wT#Jr e B AR ELS
SEL S 35 41 1 S5 (o] i 2 AR B ) o AR
ST B LR F5 A ERIRE R 50 — TR Tr 2
— B0 A o A o B SE I T AR S £
ARz BERE-

TR ECCERE St
=b B ARG B A M A TR 209
4 B HE o AR 7 A S B o 4 M
R A T B AT 4 7 SR R R
LS L N 3 1 S [ 2 A
I 45 B o A 4 e [R]  A£ HE O
FM AT #9972 — B o B B
BT ARSI B A SR B 2 B A o

Wpks: R oF D AE R F D+ A
=R AEERA S B Ss.56%
I B E o ARE R e R VLR
P A S B R A T 7 SR R R
BB S B LW T M MBS
) 5 AR A W B R R g A7 2 R ) A
AR 2 —BA B e Wt e 3L E Y
ARII A LR 2 B8R -

16

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

*

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their

official names are in Chinese.

At 31 December 2022and 2021, the Group holds 49% of the equity investments
of Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral, which holds 100% interests in Powerlong
Golden Wheel Famous and which in turn holds 100% equity interests in
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong Realty (collectively referred to as the “Coral
Group”).

Under the joint venture agreement, the Coral Group is jointly controlled by
the Group and the other party because the relevant activity affecting its returns
from its involvement with the Coral Group requires the unanimous consent of
the Group and other party sharing the control. Therefore the Coral Group is

accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group holds 20% of the equity interests
of Yangzhou Jiashiwei. Under the joint venture agreement, Yangzhou Jiashiwei
is jointly controlled by the Group and other parties because the relevant activity
affecting its returns from its involvement with the Yangzhou Jiashiwei requires
the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

Therefore, Yangzhou Jiashiwei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group holds 55.56% of the equity interests
of Jingang corporation. Under the joint venture agreement, Jingang corporation
is jointly controlled by the Group and other parties because the relevant activity
affecting its returns from its involvement with the Jingang corporation requires
the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

Therefore, Jingang corporation is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BE1F R R 2 2 AN B 51 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

16 REBEENHER @) 16

LB IR A A o 22 510 o 8 2 3
T 1 A RO SRR B R IR

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Coral Group, adjusted for any differences

in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the

{2 #IRPEH W consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
R TR
2022 2021
AR T ANRWT 7T
RMB’000 RMB000
381 45 1 A A Gross amounts of Coral Group
BB Current assets 463,333 611,635
e G E Non-current assets 673,000 705,000
E) A fH Current liabilities (81,692) (230,280)
EIEN=K i Non-current liabilicies (253,220) (273,220)
HE 45 Equity (801,421) (813,135)
bt EE KA G Included in the above assets and liabilities:
HeRE&%5EY Cash and cash equivalents 3,653 10,167
FRBEEAE AEE S K Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade
JFC A B A BRI DA B M) and other payables and provisions) (165,000) (185,000)
& Revenue 67,184 112,019
PR (1) (Losses)/profits from continuing operations (11,712) 20,545
N (ER) /i A (Losses)/profits for the year (11,712) 20,545
2T 5 AR Total comprehensive income (11,712) 20,545
B 74 % [ 77 S0 4 T 5 MR Reconciled to the Group’s interest in
Coral Group
88 4 1B I AR Gross amounts of Coral Group net assets 801,421 813,135
N =g e Group’s effective interest 49% 49%
752 T B A W A ) O E (L Group’s share of net assets of the associate 392,696 398,436
755 B HE 4 R T Carrying amount of the Group’s interests 392,696 398,436
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16

R BEENRELR )
{590 96 95 A S A R

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material:

R TR
2022 2021
AR ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
SR BB ER A A JEE R Aggregate carrying amount of individually
BB A FE R IR T AEE immaterial joint venture in the consolidated
financial statements 93,554 95,183
AL ZE RSB Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of the
PURIEH 88 joint venture’s
RS TR / (% 1)) Losses/(profits) from continuing operations (1,629) 18,082
A A T o i Other comprehensive income - -
2T i R AR Total comprehensive income (1,629) 18,082
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

—g—— [ Sy
2022 2021
AN BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
He /N TR R AR £ 1Y 4 Rl Financial assets measured at FVTPL
= EiRARE S (K 5E) — Unlisted equity securities (Note) 198,098 193,240
—H At ~ Others 10,725 16,207
F N (B A 2 T A A Y Financial assets measured at FVTOCI
SREE - 3,699
208,823 213,146
U U JE T — AR N E K Less: amounts due within one year
shown under current assets = -
I T G P OE Amounts shown under non-current assets 208,823 213,146
B o« JF LTI R AR R S5 I I IR AR AT AR O AT R Note: The unlisted equity securities represent an equity interests in Xiamen International
O] (T B B AR AT D) (9 I > 52 4RAT B Bank Co., Ltd. (“XIB”), a licensed commercial bank established in the PRC and is
— [ o BT R AR AT AR principally engaged in the banking business, retail banking and funding business.
HERAT R - T MAT S o MR The carrying amount is measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
E S IR A A T EFHE o IR At the end of reporting period, total cartying amount of RMB198,098,000 (2021:
A8 T BN R M 198,098,000 0 (& L — RMB193,240,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities

A N 193,240,000 70) B HEHH T84T granted to the Group.
ARy AR A BRI T SR AT R PR IR

bA 5 sp iy B R

18 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

REFZZHFEFZHZ4—H AEEZ At 31 December 2022, the Group’s properties under development for
BH 8 R W SE LA T B o A B sale are located in the PRC. All of the properties under development for
B Wy 3 T e A B AT 5 BV (B 2 IR sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end of
G o AR IR > A B2 BRI (49 A\ IR reporting period, certain of the Group’s properties under development for
#1,662,557,00070 (ZF Z— 4 AR¥ sale with a carrying amount of approximately RMB1,662,557,000 (2021:
1,464,990,0007C) Z #& T B3 h 1R ) 2 RMB1,464,990,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking
S T 8T D AAEEER 25 T8# facilities granted to the Group.

TR BRI -
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19 CRLHFEWE 19 COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE
REFZZFFZHA=Z1—H AEED At 31 December 2022, the Group’s completed properties for sale are situated
BTFEYEMR PR LESE TG e% in the PRC and Hong Kong. All completed properties for sales are stated
LA B W 3 T4 A AT 5 3 0 (E 2 IR at the lower of cost and net realisable value. At the end of reporting period,
FHHNHR o RHE IR - ARBERTELS A certain of the Group's completed properties for sale with a carrying amount
[ ¥ 1,086,420,000 0 (ZF —— 4+ AR of approximately RMB1,086,420,000 (2021: RMB1,653,327,000) were
#1,653,327,00000) 2 & FE R L&Y pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.
KO FIRET - URAEEBER AT
RATRE AR

20 FAHEENIER YA 20 NON-CURRENT ASSET HELD FOR SALE

—F TR TR

2022 2021

N ANRET T

RMB’000 RMB000

DR LR ERENEE Assets classified as held for sale 66,383 184,289
BEFZ - HE+ A=+ HIEEE During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into an
AR T B L O = 7 AT L Wk o AR agreement with an independent third party to dispose an investment
318,000,000 JG F A 18 & — TR E W 3¢ - property for a consideration of RMB318,000,000. As at 31 December 2022,
REFZZHFEFZHA=ZT—H LS the transaction have not been fully completed, the remaining investment
RERTEW - B FREHENREMERZ property to be disposed was classified as non-current asset held for sale in the

T HFT AT HEEAR S consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022.

SRS IR L2 T 5 4 o 4 9 R R B 7 o
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HHER 21 CONTRACT ASSETS
D S TR
2022 2021
ANRWFr ANR¥F
RMB’000 RMB’000
TEAG A A G B A Incremental costs to obtain contracts 47,462 34,210

REFZ R R A=t
H B AL 2 A #) A B3R 7 6 8 R B K%
5 b 7 A (15 6 (0 B 45 0 B 418 1 % P it
AEE RS B ERNO Y ETLE
ek W EHEMSEH - 5484
R R E R MM LS
1B £ 2 HE R 5 B B 8 B PR S — 4 o
AN R R 2 B A BB
NEH47,462,00070 (—F ~—4: AR¥
34,210,000 7G)  4F N BEMEA B & A AL B4
) &5 0 K A AR 1 BB A

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to sales employees and property agents
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under construction
at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as part of selling and
marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which revenue from the related property sales is recognised. The
amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was
RMB47,462,000 (2021: RMB34,210,000). There was no impairment in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised

during the year.
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22 B B i Bk o 22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
B o EOE FE AR E YN A TR Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of properties
EUARA E B A& 3 Ko Y 30 e and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment properties and sub-
W4 - SEWEZ REARBHRNESE leased properties. Consideration in respect of sale of properties is receivable in
1 A MR I o L4 — it & T S S © R accordance with the terms of related sale and purchase agreements. Rentals
i FTREERER TETREFRENG& are usually received in advance. However, longer credit periods might grant
EI to certain customers on a discretions basis.
R R
2022 2021
Bif & AR T AR T T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
H 5 REWGK IR Trade receivables 61,291 28,066
JE NI s F) S B B AR FEFKIH Amounts due from associates and
joint ventures (1) 60,140 83,474
HoAh R i E Other debtors 231,919 178,543
AR RS CEi= Ry Less: allowance for credit losses (27,714) (27,714)
TR A F R Y 4 A Financial assets measured at amortised cost 325,636 262,369
45 7R B T Y B Advances to contractors (1) 55,406 35,434
HoA T A B IH Other taxes prepaid (i) 129,749 165,124
510,791 462,927
B 5E Notes:
(1) STHEAR B8 A2 SRR Bk (i) The advances to associates, joint ventures and contractors are unsecured,
Ty BEAEAT 0 B R R Bk - interest-free and repayable on demand.
(if) Eﬁﬁiﬁ:’ﬁ Tl JEL 45 flél W) 2 A WE (i1) Included in other taxes prepaid are value added tax receivables in PRC arising
cH (B - from the sales of property.
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22 S5 B oAb MBSk B 4 22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
H 18 43 it Ageing analysis
BERE A > BRYELMHIRER As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables
it B 250 i B 5 R (FBR 5 R 1R net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of delivery of
) ARE AT properties/date of rendering of services, is as follows:
S0 Sty T S
2022 2021
ANRWET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB'000
30 KRN Within 30 days 32,375 25,125
31 £ 60K 31 to 60 days 2,088 2,236
61 £180 K 61 to 180 days 26,828 705
61,291 28,066
Jifr A At B T H Al B WS T LA — All of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or
A TR e G e R 4 B S recognised as expense within one year.
A B ASE G B BUR K CH 5 R K IR Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
FRIE T A A B LB R B T 33 0a) o debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 33(a).
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23 SZ R ST Ak

23  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

—F-

2022 2021
M &E AR ARWT T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
Hofth 57 BRI 77 3K Other restricted deposits ) 342,997 451,034

2 54 A 35 DR AR 70 7 5K Deposits pledged for guarantees granted
to customers (ii) 7,191 9,977
SR AT B AT B0 7 5K Deposits pledged for bank loans (iif) 314,000 407,000
664,188 868,011

AT Analysed as:

T E Current 656,671 834,241
E| el Non-current 7,517 33,770
664,188 868,011

Wi

() ARG A R R T ERAT AR
SRAT A 5 AT TS A S 1 A o B 25 T
7 E DR R IE o 52 BRI AT A ORI
K E R TR MR -

(i) WLAF SRR T SRAT IR L A 4 B %
HRATEE T4 T 1048 BB R 490 0 9 A R
SRATAE A o 2 IR SR AT A7 e SRAT W 31 &
FF 1] S5AT 4 5 AR B 90 2 9 B R B AR
1R P45 th 4% 48 5 3 A HEAT 3 420 6 A B o
ARV ERR S R BT A R AR R A
T AR A R

(i) R AFARIRERAN T AT 1R 24 T SRAT (5 3K
IS HH0 5 ) B W AT A7 Ko

Notes:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB placed with certain banks in the
PRC and the usage of which are restricted to certain of the Group’s property
development projects in the PRC. The restricted bank deposits will be released

when the property projects obtain the certification of the completion.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for
certain mortgage loans granted by the banks to the Group’s customers. The
restricted bank deposits will be released upon receiving the building ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the building ownership certificates will be granted

within the next twelve months.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for

certain bank borrowings.
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SR B R R B R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(AR F R R 2 T AN B B8 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

The restricted bank deposits carry fixed interest rates as follows:

R TF —E T

2022 2021

A ) R 4 Range of interest rate per annum 0.25%-2.75% 0.3%-2.75%
BLa R B4R R 24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Bl AT AL (a)  Cash comprise:

- Sasat: TR

2022 2021

AR EFor ANRWTor

RMB’000 RMB000

FHB & Cash on hand 1,040 1,116

AT E Cash at bank 192,177 345,794

st Total 193,217 346,910
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24 BEREMAEREER 2 24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)
(b) BRFBiHT (E5R) AR e (b)  Reconciliation of (losses)/profits before taxation to cash generated from
B operations:
G Y TR TR
2022 2021
P & AR T AR T
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
B B Wi R 18 Losses before taxation (918,282) (2,080,440)
BPUR A& T AE % Adjustments for:
4 -/ EYNSEIEE E ) Changes in fair value of investment
properties 44,090 1,597,661
HNFEFFAHZ N EMERE  Changes in fair value of financial assets
KVEE S measured at FVTPL 5(b) 1,828 74,934
BN FEFFA KM AU Impairment loss of financial assets
&G (e e 1R measured at FVTOCI 3,699 135
52 T I At JRE WSV (L e 1R Impairment loss of trade and other
receivable 5(b) = 55,896
VERY & R Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 6(c) 63,956 44,666
Wi~ R R e 1 Impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment 12 25,090 -
B 5 A Finance costs 6(a) 298,049 254,759
A TEFI A BRI AR EE M Dividend income from financial assets
13-YiON measured at FVTPL 5(a) (3,131) (1,659)
SRATTE R B A Interest income from banks deposits 5(a) (20,110) (27,323)
WA TEF AR Loss on disposal of financial assets
SREERBR measured at FVTPL 5(b) - 1,520
T TR 4 0 2 1 i 23 Gain on repurchase of senior notes 5(b) (1,594) (2,867)
FEAG W A AR G FD) /B54E Share of (profits)/losses of associates 15 (8,711) 14,772
HENG A A48, (5 F])  Share of losses/(profits) of joint ventures 16 7,368 (28,149)
DA B AS 58 L IR 93 S AR K LB S Equity-settled share-based payment
expenses - 52
HEYE -~ WUE S AR Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 5(a) (16,635) -
HO7 BOH B A IR Gain on cancellation of sales contracts by
buyer 5(a) (25,656) -
E iz, (&51R) Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 284,864 (110,604)
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(b)

Bl B U A B & B R () 24

BRBURT OB A REERGREZ (D)

o A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Continued)

CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of (losses)/profit before taxation to cash generated from

IR () operations: (Continued)
RO R
2022 2021
Bt 1 AR F ANRHT T
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
BE ARG Changes in working capital:
bR % b i B W) SE LD Decrease in properties under development
for sale 712,346 1,284,999
O LrEEWER D Decrease in completed properties for sale 56,198 6,167
B 5y B oAb R T D Decrease in trade and other receivables 19,724 37,432
B by B FoAth B AT BRIR WD Decrease in trade and other payables (307,437) (192,416)
BHIAME (BY) K (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (213,620) 488,995
58 gé 4 m Increase in contract assets (13,252) (19,005)
TS 4 48 Increase in rental received in advance (19,371) (12,455)
2 PR SR AT A7 3 D / (B8m) Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank
deposits 34,730 (189,906)
g s Bla Cash generated from operations 4,143 1,197,164
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24 BEREABEERRER @) 24

(©)

il B 2 FUAR B R (©)
THRAIALHMETES 2 B HES 4
FHERFREEE - MEFRHEE LA
{546 H B i B lOR A B B B A R

Bl B3R o U 3O 0
ZAfH-

M % &
EHEHH MR

[ S o s i)
X

CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as

cash flows from financing activities.

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

“E-f-0
BERLNERE: Changes from financing cash flows:
il ﬁﬁﬁj‘ﬁﬁ}f 38 Proceeds from new bank loans
[ERamET Repayment of bank loans
BeAd A Eas Advances from associates and jont ventures
MRELT kAR ER Repayments to associates and joint ventures
EifgReEEI Capita element of et tentals paid
g ﬁ figfefa My Tnteest element of Leae rencal paid
BHBRRREEAG Payment of expense atributzble o issue
ofsenior notes
| Oyt Repurchese of senior notes
ERAETERE Repayment of principal o senior notes
el Tnvetest peid
WRREHERIAN Tuldogsonoigabion
Bag hbeganes
g Other changes:
REEM i EEE Tncteae in leas lnbilices from entering into
Ll new leases during the year
BB (3 6a) Tnterest expenses (note 6(a)
KL RBuRA Termination and modification of lease
BB ZAR0s (H3Es0) Gainonredempionof ot noes (ot )
L Decrease of amount due o assocites
BRRRARGEH AN Amortization of senior notes and bank loan
Y- RNELA Acquisition ofa subsidiary
i Teofdhgs
BEBZZEFTAZ-0 Ao December 2022
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24 B RICLH R TR 20

24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)
Al B 2 AR R () (¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
(Continued)
- BiRRLR |
FheH FEfHHIE St - fEaf o5
Amount due to
Incerest associates and
Bank loans pajibles Senior notes joint vencures Lease lisbilites Toul
IEEFE  ARFFT  ABRFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETR
KMIZ o RMB 000 IZM{Z [ IW{Z o IWE o RMBO0O
(Fist 28) (Witm) (Fi 25) (Bt )
(note 28) (note 29) (note 29) (note 27)
REZZREFZAZ=HR At31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021
i e g 2811506 195,593 3304885 260143 201,050 683,177
BERGHESH: Changes from financing cash flows:
%ﬁﬁﬁt Wﬁ (] Proceeds from new bank loans 1,101,854 - - - - 1,101,854
féﬁfﬁﬁg%\ Repayment of bank loans (1,647483) - - - - (1,647,483)
BE /A\ﬂ&/ﬁé& bEH Advances from associates and joiat ventures - - - 67,286 - 07,286
nEEAARARIERY Repaymens to associates and joint ventures - - - (111,767) - (111,767)
EffEH2EARS Capical element of lease rentals paid - - - - (31,079) (31,079)
g mﬁgtﬁ%ﬂ% o Tnterest element of lease rentals paid - - - - (14,840) (14,840)
%ﬁ]@%%%ﬁﬁ a8 Proceeds from issue of senior notes - - 521,052 - - 521,052
BhREERERL Payment of expense attibuteble o isue of
senior notes - - (11930) - - (11.930)
pﬁ@@%%ﬁ Repurchase of senior notes - - (61,518) - - (61,518)
BERETRA Repayment of principal of senior notes - - (892,099) - - (892,099)
EHFIE Interest paid - (533578 - - - (533578
WOREERER ool ungsfom frncingstlows | POL OB W e by (1410
Bae Bewgeadomens s e
fgs: Other changes:
R ﬂqm%ﬂﬁﬁ’éﬁﬁﬁﬁ Tncrease in lease liebilices from entering into
Al . new leases during the year - - - - 23,04 23,04
HIERAL (Kt Tncerestexpenses (note 6()) 179480 - 47149 - 14840 651469
FINSiE . Termination and modification of lease - - - - (55,915) (95,915)
BHERZRIE Vﬁnf §(b)] Gain on redemption ofsenior notes (note 5(b) - - (2867) - - (2867)
ﬁgﬁ‘ [ RV iﬁw‘ Decteast of amount due to an associate - - - (8576) - (8,576)
MABREEZERETET  Amoriution ofsenior notes and bank loan (181,587) 549,132 (437.974) - - (70429)
L I Tooloherctangs ooy o] s 61 (801 9
REFZ-BFZAZE=H Ac31 December 2001 2512% LT 281404 207086 197,100 5,660,596
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24 BERIB &R EER ) 24 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
@ HMEHLSWHAH (d) Total cash outflow for leases
- SR TR
2022 2021
AR¥T ARWEFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
&R SRR Within financing cash flows 50,651 45,919
50,651 45,919
HEGEETISHEAR These amounts relate to the following:
TR CE
2022 2021
ANRWEFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EAMHEMHS Lease rentals paid 50,651 45,919
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25 BB B S0 A K 25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
R R
2022 2021
Bif & ARWTT ANRIEFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
% 5 A 3R Trade payables 879,203 789,754
JEAT 2R 55 Bills payables 35,000 157,240
JFC A R A RIE Other payables 579,278 642,556
JEAT M8 ] S B B AR FEFIH Amounts due to associates and
joint ventures (1) 254,530 207,086
1,748,011 1,796,636
Fff = - Note:
(i) JE AT B 85 ) B A 2 R A A (i) Amounts due to associates and joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
RHEE -~ R E R - repayment on demand.
BEHCE R R EEH 2 5 As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables
FEFIE Y AR E B presented based on the invoice date, is as follows:
R TR TR
2022 2021
ARWFT ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB000
180 KN Within 180 days 604,188 681,656
181 365 K 181 to 365 days 129,913 157,384
—4EPL T Over 1 year 180,102 107,954
H 5y REA 3R IR AR Total trade payables 914,203 946,994
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TEAE W SO Y 4 4 I TR R

pre-sale of properties

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Deposits and prepayments received from

- S S
2022 2021

A REFor NREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,892,097 2,370,706

JAZAR S 0 B 5 AT S R M By > AN
WO 5 RV AR B & P & o 5% 4%
EHEB/EHAR HEYHET T RKE
EEETEE o AUE T8 WA
PR ST RS S o R > AR S T R AR 4
LR R 8 5 B B A T & Ik HAT
% 7 [ 55 B 0 T S A
IR B AT ST BR K o A7 B BEKR B AR B
KRR ER T W36 R 2 2 AR 2
BHERE o LA o B A0 B IR A 4R T R
FR RGP ST 48 DAR R SR B 2
AT H T B AR R AT
B R R R B A A
BEEBEREEHEEN > HERERT
W) S 2 T RE S 2% P RE R T 2 e R
R

The Group receives part of the contract value as a deposit from customers
when they sign the sale and purchase agreements. These deposits are
recognised as a contract liability until the properties are completed and legally
assigned to the customers. The rest of the consideration is typically paid when
legal assignment is completed. However, depending on market conditions,
the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales price,
provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing, rather than on legal assignment.
Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the remaining property construction period for the full amount
of the contract price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased
by the amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect the
effect of any financing benefit obtained from the customers during the period
between the payment date and the completion date of legal assignment. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability during the period
of construction, it therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised when

control of the completed property is transferred to the customer.
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GESNEN e 26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Concinued)
EN - ARABREHNT Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

R TR

2022 2021
AR ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB000
h—H—HZ &k Balance at 1 January 2,370,706 1,881,711
HERRFT AR A 4 B (B Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
N AR A Y A A AR recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (2,410,505) (1,512,330)
H T 45 5 T 0 ) AR Y Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing
aHAMREm in advance of pre-sales activities 1,931,896 2,001,325
S = Ry sl = 4 75 Balance at 31 December 1,892,097 2,370,706
A8 TR B W SE BT SO Y L A < I B O The amount of forward sales deposits and prepayments received from pre-sale
SRR —F NHER BB - of property is expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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27 HEARE 27 LEASE LIABILITIES
T B A R T S 1 s R K The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
A O 2 R S o R R DGR 16 R Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
HEAFR T AAIEN periods and at the date of transition to IFRS 16:
R-FZZHEFZA=Z+—H REEZZF—A—H
At 31 December 2022 At 1 January 2022
R KM Sl A RIEHE
kB IR B 4%
Present value Total Present value Total
of the minimum minimum of the minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
ARHTI ARBT AT ARHTFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SRR Widinlyer o e w2 606t
— AR H A After 1 year but within 2 years 49,195 54,081 44,551 49,094
AR AR B AR 1 After 2 years but within 5 years 81,174 99,416 84,887 104,148
HAER After 5 years 10,555 16,734 23,180 35,643
e R 208 ] 188,885 .
196,846 228,090 197,100 234,949
B RACH BB S Less: total future interest expenses (31,244) (37,849)
& mBE Present value of lease liabilities 196,846 197,100
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28 HUTERK 28 BANK LOANS
WoEZFF A= —H O EER At 31 December 2022, the bank loans were repayable as follows:
TR
TR TR
2022 2021
AR#F AR BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
CAERSRERER Within L yearorondemand ] 1642490 1726249
—HFRHEMERN After 1 year but within 2 years 225,000 167,490
AR A% E TLAR A After 2 years but within 5 years 36,000 337,500
T UUUUUTIUUUTTUTUTUUOUUOO 261,000 504,990
1,903,490 2,231,239
WoE AT A=+—H o RITERK At 31 December 2022, the bank loans were secured as follows:
BERBIAF
R TF TE A
2022 2021
AREFr AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Eii L Secured 1,892,015 2,198,076
4HE HE 7 Unsecured 11,475 33,163
1,903,490 2,231,239
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28 HATEK 28 BANK LOANS (Concinued)
B IR AR R S BE TR T R 1) At the end of respective reporting periods, the following assets were pledged
AT A T B to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:
R TR T
2022 2021
AR T ANRET T
RMB000 RMB'000
VESY & Property, plant and equipment 51,957 55,553
BEWE Investment properties 2,375,920 2,477,803
VR AR 4 Y 4 B Financial assets measured at FVTPL 198,098 193,240
b 4 R R ) 2 Properties under development for sale 1,662,557 1,464,990
BER LRrEYE Completed properties for sale 1,086,420 1,653,327
% IR HIERAT 73K Restricted bank deposits 314,000 407,000
5,088,952 6,251,913
A ST P A SR AT B SR 2 A B AR AR All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
THEAMBELRWER T TEE - & relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios. During the year ended
SR CFTAZTHIEFEE S R 31 December 2022, the Group failed to repay a principal of US$40,000,000
EEAREER -_Z-_F+—-H3MZ (equivalent to RMB278,584,000) and HK$374,680,000 (equivalent to
SRAT B AR 4% 40,000,000 38 JC (R A RMB334,643,000) of bank loans due in November 2022. As a result, bank
M 278,584,000 7C) K 374,680,000 7 IC (41 loans with an aggregate amount of RMB893,672,000 became default or cross
BN R 334,643,000 70) o H I AL default and were payable on demand. Since the lender has not agreed to waive
N R 893,672,000 TG ) $RAT 8 3R /5 41 its right to demand immediate payment as at the end of the reporting period,
B SUE A » W ZH AR BORAER o R K the loan has been classified as a current liability as at 31 December 2022.
N S 906 ) 30 k5 A 2R ok B IR £+ The Group is in discussions with the banks for not demanding immediate
R MEZERCR_FF+ 2 repayment and renewing the existing bank facilities.

A=t —HAaBARE AR - AEHIER
SRATRA AT > LAk 6 R Ry 2 5% S T A 1
HRITME -
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29 BERSHE 29 SENIOR NOTES

G Y TR TR

2022 2021

AR T ANR#T T

RMB’000 RMB 000

h—H—H As at 1 January 2,814,024 3,304,885
BT TR R R Net proceeds from issuing during the year - 509,122
R FE Interest for the year 385,002 457,149
FEREATREASFLE Interest paid/payable for the year (240,585) (437,974)

A B SR A R B R A A T Previous year unpaid interest transferred to

EHEAE principal of new senior notes 200,715 -
AN BE SRR (ks Exchange loss/(gain) for the year 283,299 (62,674)
B S Repayment of principal (171,292) (892,099)
AEE A Cancel of principal (13,426) -
i [ 4 O R4 Senior notes repurchase (3,187) (64,385)
wt+_H=+—H As at 31 December 3,254,550 2,814,024
W B BT E) A Less: shown as current liabilities (3,254,550) (2,814,024)
5 By I B A& Shown as non-current liabilities - -
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BB R ()

B TFAE— H N H o A W (5
77 4 484 200,000,000 3 JC 19 4 56 25 9%
(TEAMBREE]  REHEEBLS LG
S AT BRA A BRI R 25 28 5 B A R
AT BT o B S e B 1 AR A R
12.95% 71 B » 2B AR AT > BRIR4R
IV ] s BRI R —F - AE=A
+ V0 B F 8 o 55 N0 e SR AR A TR Y
BEE A SHN99.943%  BHATH AN
BEEEBEAELBABEAME > KM
YR H R E S R AE— AR - 5
AR e R R HOR A AR B A
TR EHAEN -

ﬁ#—{47$/\ﬂ TILH > RN FEH
{E 3177 4 H%7170,000,000 35 76 ) 18 9fc 52
%(%tﬂ%%%%J T RN 5 A
Sy BT BT o 55 L 8 ol T A v AR A R
14.25% 5t BRI AT B R 4R
(i EE T RO P e S S |
JUH B > B I 2 R0 [0 o ] o B LAt
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100% > HIEE SR H (M5

) EFT S AR AT RIE, o 5 ﬁﬁﬁ%m%mﬁ
BHAALNRHMA T FFEAH =T
H 28 15 A o
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 6 January 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Sixth Senior Notes”) listed on
the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Sixth Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 12.95%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 14 March
2022, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The offering price of the
Additional Notes of the Sixth Senior Notes was 99.943 % of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Sixth Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Details of the Sixth Senior Notes are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 7 January 2020.

On 29 June 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$170,000,000 (the “Seventh Senior Notes”) listed
on the Singapore Exchange. The Seventh Senior Notes carry interest at a
nominal rate of 14.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and
will mature on 9 January 2023, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased.
The offering price of the Seventh Senior Notes was 100% of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Seventh Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Each holder of the notes has the right, at such holder’s option, to
require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such holder’s Notes, or any
portion of the principal amount on 10 January 2022 (the “Put Settlement
Date”) at the repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding
the Put Settlement Date. Details of the Seventh Senior Notes are set out in

the Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2020.
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B S VR ()
BB AE—HANH o AN A R
BNk S5 A8 5 A B m BT A 4 AR
85,000,000 3% JC 1) 5 -1 At 48 o 2295 4 41 8
ZH o ABUNEBRNBEEBASEN
99.327% ° BRI 5 o A 1 Je B2 0% 1 5 1 4R
M 14.25% 518 > FLER IR A B
E iR ey Ryl e ——
—HJUHE - BRI E R R T
RBEABEEHRE > RAHYEEE R
Ea LE— AT BE - & EESEANE
113/ St ey = I N E AR TR 5~ X - NE !
REREOR AN R BLA W B A R A A
SRR AR G AT T A o D A R OK
B AR S E I 100% 0 AN E B E
BEH R E) R RARAFE -
FRINERN TR A AAR B R =%
T ANHBAER o

R_F LA AR CF A
PHH = AN H o A2 ) 43 il g Il 56 7S 4t f
52 B 454,000,000 3 6 S 5 LAk 1 O AR
6,000,000 % TC

MoEZ—ERH=+—H  AAFHRE
A4 FLG SR S R R LB R R
o RE RSB A 145 H B ETC o R
TERCEANAT B BT B
AU T AR BB S AR O AR
MEREHATASHEELRR _F =4
B 55 LB S AR B S & S 70,5
HE T o 5\ B SR R Y e R
MR EZ LA —HEIS WA
HEAE e 208 09 R R B 16.0% - FLE AR —
Fo—EF At —H ZE S FERA
[ = R Sasnt o i s el = St <
TEFEE A BT o A R TR
ZHEERANREME T R
A=+—H  ZF_—#A "NANLHEZZF
AR B2 A

e St S B oY AN E I /A A
500,000 3 JC A5 L HEME L 22 o
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 6 January 2021, the Company further issued additional senior notes of the
Seventh Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$85,000,000
listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of this
additional notes was 99.327% of the principal amount. The Additional
Seventh Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 14.25% per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 9 January 2023, unless
earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Seventh Senior Notes is
to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for
general corporate purposes. Each holder of the notes has the right, at such
holder’s option, to require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such
holder’s Notes, or any portion of the principal amount on 10 January 2022
(the “Put Settlement Date”) at the repurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding the Put Settlement Date. Details of this additional

notes are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 January 2021.

The Company repurchased US$4,000,000 of the Sixth Senior Notes and
US$6,000,000 of the Seventh Senior Notes on 31 May 2021 and 28 April
2021, respectively.

On 31 May 2021, the Company offered to exchange its Sixth Senior Notes
and Seventh Senior Notes up to the aggregate maximum acceptance amount
of US$145 million. On 11 June 2021, The exchange offer was completed
and the exchange amount of the Sixth Senior Notes due 2022 was US$74.5
million and the exchange amount of the Seventh Senior Notes due 2023 was
US$70.5 million. The new senior notes of Eighth Senior Notes will mature
on 11 July 2023 and the interest rate of the Eighth Senior Notes is 16.0%,
and the interest will be paid on 11 December 2021, 11 June 2022, 11
December 2022 and 11 July 2023. Details of the Eighth Senior Notes are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 31 May 2021, 9 June 2021 and
11 June 2021.

On 28 January 2022, the Company repurchased US$500,000 Seventh Senior

Notes.

20224 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022 25 1



t
PL% MY

W B A Bk

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT R R 2 2 AN B B2 o) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

29

BB R ()

REFZ—F+ZH > AARIEMH S
EE% B Rk Tkt Y& VNI
R (BABERERD MEMAFS
DMERTHARF - R =F I AMNE -
AL RS RS kA EE A E4
AHY TEAERBEH]) A%~
FENA+—H - RELAMBY - HAE
SO MAEBCETHELER
PR B B 08 o EA R E R A
A R R R A 2 8 /5121,506,000 F
JE B KA A 11,670,000, 3 76 0 5 75 At 4
JEEEPE - RAEEA S 177,995,000 F 70
Fe oA 1118 19,164,000 3 76 A9 4 L AL 18 2
TR R AE R AR S S 144,999,000 % T4
J A AT R £519,333,000 3 76 1) 55 /\ 4t 1
SRR R AR S o BRI
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

In December 2021, the Company announced a Restructuring Scheme
for Sixth Senior Notes, Seventh Senior Notes and Eighth Senior Notes
(“Existing Senior Notes”) to revise their terms. On 4 April 2022, the Group
Coutt of the Cayman Islands sanctioned the Restructuring Scheme and the
Restructuring Effective Date (‘RED”) was on 11 April 2022. On the RED,
the Existing Senior Notes were cancelled and New Senior Notes have been
issued by the Group to replace the Existing Senior Notes. The Restructuring
Scheme offered to delay all unpaid principal amount of its Sixth Senior Notes
with outstanding principal amount of US$121,506,000 and unpaid interest
of US$11,670,000, Seventh Senior Notes with outstanding principal amount
of US$177,995,000 and unpaid interest of US$19,164,000, Eighth Senior
Notes with outstanding principal amount of US$144,999,000 and unpaid
interest of US$19,333,000. The principal amount of New Senior Notes is
US$494,667,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB3,148,000,000) and
have maturity date for 3 years with instalment repayment after the RED. The
interest rate of the New Senior Notes is 10% per annum. The New Senior
Notes repayment details are as follows: 5% of the principal amount of New
Senior Notes are matured on or before 10 July 2022, an additional 5% of the
principal amount of New Senior Notes are matured on or before 11 January
2023, an additional 15% of the principal amount of New Senior Notes
are matured on or before 11 July 2023, an additional 10% of the principal
amount of New Senior Notes are matured on or before 11 January 2024, an
additional 10% of the principal amount of New Senior Notes are matured on
or before 11 July 2024, the amount of any remaining outstanding New Senior
Notes are matured on or before the maturity date, which is on 11 April 2025.

The interest will be paid semi-annually.

On 10 July 2022, the Company paid the principal and interest of
US$25,344,000 of the New Senior Notes.
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group failed to repay an
interest of US$23,497,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB163,647,000)
of the New Senior Notes due in October 2022. As a result, senior notes
with an aggregate amount of RMB3,254,550,000 became default and were
payable on demand. On 11 January 2023, the Company failed to redeem 5%
of principal amount of approximately US$494,667,000 of the New Senior
Notes Due 2025. The Company already had preliminary discussions with
the major Holders. On 29 March 2023, the Group has appointed financial
advisors for the purpose of facilitating timely negotiations of various proposed

amendments to the terms and conditions of the Holders.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was adopted on 10 December 2012 whereby the Company has the
right to grant options to any executive, non-executive or independent non-
executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies or any other
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group (“Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the
Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to the Participants. The Share
Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing
from 10 December 2012.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

All holders of options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only

exercise their options in the following manner:

Maximum percentage of

options exercisable

25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Additional 25% of the options

Vesting period

Upon the first anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the second anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the third anniversary of
the date of grant

Upon the fourth anniversary of

the date of grant

Unless otherwise determined by the directors and specified in the offer letter
to be given to a Participant at the time of the offer of the option, there is
neither any performance target that needs to be achieved by the grantee before
an option can be exercised (the “Performance Target”) nor any minimum

period for which an option must be held before the option can be exercised.
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options (the “2014
Options”) to certain key management personnel and employees with certain

Performance Target determined by the directors as follows:

o If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to
the period when the tranche of the 2014 Options become vested (the
“Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the portion of the

Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

®  If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will be
not exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets the
required RMB200 million.

N If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to the

period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited net loss), the

portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled immediately.
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FEEANE  Keymumgemenr 2372014 237.2015-227.2004
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(Continued)

The following tables disclosed movements of the 2014 Options granted under
the Share Option Schemes during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021:

g g

“R-ik T2AEE-0R

ZEIR “RE

i TZAZ-H

it AT Rl i LT %M HARHE

Outstanding as Outstanding as

at | January at 31 December

02 & 2022 &

1 January Grant Exercised Forfeited Lapsed 31 December

Exercise price 2021 duringtheyear  duringtheyear  duringtheyear  during the year 2001

LO0HTE 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
HKS$1.00

Lo0iEC 5900000 - - - - 5,900,000
HKS$1.00

8,700,000 - - - - 8,700,000

8,700,000

8,700,000

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the number of shares in respect of which
options under the Share Option Schemes had been granted and remained
outstanding was 8,700,000, representing 0.48% of the total shares of the
Company in issue at that date.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, no share
options were granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company, and no share

option were lapsed, under the Share Option Schemes.

The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date of grant using,
among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model based on the
respective vesting period of the share options in accordance with the variables
and assumptions based on the Directors” best estimate upon the grant date.
The total estimated fair value of the share options granted on the grant date
was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,603,000). During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company recognised total expenses
of Nil (2021: RMB52,000) in relation to share options granted by the
Company.
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31 AT IR DE A i B 15 B 31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) CHEREENEEERAH: (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
() BRI EE R A G5 AL A 5 (i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities
R TR B A B TS IR U 3 1 R 2 AE B A The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the
(EE) /AR REBH T consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during the

year are as follows:

e
WA HnFlE
AR ERA AR
DT RAELRY IR AR el Sl amE W
B : Deferred tax arising from: EHOATHER R AEEE O REBE ATERR  AHNK HE  WEAR it
Withholding
tax on Changes in
Changesin  undistributed fair value of
fair value of profits Allowance financial Acquisitions
LAT  investment of PRC Tax  forother assets at Contract ofa
differences  properties  subsidiaries losses ~ receivables FVIPL costs Leases  subsidiary Total

ARETT ARETTE  ARETE ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARKTT ARKTT ARETT ARKTE
RMBUO  RMBUW — RMBUM  RMBUO  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBUOO

RZEZ~F—-R—H Ac 1 January 2021 100380 (1,13885) @) 174 6,929 (8760) (S0 14216 - (1056,806)
B R MR Recogaised in profi or loss (85.292) 312,448 9.299) 17 (6.929) (200) (4752) (5,152) - 2009%
R Payment in the year - - 17,500 - - - - - - 17,500

REFZ—EFZH=F~H  Ac31 December 2021 and

REZZZE—A-0 1 January 2022 1508 (826404) (5841 17,96 - (8.960) 8,553) 9,064 - (838310)
R AR Recognised in profit o loss 73 5474 (2,041) (2,693) - (1,215) (510) (1,276) - (1,528)
ERmR Payment in the year - - 3,193 - = = = = = 3,193
[t allil VN Acquisitions ofa subsidiary = = = = = = = - (230 (12340)
REZZZEFZAZAH A3l December 2022 15821 (820,930) (3468 14603 -0 906) 88 (12340 (848985)
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31

(a)
(i1)

(b)

(©)

B A% R L 3% v i o 4 L 40 31 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
CHEREEHIESEERARE : #) (@) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Continued)
B BRI FE Y B (i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position
- S TE A
2022 2021
AR¥TIT ARWTFI
RMB’000 RMB’000
JA 5 B B IR DL R e R Y Net deferred tax asset recognised in the
I SIE 3 JE T VAR consolidated statement of financial position 110,304 126,994
JA &5 A BB IR DL R e R Y Net deferred tax liability recognised in the
EEBUHA T consolidated statement of financial position (959,289) (965,304)
(848,985) (838,310)

A% T 8 0% HE BV

5 B 5 20) T 1Y & BT BOR > A 4R M
AR 2 5B RN R ¥ 257,132,000 70
(24 AR¥170,335,000 70) [ 1%
GEBIAE A o DR A BR B R ik R
H R K T R R 2R LB 36 A L 4 R
BEtE o MRIEBATBUE BB B A W A
() Bl JE s 10 B A M R R AR T S
A T o

AT 8 A% A A T £

WS EFERE > 2T/ F—H—
HBAgG - B0 Z /A B e B s ) &
IR IR AT 8 BT R A R A B R
R AN 10% BN TR o SR A
e LR EE T S > EEBR S 5%
(Wn3d ) = B b 4t 6 h o 12 A 4 ) i ok
Tk 1 R 4B 1 o T AT T A B AR
BoFE - EF A=+ —H WERA
ZERNFE—H—HAR A B HEA RS
A R #1,078,000,000 76 (=% = — 4 © A
¥ 1,024,000,000 7C) Y Bk T £# B 3 A 5F
PEAT o] AR AL B TE A - SRR R AR O
3% S5 AR AR R AT AL R A AR S T
138 ) R 2 B R TR LR REAE T
SEASPRAR 0] BEAS & 38 o] o

(b)

(©)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(s), the Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB257,132,000 (2021: RMB170,335,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses incurred by the subsidiary
in the PRC will expire within 5 years from the year when such losses were

incurred under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the CIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding income
tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned in year 2008
onwards and distributed to foreign investors for companies established in
the PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied where appropriate. Other than the PRC withholding
income tax provided in respect of undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries
as above, no deferred taxation has been provided for the remaining retained
profits of approximately RMB1,078,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB1,024,000,000), which was derived from the PRC subsidiaries since
1 January 2008 as the Group has set aside such sum for non-distributable
purpose, and is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

32
(a)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each
component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s

WS E REEESIT : individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
V. ANk Company
Bk Rt PR R G itk it
Shate options Accumulated
Share Capital Share premium Special reserve reserve losses Total
firit AW ARR T AT NERTR NERTR AR#T T
Note R0 R0 RiBoow Y RAB0 R0
(o) Oksaon)  (Rsksae) (it
(note 32(c) (note 32(d)0) (note 32(d)(i1) (note 30)
e S i Rl Balance at 1 January 2021
25k 11399 76,18 21374 Lyl BT7.007) 471060
“RC-RERAE: Changes in equity for 2021:
EnEEREAR Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 120,199 120,199
LEE EEI}RZH&E‘ Putchase of own shates (216) (1,321) - - - (1537)
DRSS R AR Equity-setcled share-based transactions
kY] 0 - - - 52 - 52
% S N Balance at 31 December 2021 and
SP-RRCEITE a2
~f-nZkk 11288 ) 104 1603 (256808 595,774
“ROCERGRE: Changes in equity for 2022:
EW%EL‘KEZ@@ Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 122,99 12299
REFZZRLCR Balance at 31 December 2022
=Rk 1288 480 13004 1603 (133813) 718769
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32 WK - A B B B can) 32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Concinued)
b BE (b) Dividends
W) EREA KL A s R B (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company in respect of
the year:
R TR
2022 2021
ANRET T ARWTIT
RMB’000 RMB000
CEIR IR R B A% Interim dividend declared and paid is nil
(CE - —4F  GRE) (2021: nil per share) - -
b AR AR R AR B Final dividend proposed after the end
HREF(CEF BRE) of the reporting period is nil per share

(2021: nil per share) = -

ARG AR > s IR R B R I AR R B The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been
KRR /AR - recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

(i) FERHLIWER IR G L — B B AE FEHEA KA (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

Al B i R IR to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year
e mog
2022 2021
AR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB 000

AF N4t YE R A Y | — B BOAE B Final dividend in respect of the previous financial
1 A 39 B B P year, approved and paid during the year,

of nil per share - _
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B ~ Gl BB B o)

A
B

5 1B 18 {1 0.01 35 70 19 3% 78 i
(ZFE - —4:0.01F D)

32
(©)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Share capital

Authorised:

RO CHER R F

Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
(2021: US$0.01)

2022 and 2021
B4 8 H KX En
No. of shares Amount US$
(TH) T
('000) ‘000
3,000,000 30,000

CETRYEN TR Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
At 31 December 2022 At 31 December 2021
REZFZZHF+ZA=+—H Ro-F_—HF+-A=+—H
et ¥ H A i H
No. of shares No. of shares
(T#) AR T (TH) ANRWTIT
('000) RMB’000 ('000) RMB'000
C AT MR Ordinary shares, issued
T and fully paid:
“—H—H At 1 January 1,799,020 112,883 1,802,456 113,099
A7 [0 i Shares repurchased
(B 5E 32(6) (note 32() - - (3,436) (216)
Bt ZH=1—H  Ac31 December 1,799,020 112,883 1,799,020 112,883

e E A AN AT OROR B IR Z IS S
ATAA R AR & Bt BB B — 5 o B
W38 B3 A N ) 2 TR L E AT S
Al o

il L % L

et it 1

A7 i A A 2 0 019 M £ T (L BRLBEAT AR 2
il FC A7 T 15 5 L A [ P 073 o 9 A
ZHMER - REHSTELFE > B
i 1B R AT 0 R T AR R A BB B
AR IR R BAR > AL FIZE R R
— JRES AR P B AT B S o

(d)
@

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the
shares of the Company and the proceeds received from the issuance of shares
or the consideration paid for the repurchased shates of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to repay its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.
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32 EAK - G BB B )

) fEEEEENE 5
@) PRI

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)  Special reserve

D S TR
2022 2021
ARWTIT ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B IR(A) Deemed distributions (A) (25,296) (25,296)
%ﬁﬁﬂ H(B)C) Deemed contributions (B) (C) 78,629 78,629
HGERAL P EAZHEAD  Amount arising on Reorganisation
(as defined below) (D) 105,936 105,936
Wi 5 = 0 AR 2 B (E) Amount arising from acquisition (E) 395,332 395,332
[ 95} B Dividends (F) (434,928) (434,928)
119,673 119,673

AR T A 9 TR DA % I A R KR

A REE-FRERCE——F WA
a3 IR Al A N R 12,113,000 76 & A
R 13,183,000 7G » 4 HE Wi R ot 42
75 b 2 B PR A A (R A 4 W 5
M |) BRE A G BB A TR
0 23 (B 22 TR 22 0 5 L £t
SR o N F-H T 3 R T R R AR B
WA A (B B R o Bl 2 1
WERE B ) BRI AR &R &
1 i E o

B e S VA S AN BT S
R BB AT R ) (6 i o L3 )
T LB I A 7D e o 4 S E A
R BE ) G rE o A e T R
R I A T M RO - R S F
—CHEFZAZ T HIRERE S %
48 5 8 A 5] R 7 B W P o i s
7 KT B 4 7 A A H
3 A A 4 T R 2 AR e L T Y
2B AN 11,597,000 T A MRS £ 4
A 1) R £k AR AL 3K

Special reserve comprises amounts arising as a result of the followings:

A

In 2010 and 2011, deemed distribution of RMB12,113,000 and
RMB13,183,000 respectively representing the difference between the
principal amount of the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Golden Wheel Real
Estate”) and its fair value at initial recognition were charged to
the special reserve. The fair value is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash flows throughout the expected life of the advance

(that is, from date of advance to expected repayment date).

Subsequent to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
Corporation Limited (“Golden Wheel International Corporation”)
and its subsidiary Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June
2012, the Group waived Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate from
repaying the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate.
The difference between the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel
Real Estate carried at amortised cost and the principal amount
of the amount due by Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate to the
Group at date of waiver of RMB11,597,000 was credited as deemed
contribution to the special reserve during the year ended 31 December
2012.
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32 EAK - G BB B ) 32

d) fEMTEE KA ) )
) R () (ii)  Special reserve (Continued)
C i E A NR 67,032,000 70 C An amount of RMB67,032,000 due to the then shareholders was

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

D VE By S 45 S N 1) By 1 7 e W6 32 i D As part of the reorganisation for preparing for the listing of
FwmiEGzEH ([EH) B — the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
o SmIERARA T ([l “Reorganisation”), Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited (“Golden
B ZFE—"F,-HF+/NHIK Wheel Jade”) acquired 100% equity interest in Golden Wheel
o RREE RS A ([4 W International Investment Limited (“Golden Wheel International
BB E ) 2 100% BHE > 7 U5 Investment”) on 18 June 2012 through issuance of 1,000,000
) RE 2 B R B 47 1,000,000 AR 2 ordinary shares in the Company to the then shareholders, and the
A B AR A F RN HAR R A AR Company became the holding company of the Group thereafter. The
EEERAF B E _F—— amount of RMB105,936,000 credited to special reserve during the
Ft+_HA=Z=+—HIEFEE AR¥ year ended 31 December 2012 represented the difference between
105,936,000 G B 51 A 55 Al 545 - It the nominal value of share capital of the Company of approximately
Ty A\ A T E £ N R 64,000 RMBG64,000 and the nominal value of the share capital of Golden
IO % 4 i B PR B A T E N R Wheel International Investment of approximately RMB106,000,000.
#106,000,000 TCZ # 4 -

E WERN _Z——"FENA+NA2Z24% E Pursuant to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
iy B PR B 2E K R ORE 4 R M E R Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June 2012,
I g5 TE > A% N R 395,332,000 70 an aggregate amount of RMB395,332,000 being (i) the difference
(BP = ) A 2N &) B 84T B A T (H B between the nominal value of share capital issued by the Company
4 iy ) PR B 36 % R T 4 i R b R A and the fair value of the consolidated net assets of Golden Wheel
EEEFHEHZATFHEHZ %8 (A International Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate
R EE T EE 2 E R (excluding fair value of 7.50% equity interest in Nanjing Jade Golden
REemEEAGRAT (HREERLE Wheel Realty Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel”) and 3.75%
1) 7.50% & HE J B M 4 4 B Hb equity interest in Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Development
AR AT (BN EWEHE]) Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate”) held by Nanjing
3.75% BEHE 2 N H) 5 i) E ARG Golden Wheel Real Estate); and (ii) the difference between the
15 B JF 25 1 I B Uk B 2 BB A T OF consideration paid and the carrying amount of net assets attributable
Ve IR EE G EHZIERE to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries being acquired from the
) EFABRE _F—_"F+_H non-controlling shareholder, was credited to special reserve during the
=+ —HIFFEEZ BRI o year ended 31 December 2012.

F A ER P EIREE F Amount represents the dividend declared against special reserve.

Z AT BRI SRR TR o G 1 I
NSRS Jo 10 1 0 ol 4 2

waived from repayment and was credited as deemed contribution to

special reserve in 2012.
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32 EAK - G BB B )

d) REHEE &N )

Gii)  FESE M
EE S0 5 185 L 5 1A S AL g AN TS A S Sk 2
Jii 7 R 5 25 B0 > DA R R 3 I 3% 5 i S0 67
BT E A 2 AT AT i S R B A 2 B R
AN o 5% i 2 4 B S 20v) T R € BT
KRR o

iv) & BRI
AR v R R R R DA A T A
A A A A AR A

() FEA A AN E A S A
=i

AR L) PACEIEES & gl
1 16 AR 4 ) o 0 O M A SR
H I R 2 I E B R 1 B
AR B A% i A A — A B
AR T -

Giy R A0 o AR
EA T2 R 47

i 44 v I I 2 R ZRI HLAR 9
R I T S A 3 E B R
B 52 ik A R B AR ik A 3D 109 B
1= BB -

i 25, 5 8 55 5 2 EIOA ) o [ Y
Ja§ 2w GE A A 509 - T A IR 1A
R L

et 0t R T IS 9 A e 9 AR 3 A
R NI MERR > i BB 2~ =] T
i R R AT TR A T L A9 B f A
AT JBEAS o RTT > 51 v 0 B 2~ ] Y
Tt B T R 5 B R AT oA W ol
f B A A5 AR EL B M AR 2596

32

(d
(i)

(iv)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations as well as the
effective portion of any foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of
the net investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in

accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(v).

Surplus reserve
In accordance with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the articles

of association of the PRC subsidiaries:

(1) PRC subsidiaries registered as sino-foreign joint venture:

The PRC subsidiaries may, at the discretion of board of directors of
the PRC subsidiaries, transfer a portion of their profit after taxation
reported in their statutory financial statements prepared under the

applicable PRC accounting standards to the surplus reserve.

(i)  PRC subsidiaries registered as wholly-foreign invested enterprise or

domestic limited liability company:

The PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their
profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial statements
prepared under the applicable PRC accounting standards to the

surplus reserve.

The appropriation to surplus reserve may cease if the balance of the
surplus reserve has reached 50% of the relevant PRC subsidiaries’

registered capital.

The surplus reserve can be used to make up losses or for conversion into
capital. The PRC subsidiaries may, upon the approval by a resolution of
the owners, convert their surplus reserve into capital in proportion to their
then existing capital contribution. However, when converting the PRC
subsidiaries” surplus reserve into capital, the balance of such reserve remaining

unconverted must not be less than 25% of their registered capital.
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7 S A I A 1 B A T (R B A
BB RE S 0 DL A HLAE M AL
S B A 46 7 5 A 5 B I 7 [ 4
7 S 0 5 55 RO 4 (5 R

S W R A A S LA R o 1
RS 2 — W > EHEEEA A K
B2 S0 A A B ) By o AR AR S 2 A
B AEMBERIRABE - BITH
B o] W A 4 LA B B A i 5 S5O [ B A
a8 DR E A -

ik 10 B PR A
A S S NG T e )
AR L LR B e T

Hr
Month
RN March 31¢h 2021
=+—H

SEZ A H Apil 16k 2021
SEZFMALEHE April 7eh 2021

32
(e)

®

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can maximize
the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity

balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The directors actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-

backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Purchase of own shares

In 2021, the Company repurchased its own shares on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited as follows:

E AT i e R &
S ] PR 073 5 B AR T LA A B R
Number of Highest price Lowest price Aggregate
shares repurchased paid per share paid per share price paid
AR AR ARHTIT
RMB RMB RMB'000
1,600,000 0.45 0.40 693
1,158,000 0.47 0.43 519
678,000 0.49 0.47 325

B A B i E -+ A
Et—HIEFEERE AT S Bk A&
N B BT RO B AR % S e i T B o
WIS RS A FNEE 376 SHAMER
N B #216,000 70 /9 F0OH © WD A > T
Ak N 1,321,000 70 B 0 B0 36 A o

All the repurchased shares were treated as cancelled during the year ended
31 December 2021 and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to section 37
of the Cayman Islands Companies Law, an amount equivalent to the par
value of RMB216,000 was reduced the share capital, and the balance of
RMB1,321,000 reduced the share premium.
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33

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities and movements

in its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described

below.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December

2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is arising from:

(i) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

(i)  the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees

issued by the Group as disclosed in note 35.
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LR ~ (B KB BT (E AT 26 A0 R B AR AR
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555 7 AT AR A B R R A
JHE A L) 8 R e A AT SR R AT A
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(a)

)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
After obtaining a minimum of 30% to 50% (2021: 30% to 50%) down

payment from its customers for property sale business, the Group would
usually provide guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties, for the period
before property certificates are issued to the relevant customers. If a customer
defaults on the payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the
bank may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan
and any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-sell the property to recover any
amounts payable by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings,
based on the past default experience of the debtor, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort at the end of the year.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

The Group has policies in place to ensure that property sales are made to
purchasers with an appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivables
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with exposure

spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

20224 JE % ANNUAL REPORT 2022 267



o 1 A S A B

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(AT 2R 2 2 AN B B2 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

33

(11)

4 1l B Y R B ik T L AT

(#

s BB (1)

B 5 st ()

AEE T B 1 B 5 Y s

A S T I A0 0 A R REL B S F) B 0 B WS
T 5 A I BOR MR S B > A R LB o
R BHRS o fyaf s Sk
A S A TR 2 R R AR A A B L R P
BAR UL B AR B R {5 Ep Al > R
JEUBR S5 A% > DA e £ % IR SR MR B 5 0
B A I 5 i o e 10 e 5 [ o O 45 B
AL AL A A B MR ML £ Bt
AR TR 3 T 7 T AL A g 1) A 4
B S % o i 36 O 7 A B T T 4

4o

HEW I 35 4 ] R 17 5 1 K T
SRR = A F kg B RSN E > B
B AR IR S A B R ok O T A B YA
R SR e ) e e SR ] i [
HEAT SR AR AR AL SR AR A o RS A
8 T MR S 7 8 ) B A SR R
(R 45 R 0 R [ A KA I

IRATH5 85 e Z IRt 3RAT 77 5K

A SR T 1Y SRAT & Bk T 32 BRI SRAT Rk R
B EPER - R -F - F+ A
= —H o SRATHS R B PR RAT AR KA
A #78% (2% Z—4 1 68%) 1R
S (BT A ) AT BRI
SRAT A7 2R 45 B B AR SR AT 45 Bk B 52 PR i 4R
I BN 10% - ZERBESNEE
JEBS A R - R 2 ST O s A B B
SRAT 5 B B A R A R By = [ BT
B RAT o

7R S T T R R AR T R ) RE MUK R
i SRR AN o B A5 B 1R R EK

33

(a)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from operating leases

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivable in respect of the rental income, with exposure spread over a large
number of customers in the PRC. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group continuously monitors the level of exposure by
frequent review of the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit
quality of its customers to ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover overdue
balances. The credit risk of trade receivables arising from operating leases
is limited because counterparties make deposits into the Group when they
sign the leasing contracts and the deposits can be forfeited if counterparties

default.

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures

For amount due from associates and joint ventures, management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of amounts due from associates and joint ventures based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The directors believe that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of

amounts due from associates and joint ventures.

Bank balances and restricted bank deposits

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and
restricted bank deposits. At 31 December 2022, approximately 78% (2021:
68%) of the total bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited
at 3 (2021: 3) banks, representing deposits at each bank with a balance
exceeding 10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit
risk of these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.

The management of the Group believe that the Group’s credit risk in trade

receivables is not high, and ECL is insignificant.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Bank balances and restricted bank deposits (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been

recognised for financial assets measured at FVTOCIL.

e Rk
fa B
(f Bl i)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
AR T
RMB'000
RERZZEFZH=Z+H As at 31 December 2022
O e s (L A R Impairment losses recognised (3,699)
R-FZ_—®#+_H=1+—H As at 31 December 2021
£ T R 3 (L Al 1 Impairment losses recognised (135)

it B e e i

7 A2 [ B R A R O 8 M e
BRAEZE DL A 00 i 0 o8 11 A P
Koo ASE MR BTN R BB R
BE MR B R -

TSR Ak B AE RN - AR SR WG A 2 0 S A
AR A B Y R AR SE R R o I RE 2(b)
PR T A B T AR SR B B B 2 OR Y
TH) > DUEEFCRE S AR AR AT LR /AT -

(b)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for short-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring

forecasted and actual cash flows.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has expected multiple
material uncertainties related to going concern. Note 2(b) explains
management’s plans for managing liquidity needs of the Group to enable it

to continue to meet its obligations as and when they fall due.
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of
the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based the agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are for floating rate instruments,
the undiscounted amount is derived based on interest rate outstanding at the

end of each reporting period.

Y S
2022
ARARMBB SR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

3
Ty HEkE  —~EULE KWBBE  =T—H
ERAE  AR-E FRLE EENE REAE  WREHE

Weighted
average  Ondemand  Over one year Total Carrying
effective  orlessthan  but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cash flows 31 December
% ARWTT ARFTFLT ARFTT ARBTT ARWTL
% RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RITH Bank loans 850 1729937 361,446 - 2091383 1903490
AR Lease liabilicies 640 57,859 153,497 16,734 228,090 196,846

B 5 R A e Trade and other payables

ft 508 - 148011 - - L8011 1748011
(B A R4k Senior notes 1228 3,800,636 - - 3800636 3254550
HHERAY Financial guarantee contracts - 54,984 = = 54,984 54,984
7,391,427 514,943 16,734 7,923,104 7,157,881
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33 SRHEBEARSBTHAYME 33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(#) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) By R B ) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
~E -
2021
RPN R R A
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

#t=H
miEry  wERE —FULEE AWEHE  =t—H
HRA% R~ RRILE AL MEAH fi AR

Weighted
average Ondemand  Over one year Total Cartying
effective orless than ~ but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cash flows 31 December

% ARETT ARWTT ARNTZ ARKTFT ARWTT
% RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOOO

WITE Bank loans 611 1,800,022 567,528 - 2,367,550 2,231,239
HEAMR Lease liabilities 640 46,064 153,242 35,643 234,949 197,100

B 5 R A e Trade and other payables
fi 3R - 1,796,636 - - 1,796,636 1,796,636
B Senior notes 15.66 3,087,522 - - 3,087,522 2,814,024
HHEAERAH) Financial guarantee contracts - 326,089 - - 326,089 -
7,056,333 720,770 35,643 7,812,746 7,038,999
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(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on

demand or less than one year” time band in the above maturity analysis.

For Senior notes with put option to the note holders, the analysis in 2022
indicated the expected undiscounted cash flow that assuming the put option
would be exercised. In 2021, the analysis assumed that the put option would

be exercised.

The total undiscounted cash flows of financial guarantee contracts disclosed
above was the maximum amount the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount was claimed
by the counterparties to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is
subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial

receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-
derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end

of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
variable rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances
of the Group. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed rate restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior
notes and bonds. The Group currently does not have a specific policy to
manage its interest rate risk, but will closely monitor the interest rate risk

exposure in the future.
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33 SWEBEAEEBTHATM 33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
(%) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

) FRE R #) (c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
R A G R R A R Y B R TR o The following table details the interest rate of the Group’s borrowings at the

end of the reporting period.

R T R T
2022 2021
BBRA R AR EFx iyl R AR T
Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 interest rate RMB’000
% %
W] 5 ) AR K Fixed rate borrowings:
HE A Lease liabilities 6.40% 196,846 6.40% 197,100
HATEK Bank loans 4.69%-12% 286,584 4.7%-12% 339,004
(Bt Senior notes 10% 3,254,550  12.78%-17.3% 2,814,024
L 3Tes0 3,350,128
LR LIRS Variable rate borrowing:
AT R Bank loans 1.53%-6.18% 1,616,906 1.2%-6.5% 1,892,235
1616906 1,892,235
ek Total borrowings 5,354,886 5,242,363
[8] 7 I 305 A 15 3K Fixed rate borrowings as
BB H I a percentage of total
borrowings 70% 64%
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(c)

(d

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB13,501,000 (2021: RMB14,192,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s loss after taxation (and retained profits) and other components of
consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and
other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis

is performed on the same basis as 2021.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through financial
instruments which give rise to cash and bank balance, bank loans and senior
notes that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars (US$)
and Hong Kong dollars (HK$).

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the

need arises.
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(d)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting
period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations

into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

T I ¥ B (LA R 1)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

Y S R
2022 2021
eV T EI T
US$ HKS$ Uss$ HK$
AR F7 ANBRH T ANRBT T ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
Bl BRATHE B Cash and bank 1,663 17,823 4,226 21,710
RITHH Bank loans (278,584) (1,013,606) (318,785) (1,265,272)
B Senior notes (3,254,550) = (2,814,024) -
B 5 B oAb B Trade and other receivables
A - 3,822 - 2,703
B 5 B Al R Trade and other payables
R (237,763) (10,213) - (7,311)
e R I A Net exposure arising from
M 728 A2 1Y 3 JE Bt recognised assets and
liabilities (3,769,234) (1,002,174) (3,128,583) (1,248,170)
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(d)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss
after taxation (and retained profits) that would arise if foreign exchange
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting

period had increased at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained

constant.
G Y TR
2022 2021
Decrease Decrease
Increase in loss after Increase in loss after
in foreign taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange rates  retained profits exchange rates retained profits
B i1 i BB 4% i 1
B AR B i A1 B PR B i A
A JE % _E T+ T SMEERER Tt Tk
AR T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
5% (157,366) 5% (156,429)
5% (48,841) 5% (52,871)

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not represent

the exposure during the year.
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(e)
@)

SEEE Financial assets:
IR E AR Unquoted equity investments
g B3 4 Insurance and funds

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs
R-ZFZZE

REFZTE+ZAZ+—H
AR BR

Fair value measurements as at

+2A
=f—f
2T

efie il 31 December 2022 categorised into

31 December B FH H=2H
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ANREFI ANRBFI ANREFI ARETT
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
198,098 - - 198,098
10,726 - - 10,726
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33 SRHEBEARSBTHAYME 33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(%) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Concinued)
) AFAaGHE %) (e) Fair value measurement (Continued)
@) URTFHEFEZSHEERAE () (1) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)
8 7/:E FEH(4E) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
REF A
+= A REF A=+ —H
—1 g LTRSS
2Nl Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2021 categorised into
31 December i i $=5
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARETIT ARBT T ARETT ARBFI
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
BHHEATHEF R Recurring fair value
measurement
SREE Financial assets:
ifres Listed bonds 3,699 3,699 - -
WHEEARE Unquoted equity investments 193,240 - - 193,240
TR B T 54 Insurance and funds 16,207 - - 16,207
WME_F__FR_F_—F+_H During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no transfers

S H R S — AR B AT A
B IR SO A = o AR
ZBUR T B 2 R R R R AT
(E% 2 T 2 g3 o

between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

TR Z R FH R A (H 77 R A

Eg/

A T SR AT A K 3 — AP E 9 4% AT R
MR 25 U AR L A A A8 9 i U B R

HZABI B G EE -

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements
The fair value of structured bank deposits in Level 2 is determined by

discounting cash flow at a discount rate that reflects the expected future

economic benefits at the end of the reporting period.
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33

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

N FEF R () (e)  Fair value measurement (Continued)
VUK FEFIEZ 2REERA G () (1) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)
FAHH =R AT 721 B Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
FEHRARE Z AFETE &’ The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using the price/
BT A 2 B A MR T B H B Otk = book ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of marketability
T35 i 4 BE ) 2 A R A O ) i E o Bk discount. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
Z 5 T e ) 2 B s A T E L R for lack of marketability. As at 31 December 2022, it is estimated that with
WEAHEE - N _F__F T A= — all other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount for lack of
H o il sH7E B A H A5 i AR AN 5 2 1 DL marketability by 1% would have increased/decreased the Group’s equity by
T BRZ G RAERE S TR RMB1,585,000 (2021: RMB1,449,000).
fiN19 » 7 45 B 2 HE 4 1% 4 B S m k
N B W 1,585,000 00 (ZF = —4 0 NRH
1,449,000 7C) ©
BEMATEF RA R AZEE T The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3 fair value
measurements is as follows:
RO TR TR
2022 2021
N NS
RMB’000 RMB000
R E R AR E - Unquoted equity investments:
—H—H At 1 January 193,240 192,440
B A 7 18 A R R O R 5 R 4 5 Net unrealised gains or losses recognised in
Jis 45 1 B profit or loss during the year 4,858 800
R HA=1+—H At 31 December 198,098 193,240

AR SR TR 1R R 1) 2 S A A 4% TR
BT AR I A P AT i i ks R R

i e

Any gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s unquoted
equity investments held for strategic purposes are recognised in the profit or

loss.
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33

(e)
(i1)

34

%?ﬂﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬂiﬁ&?ﬁ

A-FEEHE (49)
REEZERSE LA S
F o AR P 452 AR B 1A 1) e ) 5z
TR B M (L BEEL A P (I R
T 51 b TR Sh > A8 46 A MR T (SR F
BT

33

(e)
(i1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost were not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 except for the following financial instruments, for

which their carrying amounts and fair value are disclosed below:

N_FZ_HEFZA=Z1T—H
At 31 December 2022

RE -+ ZA=Z1+—0
At 31 December 2021

R T AVAE HR T {E N
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
AR EF AR EFI AR T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e SR (BRI Senior notes (including
AR interest payable) 3,254,550 1,383,184 3,021,216 1,174,226
R 34 COMMITMENTS

RE-FZ 4+ A=t—HHRETH
Sl AR BB R R B ) EAORIE IR

el 4

Contracted for

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

R SR
2022 2021

AR T AR T
RMB'000 RMB000
354,730 665,070
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35 ARAHE 35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

R-FZZ i S

+=A +=A
=t—H =t+—H
At 31 December At 31 December
2022 2021
AN BT ANRHT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREMRHEF MR HHE  Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group
BEE R to banks in favour of its customers 54,984 326,089
%SRRI SRAT UL RN & 5 1) SR AT 4R 3 B These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
W) 3 ) ) 3 T 6 HERE A F A L 4R R certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
HEPR R B e by - RS > AL a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
SFHBE R A AV IR TR I AT E A E directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group
Ko H 2% ) A 5 B W) 3 H R I 4 T g at initial recognition are insignificant and the directors consider that the
PERLAR  HIORE SR I DR 45T S R SO = possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote.
FOTHERCER A= HE Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
AR IE A contracts and as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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36 BB By Bedk 36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a FEEMABGHM (a) Key management personnel remuneration
ARG B G N B H I (R 2 R Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including
BT 8 B Bf Bk o B 58 1 & A A 4 W) # o K amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of
HB 4y fo e B R B ) o the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9.
(b) W TR W ek O (b) Amounts due from related parties
R TR T AR
2022 2021
AR AR T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
N Associates 36,123 61,622
EEME Joint ventures 24,017 21,852
60,140 83,474
(©)  MEAT BRI 7 sk IH (c) Amounts due to related parties
TR TR T AR
2022 2021
ANBRH T ANRWTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
N Associates 75,808 75,809
EEME Joint ventures 178,722 131,277
254,530 207,086
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(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

A B )55 2 ) 37
WAL T e 9 e L S BR A )

RIEAWA —F A AR
R h ko TLR ¥ 4 AT PR A A 4
HOE B AR R E B A R
BRI 5 3 BEE A IR AT 2 ) US TR
W A A F A o R
FrZA=T—H o REECH TR b
- o /N K il ) /N RE R

S T 2 ) S A S A SO Y

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY

Acquisition of Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate Development
Co., Led.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement dated 25 June 2022, all shareholders of
Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. reached the consensus
that Nanjing Metro Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, obtained the control of Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has consolidated

Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. as a subsidiary.

The acquisitions of subsidiary had the following combined effect on the

RAEALUT EHEE:

Group’s assets and liabilities upon the dates of acquisitions:

R T (L NTETE fOEC R EE

Carrying Fair value  Recognised values

amount adjustments on acquisition

ANRWFTFIT ANRBT T AR BT

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

PREE R EY 2 Properties under development for sale 1,043,102 49,366 1,092,468

BHIEE Contract assets 11,202 - 11,202

B Gy B HoA e i 3R Trade and other receivables 107,562 - 107,562
BN s (B XT38 Land appreciation tax and income tax

prepaid 4,106 - 4,106

% PR SRAT A7 3K Restricted bank deposits 182,962 - 182,962

B4 R B S EY) Cash and cash equivalents 17,348 - 17,348

B 5 B Ho A e A 3K 0E Trade and other payables (339,000) - (339,000)

BHARE Contract liabilities (1,005,210) - (1,005,210)

BATH K Bank loans (70,000) - (70,000)

R AE B TE B Deferred tax liabilities - (12,341) (12,341)

Sl (B8 /EEFMH  Netidentified (liabilities)/assets (47,928) 37,025 (10,903)

I 2 O 45 Non-controlling interests 6,869

WA B 1R Loss on business combination (4,034)
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38 P U Y TR e g 38 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD
@ MR_F_=HF—Ht—H>ALH (@)  On 11 January 2023, the Company failed to redeem 5% of principal
KAEHE I —F - A A amount of approximately US$494,667,000 of the New Senior Notes
#1494,667,000 3 JT Z i B ST 4R 2 Due 2025.
5% °
b) ARNACEEEREZEGRLE (b)  The Company has appointed Guotai Junan International and Alvarez
Fil Y T A R A ) A R T AR S & Marsal Corporate Finance Limited as joint financial advisors to
B DLVEE A Wb B 0 R 9R 2 KE TR implement a consensual arrangement in relation to the New Senior
Ba- Notes.
39 4 ) g i B IR O 39 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
—ERTTE Sk
FZAEFH FZA=TH
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
i AR T ARE T
Note RMB'000 RMB000
FmE g Non-current assets
AW 2y F) 2 Bl BN B A F] Investments in subsidiaries and amounts
HIE due from subsidiaries 4,253,513 3,675,138
NEBEAELER Interests in joint ventures 405,634 411,356
HAh 4l Other financial assets 10,725 13,520
VERY & Property, plant and equipment 1,133 1,714
S L0 4101728
o Current assets
B 5 BRI Trade and other receivables 5,736 5,067
e kB e%EY Cash and cash equivalents 13,111 34,362
18,847 39,429
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFFRI 1R 402 LA B D ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

39

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

SR SR
+oA=t-0 toA=t
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Bif 5t ANRIEF ANRBTr
Note RMB000 RMB000
WA E Current liabilities
B 5 BT 308 Trade and other payables 255,115 208,694
RATH Bank loans 461,418 522,665
B Senior notes 3,254,550 2,814,024
- L0 . S 3,545,383
e Netcurrent liabilities (3,952,236 (3,505,954) _
REEWREBAR Total assets less current liabilities 718769 595,774
WA NET ASSETS 718,769 595,774
BA R ik CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32(a)
A Share capital 112,883 112,883
i Reserves 605,886 482,891
HRE £ TOTAL EQUITY 718,769 595,774
L Bt 2 Pl U5 40 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

REFZZHEFZA=ZT—H BEHRS
AEBNERAR BEWERARATF
W% T T S B R T s R ARSE o A
7 i ESRB e RHA R ([ERKK])

PARTY

At 31 December 2022, the directors consider the immediate parent of the
Group to be Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, which is incorporated
in The British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Wong
Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong Family”).
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41 OBMlENEREKE_-F - 41 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
20 =4 — Bk AR B AR STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
W)~ 5Bl ) B R 0 W A R BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2022
HEZEMBRE DS 00 JEe Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a
FHENE RGOS TREE -2 2 number of amendments and a new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts,
AT —HIEFE N RER B S which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and which
P 705 i o o R PR A A8 7T SR TR R > have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
PR A H O RS 17 9% R A A - % include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
R B e A AT RE AL A B Y DL R
KIH o
WUT ARz R
P e 7 00 A K

Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

I P s e RS 17 5% > IRBR A AT “EF-=F—-A—H
IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
B B e a1 SRERT A > B E S B 2 B —EFT=E-AH
Amendments to IAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
R 48 ) 1 A T AR o R 5 o YR UV B B A BB 2 % - AR B At R “EFC=F—A—H
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
B P e et RS s SR AT A Brat i Al E F —EFT=E-AH
Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023
BB e st E RS 12 SR BRI A B — X4 2 BE R A A < B BE SR C=F—-H—H
Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 1 January 2023

from a single transaction

AR B R A RPAL R% 5 5 R B AR T IR The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of
JOE P30 T 7 A v o R AR SE A these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
F) 455 i 2 R A 5% S5 B T R AT YR RIS K ) far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
REHE M MERESAERLE - impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of Financial Information

BET-A=Z+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

SRODE DT DECTE CDEUE CE N
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ANRETIE ARETFLT AREFLT ARWTFLT AREFFT
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
EH RESULTS
A Revenue 2,659,946 1,782,495 1,389,119 1,605,448 1,446,354
BRBUAT (B548) % A (Loss)/profit before taxation (918,282)  (2,080,440) 126,766 452,875 793,991
FiIH Taxation (77,031) 93,355 (76,521) (200,347) (451,735)
R (B5IR) /B F (Loss)/profit for the year (995,313)  (1,987,085) 50,245 252,528 342,256
DI AN AL - Attributable to:
2% ) AR i R SR Equity shareholders
of the Company (1,053,851)  (1,980,195) 34,788 252,561 342,256
1 O A Non-controlling interest (58,538) (6,890) 15,457 (33) -
Bk (E8) / BA (Loss)/earnings
N per share RMB
FAR Basic (0.586) (1.100) 0.019 0.140 0.190
fi Diluted (0.586) (1.100) 0.019 0.140 0.190
R A ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
A e Total assets 12,310,538 13,839,323 17,159,296 16,229,874 13,914,515
WA Total liabilities (10,384,085)  (10,908,828)  (12,239,350)  (11,399,238)  (9,306,211)
1,926,453 2,930,495 4,919,946 4,830,636 4,608,304
A7 A HE 4 ROR Equity attributable to
JRE 5 HE 4 Equity shareholders
of the Company 1,788,778 2,844,489 4,827,050 4,817,197 4,608,304

I 1 O 4 Non-controlling interest 137,675 86,006 92,896 13,439 -
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Schedule of Principal Properties

B ¥tk
B LREMH

W WEAR
No.  Name of Property

1 4 i 1 93 o 355
Golden Wheel International

Plaza

2 £ PN
Golden Wheel Building

3 R XA
Nanjing Jade Garden

4 <5 B 7 A BEE

Golden Wheel New Metro
5 & K

Golden Wheel Star City
6 SRS

Golden Wheel Star-cube

7 I 555 4 20 45
Wuxi Golden
Wheel Star Plaza

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Completed Investment Properties

ik

Location

B VLR ) T T S L o B 8 %
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

b B VTR 2 T SO (A e B 108 9%
No. 108, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B LR ) T R D T 33 9%
No. 33 Suo Street, Jianye District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT AR A P T VL [ R 1118 9%
No. 1118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

P YT AR 7 45 M T 45 B [

Yo TIL A B 228 9%

No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Yangzhou
New Development District, Yangzhou City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

H B VAR R A T AE & SR R 2 5%
No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

(B VLR 0 85 i R S L AR v 3 R
No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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Jiikes it

Use Type

[LES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

I

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

WEA T
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

33,048

85

2,908

18,357

2,785

1,838

4,680

L

Lease term

i

medium

H

medium

1

medium

i

medium

O

medium

O

medium

i

medium



FHEYER

Schedule of Principal Properties
B 4 s 5 T
YT WA ik itk it FIik HHLA
Approximate
No.  Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m. Lease term
gMEL N B RE & W R P YT AR 45 T 45 1T S [GES 65,400 H
P % 7Y it 52 3L
Nl Yangzhou Powerlong The intersection of Yangtze River Middle Road Commercial medium
Golden Wheel Plaza and Kaifa West Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
9 &t A HR R TR 7 ATV [ [HES 2,742 H
HE MR A 78 16 ST 3 9
Golden Wheel Jinqiao Huafu No. 3, Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road, Commercial medium
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
10 RUSEZLLE R ) R I R [ 7 B 131 98 [GES 10,619 i
Changsha Golden No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District, Commercial medium
Wheel Star Plaza Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC
11 eRETERY PRVLER R LR RS 0198 T 24,403 i i
Golden Wheel Binary No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District, ~Commercial medium
Star Plaza Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
12 BpHERERRE TR 7 5 TS D A B 31 9 [GES 1,045 i
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald ~ No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District, Commercial medium
House Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
13 PR EEAEIN (—09) b A PR TR TR 2 K 9 9% LEYE i 1,673 O
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel No. 9 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District, Commercial/ medium
Jingiao Huafu (Phase I) Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC Residential
14 HRERRGEER B TR R T K [ [HE S 2,500 i
A7 B 8 03 B 139 9%
Nanjing Golden Wheel No. 139, Chuangye Road, Commercial medium
Cuiyong Hua Ting Lishui Economic Development Zone,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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L 2/E 3
Schedule of Principal Properties

Il 1 5 v B 3K

WmYE WELR

No.  Name of Property

1 A 57 < 2 22 ]
Wuxi Golden Wheel
Starry Plaza

2 P 4 A R e

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Galaxy Center

Investment Properties under Development

Ho

Location

o VLR A S T AL [

L B L2 B 5 S R
Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai
Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,
Wouxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B TR 7 e T VT [ T

e TR A8 S 1 R AL A

Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan
Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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JiERes kit

Use Type

ES

Commercial

LES

Commercial

R 4 s 5 T A
FIik
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

15,097

46,647

L

Lease term

i

medium

i

medium



7 435 T A 1 8 55 A 0 3

l?ﬁ nlh

No.

ESA

Name of Property

& i 6 e

Golden Wheel International Plaza

Golden Wheel Star City

£ LM

Golden Wheel Times Square

S LA

Golden Wheel Star Plaza

R 5 3 2R 44 [
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade
Garden

) & 4

Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza

55 i 50 o [
Golden Wheel Green Garden

FHEYER
Schedule of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE OR OCCUPATION BY

THE GROUP

otk

Location

B VA 4 A T SR [ T B 8 9%
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

PR R 5 4 T 5 6 B 2
B L B 228 9

No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road,
Yangzhou New Development District,

Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

v 0 80 i e A T A [ 1 9%
No. 1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B VLA 4 T [ R B 2
Al {6 K 998 9%

No. 998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

T8 PR U T K 8 48 7 K2 88 %

No. 88 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B LR A 85 TR S I 3 R
No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wouxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

BT R 6 T K T A i 28 9%
No. 28, Wei Gang, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

MO0 2 32 A
iR R Tk
Approximate
Use Type GFA sq.m.
WAE 2,535
Office
CEVEC 7 3,991
Commercial/Carpark
[HES 185
Commercial
CEVEEE 878
Commercial/Carpark
CEVRIEVEA S 7,130
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
iES 3,579
Commercial
[HES 212
Commercial
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L 2/E 3
Schedule of Principal Properties

b

10

11

12

13

14

15

EXA
Name of Property

5 i 7 A0
Golden Wheel New Metro

SRS

Golden Wheel Star-cube

B TR 2

Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

RO &4 %
Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

EA L S
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

B R
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House

0553 < Y 191 9 R D

Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside
Orchid Garden

il K
Hong Kong Golden Wheel
Plaza

ik

Location

oI VT 4 o VT [ KA 118 5%
No. 118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanying City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

HRR TR TR AE B R R AR 2%
No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R VL 6 R T U B L

HEHR A HE 5 3B 3 5%

No. 3 Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B 38 R T R AL [N 75 B 131 9%
No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District,
Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B T 74 e T [ B RE KA 1101 9
No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VTR 5 M TS D A B 31 9%
No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT 5 T
PR P |

The intersection between ShiLi Mingzhudi and
Xiaguang Road, Binhu District, Wuxi City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

v 7 s 7 S 68 9
No. 68 Electric Road, Hongkong, China
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Jiipes bt
Use Type

(E3
Carpark

EEVER 2

Commercial/Carpark

ot

Carpark

Hi¥/ LT/ E

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

g /T

Hotel/Commercial

LEYE22

Commercial/Carpark

€

Residential

LES

Commercial

WA 2 2 v
ik
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

243

403

4242

20,922

19,977

11,213

3,413

4,828



ETh

16

17%‘;12

Note 2

18%‘;11

Note 1

19%‘%13

Note 3

20

21

22%‘;14

Note 4

EXA

Name of Property

PR < TR 2E T (— 1)

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

(Phase I)

LS 1) 8

Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

P E S
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden
Wheel Plaza

HHHERE

Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

P AT 4 g UG 3 7 o
Nanjing Golden Wheel

Romantic Tower

P K WL

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Shuiying Hua Ting

B BB 2Ok

Yangzhou Vanke Future Light

ik

Location

B 389 e M I R O [ AR 7 KA 9 R
No. 9 Yandi Avenue, Tianyuan District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

BT R TN

ST WEE T R

Qinglong Market, Jinniu Lake sub-district,
Liuhe District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

B VA 5 M T TS U D A5 B 25 9%
No. 25, Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

LR O TR R

R BE DA > T3 LU

West of Xueye Road, South of Yingping Road,
Xinbei District, Changzhou City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o R L6 6 A T SO L B 223 9%
No. 223 Zhongshan Road,

Gulou District, Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B YL 8 T R T R
DR B 177 9%

No. 177 Wenxi Road,

Gaochun District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B LA 8 45 0 T TRV

AR B LA B 2 S B

The intersection between Qingnian Road and
Chuangxin Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FHEYER

Schedule of Principal Properties

R A 1 S

ithe bl FIik
Approximate

Use Type GFA sq.m.
LEYLixs 10,059

Commercial/Residential

E Y42 3,540

Commercial/Carpark

LEYER 2

Commercial/Carpark

26,079
W/ e/ By 42,373

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

LEVEE X

Commercial/Carpark

12,486

GEVR I EVE2 ] 10,515

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

eest 8,680

Residential
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Schedule of Principal Properties

b

23

24

25

26%%‘15

Note 5

EXA

Name of Property

PR & B ST ()
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu
(Phase IT)

A i R G2 I

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Cuiyong Hua Ting

N4 18

Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay

1] 0 U 25

Shangdu Fengjing

ik

Location

B 0 e o A TR T [ R KT 9 %
No.9, North of Yan Di Main Road,

East of Xiangjiang Main Road, Wu Guang Area,
Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province,
the PRC

TR 6 T ROK [

AR B 8 [ K B 139 9%

No. 139, Chuangye Road,

Lishui Economic Development Zone,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o L 0 117 R R [

TLF R B 178 9%

No. 178, Jiangyang East Road, Guangling District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT R 2 5 s R A [ L
B 2 22 W

The Intersection between Hailian Road and
Yuzhou Road, Haizhou District,

Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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Jiipes bt
Use Type

EEVR =S

Commercial/Residential

W¥/ LT/

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

W¥/ LT/

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark
LEVEiEyLa s

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

WA 2 2 v
ik
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

9,110

33,419

5,422

14,020



i 5% i iy 3

l’ﬁ u}h

4k

Note 6

5 [

Note 7

EZA

Name of Property

0 55 5 e 2 22 )

Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

F i R PO

Nanjing Golden Wheel
Galaxy Center

St LR AWNES

Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City

Mansion

0
T

E 'I\E‘EEE‘ =

Galaxy Light

M B [

Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

FHEYER
Schedule of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

188 A0 2 S i A

LB liEFes it FIik
Approximate

Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
o B VLR A A T AL [ VLV B B A B R 99,039
3E 3 AR R
Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai Commercial
Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,
Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
B VTR 8 TR Y T B S EEVALRE 195,353
e R 2 S R AL
Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan ~ Commercial/Carpark
Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
0 T 75 78 S T [ o B L W%/ R/ 1FEY 158,695
12 A R
The intersection between Huazhong Road and Commercial/Residential/
Hougong Road, Ganyu District, Carpark
Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
P YT 7 T T I O [ 2 T e B e 99,651
B % B S MR
The intersection between Tongguan South Road ~ Residential
and Jianshe Middle Road, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
VLA M TR R GV B LIRS RiE R 94,826
P % 28 T B
The intersection between Shisha Road and Commercial/Residential/
Shiqiao South Road, Hanjiang District, Carpark

Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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Schedule of Principal Properties

myE EAW

B8 4 e S8 T
ik isFe kit FIik
Approximate
No. Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m.
M i i B oL R A R TR B N R R R 34,701
R~ AR LA ~ AR B B SR
Now8  Shangpin Xuefu South to Guanlan International Community, Commercial/Residential/
north to Times Road and east to Planning Road, — Carpark
Ganyu District, Lianyungang City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC
i Notes:
L. FZIE H AR B 400 HERR 2 B A AP EE o 1. The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49%
interest.
2. P H AR B 259 2B A R 2. The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.
3. WIE H AR BER 13.33% Z e A R BEE o 3. The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33%
interest.
4. I H i AR A 209 2 A8 A R B 4. The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20%
interest.
5. IR H AR 100 28 A B - 5. The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
6. I H AR EHEA 379 Z W8 N F B 6. The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
7. ZIE AW 24.5% 2 A8 B o 7. The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 24.5%
interest.
8. 238 A BB 2096 2 WA B 8 8.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
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